

PROGRESS ON THE NEW YORK DECLARATION ON FORESTS

Balancing forests and development Addressing infrastructure and extractive industries, promoting sustainable livelihoods

Goals 3 & 4 Progress Report November 2020 forestdeclaration.org PROGRESS ON THE NEW YORK DECLARATION ON FORESTS

PROGRESS ON THE NEW YORK DECLARATION ON FORESTS

Balancing forests and development

Addressing infrastructure and extractive industries, promoting sustainable livelihoods

Goals 3 & 4 Progress Report November 2020 forestdeclaration.org

This report belongs to the public domain.

Users are welcome to download, save, or distribute this report electronically or in any other format. A digital copy of this report, along with progress assessments on all goals of the New York Declaration on Forests, are available at forestdeclaration.org.

Please use the following citation:

NYDF Assessment Partners. (2020). Balancing forests and development: Addressing infrastructure and extractive industries, promoting sustainable livelihoods. Climate Focus (coordinator and editor). Accessible at www.forestdeclaration.org.

Contents

Acknowledgments	6
Executive Summary	7
CHAPTER 1. Introduction	13
CHAPTER 2. The forest impacts of infrastructure, extractive industries, and basic-needs activities	16
CHAPTER 3. Assessing progress toward Goals 3 and 4	25
CHAPTER 4. Progress by governments	35
chapter 5. Progress by companies	48
CHAPTER 6. Grassroots movements	60
CHAPTER 7. Progress by financial institutions and international donors	68
CHAPTER 8. Barriers to progress	76
CHAPTER 9. Conclusion	90
Abbreviations	93
Glossary	94
Endnotes	96

Acknowledgments

Lead authors:

Franziska Haupt, Erin D. Matson, Anthony Bebbington, Denise Humphreys Bebbington

Contributing authors:

Mulumba Agaba, Karl Arpon, Haseeb Bakhtary, Andrea Cabrera Roa, Rodrigo Cassola, Nicholas Cuba, Pilar Delpino Marimon, Wendy Francesconi, Isabel Garcia Drigo, Jodie Hartill, David M. Landholm, Sanggeet M. Manirajah, Louise Nakagawa, Daniela Ribeiro, Laura Sauls

We are also grateful to the numerous other individuals and organizations who provided their time and expertise, in many different ways, to the development and improvement of this work:

Arild Angelsen, Anna Bebbington, Helen Bellfield, Siân Bradley, Felipe Bravo, David Burns, Stasiek C. Cabezas, Sophie Capshaw-Mack, Madeline Craig, Kevin Currey, Paula Diaz, Stephen Donofrio, Akiva Fishman, Alain Frechette, Taiji Fujisaki, Michael F. Garbo, Anne Gardner, David L. A. Gaveau, David Gibbs, Chloe Ginsburg, Morgan Gillespy, Peter Graham, Simon Hall, Simon Henry, Barbara Hermann, Swati Hingorani, Alison Hoare, Pippa Howard, Imogen Jacques, Martin Jaramillo, Idsert Jelsma, Juan Carlos Jintiach, Andrea Johnson, Kiunga Kareko, Kiryssa Kasprzyk, Kendie Kenmoe, Fritz Kleinschroth, Simon Koenig, Jennifer Koinante, Kai Kresek, Elmedina Krilasevic, Naomi Lanoi Leleto, Robinson López Descanse, Breanna Lujan, Cecilia Lutrell, Thomas Maddox, Christy Melhart-Slay, Szymon Mikolajczyk, Patrick Meyfroidt, Leah Mesnildrey, Bryson Ogden, Clea Paz, Marina Piatto, Andika Putraditama, Shyla Raghav, Niall Robb, Blanca Racionero Gómez, Sarah Rogerson, Philip Rothrock, Claire Salisbury, Leah Samberg, Hiromitsu Samejima, Fabian Schmidt-Pramov, Ingrid Schulte, Yanhua Shi, Simon Siantidis, Jimena Solano, Adrienne Stork, Charlotte Streck, Viera Ukropcova, Charlene Watson, Makino Yamanoshita

This project is supported by the Climate and Land Use Alliance (CLUA), the Good Energies Foundation, and the International Climate Initiative (IKI) of the German Federal Ministry for the Environment. Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU) on the basis of a decision adopted by the German Bundestag via the NYDF Global Platform.

About the NYDF Progress Assessment:

This report was researched and authored by the New York Declaration on Forests Assessment Partners and coordinated by Climate Focus. It is a collaborative effort that relies on the contributions of countless individuals and organizations.

The NYDF Assessment Partners include:

CDP, Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Chatham House, Clean Cooking Alliance, Climate Focus, Conservation International (CI), Environmental Defense Fund (EDF), Fauna & Flora International, Forest Foundation Philippines, Forest Trends, Global Canopy, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Instituto de Manejo e Certificação Florestal e Agrícola (Imaflora), The Alliance of Biodiversity International and the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Levin Sources, National Wildlife Federation (NWF), Overseas Development Institute (ODI), Rainforest Alliance, Rights and Resources Initiative (RRI), Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI), The Nature Conservancy (TNC), The Sustainability Consortium (TSC), Woodwell Climate Research Center, World Resources Institute (WRI), World Wildlife Fund (WWF-US), Yiaku Laikipiak Trust, and the Zoological Society of London's (ZSL) Sustainability Policy Transparency Toolkit (SPOTT) initiative.

We would also like to thank the Burness team for their support with media relations.

Design and figures: Imaginary Office Copy editor: Emily Steadman Date of publication: November 2020



CDP served as a Data Partner for this report.

Supported by:



Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety

based on a decision of the German Bundestag



GLOBAL PLATFORM

Executive Summary

Over 200 governments, multinational companies, groups representing Indigenous communities, and non-governmental organizations have endorsed the New York Declaration on Forests (NYDF) since 2014, committing to doing their part to achieve its ambitious targets to end natural forest loss and to restore forests. Each year, the NYDF Progress Assessment—conducted by an independent civil society network of research organizations and think tanks called the <u>NYDF Assessment Partners</u>—monitors collective progress towards the NYDF goals.

2020 is a crucial year for review of and reflection on forest goals for the NYDF and the global community. Rather than halving since 2014—a 2020 target in NYDF Goal 1—the rate of natural forest loss has increased. Ending natural forest loss by 2030 will require a rapid paradigm shift by the global community towards valuing forests for their essential benefits and prioritizing their protection.

The 2020 NYDF Progress Assessment focuses on two complementary, crucial goals for achieving sustainable development:

- Goal 3. Significantly reduce deforestation derived from other economic sectors by 2020
- Goal 4. Support alternatives to deforestation driven by basic needs (such as subsistence farming and reliance on woodfuel for energy) in ways that alleviate poverty and promote sustainable and equitable development



Key findings

Rising risks to forests

The pace of large-scale infrastructure development and natural resource extraction is increasing across many tropical forest regions, posing a rising threat to intact forest landscapes. Demand for mined metals and minerals and fossil fuels is still growing, putting increased pressure on highly biodiverse forests that play host to significant levels of deposits of these valuable commodities.

The largely top-down development plans driving this growth in infrastructure and extractive industries often fail to provide commensurate investments in sustainable local economies. The overall area of shifting agriculture is decreasing, while the area of intensive agricultural production is increasing, a trend likely to lead to increased deforestation. Meanwhile, the number of artisanal and small-scale miners has tripled in the last two decades. Demand for other forest resources like fuelwood, charcoal, and non-timber forest products also shows little sign of slowing.

In order to assess progress toward mitigating these rising risks for forests, this report outlines four strategies **(Figure 2 of the report)** that would, if pursued, contribute to the achievement of Goals 3 and 4. These strategies serve as indicators for assessing the actions of governments, companies, grassroots movements, and the financial sector and international donors.

Figure 2. Strategies for progress in achieving NYDF Goals 3 and 4



Embrace alternative development pathways that reduce over-exploitation, inefficient production, and excessive consumption of resources

Strategy 2

Align macro-economic and strategic planning with forest goals

Strategy 3

Apply the 'mitigation hierarchy' to effectively reduce forest impacts from infrastructure projects and extractive industries

Strategy 4

Apply the PRIME framework to promote sustainable livelihoods and address deforestation

Note: The four strategies to reduce forest impacts from infrastructure and extractive industries and to promote sustainable alternative livelihoods address different scales of thought, planning, and intervention. Strategies 3 and 4 apply to projects and interventions on the ground, which are nested within the high-level planning addressed by Strategy 2. In turn, the macroeconomic and strategic planning of Strategy 2 will be bounded by the conceptions of development that Strategy 1 seeks to expand. Adopting Strategy 1, by embracing alternative development pathways, will have cascading positive effects that will make Strategies 2, 3, and 4 easier to follow.

Progress by governments

Forest country governments have taken steps to align macroeconomic planning processes and national policies with forest goals. Almost 18 percent of global forests are designated as protected areas. Dozens of countries have made progress in developing national forest strategies, while many regional governments where mining and infrastructure are drivers of deforestation have adopted policies to address their impacts.

However, implementation of these programs and policies is progressing slowly, while some environmental protections are being rolled back. REDD+ readiness processes have resulted in positive policy changes in many countries, but few countries have yet received payment for results. Few governments have translated high-level forest policies related to mining and infrastructure into forest management plans or systematically assessed forest risks from these sectors. Many governments have also relaxed regulations for protected areas in recent years, accelerated now by the COVID-19 pandemic. It is unclear if and how trade-offs for forests are considered in these decisions.

Though weak design, implementation, or enforcement of regulations is common, most forest countries do regulate infrastructure and extractive industry investments to reduce forest loss. Most countries have adopted requirements for environmental and social impact assessments, mine closure and rehabilitation, and biodiversity offsetting. However, often one or more of these regulating policies are poorly designed and do not reflect best practice in avoiding forest impacts. Even where policies are adequate on paper, enforcement may be lax.

As part of REDD+ processes, many countries are planning support programs that aim to holistically alleviate poverty and provide for alternative and sustainable livelihoods while reducing overall deforestation. Outside of REDD+ programs, though, governments that promote smallholder productivity to remove pressure from forests often fail to pair those interventions with investments in securing smallholder and community rights, institutions, public services, and market access. Support is impaired by a lack of funding and capacity of relevant government institutions.

Progress by companies

Companies within the extractive sector are increasingly recognizing their forest impacts and corresponding responsibilities; however, corporate transparency related to forests remains limited. Most (78 percent) mining companies assessed for this report have made commitments to stop biodiversity loss. However, due to lack of transparent disclosure, it is difficult to gauge ambition and progress or to determine whether the measures taken are sufficient to address their impacts. Only 23 out of 225 total companies invited to disclose in 2019 and 2020 did so. Companies that do report are often performing poorly against CDP metrics and the Global Reporting Initiative's reporting standards.

Voluntary sustainability initiatives have emerged to guide the extractives industry and infrastructure developers. Mining certification standards tend to provide guidelines for mitigating biodiversity impacts, though common definitions for indirect and cumulative impacts are lacking, and uptake has been slow. Sustainability standards for the infrastructure sector have raised awareness of environmental and social pitfalls of poorly designed projects. However, as for extractives, uptake of these standards is minimal compared to the global scale of infrastructure development.

Company support for small-scale supply chain actors and affected local communities is not able to address underlying structural vulnerabilities. Cocoa and palm oil supply chain companies have initiated smallholder support and engagement programs that have led to increased productivity and in some cases have reduced deforestation. But efforts remain limited in scope, failing to reach smallholders at scale. In the mining sector, most companies whose mine sites overlap with small-scale mining operations engage with these miners, but these relationships are generally motivated by reducing operational risk. Collective efforts that engage companies and governments in mutually beneficial collaboration offer a promising way forward to ensure holistic and complementary interventions.

Grassroots movements

Indigenous peoples, local communities, smallholders, and civil society actors have mobilized to gain access to and influence planning to protect forest lands from harmful development. Grassroots and Indigenous-led movements have tackled power inequities by building international alliances to put pressure on actors and to raise awareness on cross-country impacts of extractive projects and large-scale infrastructure. In some cases, through these mobilizations, they have successfully cancelled or delayed large-scale infrastructure projects. Grassroots movements have also helped embed the rights of nature into legal frameworks, but implementation of these rights through specific policy is limited. Indigenous communities have recently scored legal victories to defend their territorial rights, but redress for harms through the courts has often been slow.

Local communities have also made progress in demonstrating the viability of community-based natural resource management and other bottom-up approaches to development and forest protection. Where forest management is driven and led by communities themselves, it has resulted in increased community self-determination, autonomy, and a less extractive and more sustainable approach to improved livelihoods, along with reduced deforestation. Grassroots movements led by Indigenous communities are also fighting for direct access to climate finance, in recognition of Indigenous peoples' successful sustainable management of their territories.

Progress by financial institutions and international donors

Many financial institutions, multilateral development banks, and bilateral donors have adopted policies, signed on to principles, and developed safeguards meant to address social and environmental risks across all sectors; however, major shortcomings remain in the implementation of these protections. There is a general a lack of transparency in how and whether financial institutions and international donors avoid investments with high forest risks. Even institutions which have adopted safeguards often fail to publish information on their impact on forests. And though some financial actors have made progress with their sustainability commitments, there is still a major and largely opaque financial market without any policies to protect forests.

Funding flows toward interventions to alleviate poverty while reducing deforestation are miniscule compared to non-forest-aligned investments. REDD+ initiatives have mobilized at least USD 7.6 billion of international and domestic public finance, but many of these programs are still in early stages. On the private side, a number of impact investors and nascent platforms show potential to support job creation along with tropical forest protection, but there is limited information on the impacts of these investments so far.

Barriers to progress

A widespread lack of transparency continues to impair accountability of governments, companies, international donors, and other financial actors.

The number of commitments and policy goals to protect forests keeps increasing. Governments are adopting REDD+ strategies; companies are making commitments to address sustainability concerns in mining; financial institutions are signing up to sustainable lending principles. But action is what counts, and there remains little available information on the extent of implementation of commitments and the on-the-ground outcomes of these efforts. This lack of transparency reflects a general opacity that prevails in the extractive and infrastructure sectors. Macro-economic planning happens largely behind closed doors, and megaprojects are planned and announced by governments and investors without meaningful insight and participation of civil society and grassroots stakeholders. Increasingly complex financial instruments backing infrastructure developments inhibit insights into how social and environmental safeguards are applied. The available evidence is insufficient to understand whether and how forest trade-offs are considered in this planning and decision making.

Accountability in the mining sector is relatively better than in infrastructure, likely because civil society has been more active in calling out human rights violations and the misalignment between corporate action and public-facing pledges. Consumer-facing companies are also increasingly aware of sustainability risks of mined materials, spurring more substantive engagement in sustainable supply-chain initiatives. Agricultural supply chain companies are far ahead of their mining and infrastructure peers in detailed commitments to reduce forest impacts of their operations. However, transparency in this sector is still quite limited, especially in supply chains that rely heavily on smallholder farmers.

Barriers to corporate transparency and accountability are manyfold and include the lack of independent verification of company-reported data on progress; as-yet limited transparency in complex supply chains; the wide variety and lack of common definitions and norms across mining, infrastructure, and agricultural sustainability standards; lack of impact measurement in reporting and disclosures; and the limited incorporation of local communities in monitoring efforts.

Governments often grapple with implementing existing forest policies due to a lack of political will, capacity, and stability. An imbalance in power among government agencies allows vested interests to shape enforcement regimes.

In many forest countries, policies and laws that aim to safeguard forests exist on paper. However, implementation of these policies is often weak, while underlying factors that affect forest loss, like tenure insecurity, are incompletely addressed. Environmental and forest agencies often lack capacity and funding compared to agriculture, mining, and energy ministries, rendering them ill-equipped to counter vested interests in the mining and infrastructure sectors. Instability in governments, whether due to political shifts or internal conflict, can further undermine the strength and efficacy of institutions charged with forest protection.

Political leaders often favor economic development approaches based on resource exploitation and agricultural expansion. At the same time, too many decision-makers give low priority to forests and to forest-dependent people. Measures to mitigate negative impacts on forests, and people dependent on them, are often lukewarm at best. Policies and institutions set up to protect lands and communities from environmental harms have been weakened in many forest countries, especially under cover of the COVID-19 crisis.

Successful poverty-reduction and smallholder support interventions that reduce deforestation are challenging to scale; public-private coordination to align complementary interventions is still in nascent stages.

While promising efforts have demonstrated that poverty and deforestation can be addressed comprehensively, these types of programs are difficult to scale. Support programs delivered by companies to smallholders within their supply chains often focus narrowly on farmers tied to the company through outgrower schemes. An underlying lack of trust often defines company-smallholder relationships, while supply chain complexities impede full knowledge of smallholders already reached—both of these issues limit the extent to which programs can scale.

At the same time, governments have limited capacity to promote the comprehensive reforms and interventions needed to ensure that land developments are sustainable, protecting forests and contributing to the livelihoods of the rural poor. Many interventions are one-dimensional, failing to address the systemic nature of both poverty and deforestation.

As part of jurisdictional and cross-sectoral approaches, some companies and sectors have started collaborating directly with governments and civil society to address deforestation through collective and coordinated action. These collaborative models have the potential to address the problem comprehensively, though, for now, most are still in the early stages.

The power disparity between governments and companies, on the one hand, and Indigenous peoples, local communities, and other small-scale actors, on the other, restricts inclusive development pathways and can lead to the criminalization and murder of environmental defenders.

Local peoples tend to have little say in economic development approaches and the allocation and use of forest lands. Instead, powerful corporations and national elites influence decision-making to facilitate resource exploitation, while grassroots actors who express their preferences are often shunted aside or ignored. Weak recognition of customary land ownership and territorial sovereignty of Indigenous peoples further undermines community efforts to assert their right to self-determination. In practice, processes that are designed to re-balance power toward communities—like free, prior, and informed consent requirements—often get translated into bureaucratic exercises conducted superficially, thus denying communities a real chance to voice potential dissent.

Recent years have seen increased repression of civil society and escalating violence against environmental defenders, which further limits accountability of companies and governments. Extractive sectors account for a large portion of reported environmental conflicts and were associated with the highest number of murders of environmental defenders in 2019. States have also used criminalization of protest and detention of activists as tools of control and suppression of dissent to how natural resources are used and governed.

Especially in the Global North, economies continue to rely on commodities produced in developing and emerging economies, enabled by production practices linked with deforestation. Governments, companies, and consumers must take more responsibility for environmental and social externalities not reflected in market prices.

REDD+ emerged as a means for developed countries to compensate developing countries for successes in reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation through financial partnerships. While many forest countries have initiated reforms and policies to address the problem of deforestation, realization of REDD's potential has taken longer than hoped. Many countries are still in a preparation process after more than a decade, and others are still unable to sustainably implement and scale their activities. Though this delay can be explained in part by the complexity of the needed reforms and capacity-building, as well as a lack of sufficient finance flows for these programs, donor countries have also set a variety of conditions that can create barriers to successful partnerships between forest and donor nations.

An increasing number of demand-side initiatives to reduce and end imported deforestation are still in their early stages or are merely voluntary. Producers and consumer-facing companies in metal and mineral supply chains also have a significant way to go before their efforts will reflect their share of the responsibility for mining-driven deforestation.

Progress toward Goals 3 and 4—reducing deforestation from infrastructure and extractive developments, while supporting sustainable livelihoods—is slow. Without dramatic shifts in economic development strategies—away from a reliance on extraction, exploitation, and consumption, and toward alternative pathways which value forests and people—the world will not meet its ambitious goals for sustainable development, climate, and forests.

CHAPTER 1. Introduction

The New York Declaration on Forests is a voluntary and non-binding international declaration calling for action to protect and restore global forests.

Over 200 governments, multinational companies, groups representing Indigenous communities, and non-governmental organizations have endorsed the New York Declaration on Forests (NYDF) and committed to doing their part to achieve its ambitious targets to end natural forest loss and to restore forests. The 10 goals of the declaration **(Box 1)** set milestones to maintain and increase forest cover (Goals 1 and 5), target specific drivers of forest loss (Goal 2, 3, and 4), call for elevating forests into the international climate and sustainable development agenda (Goals 6 and 7), and adequate finance (Goals 8 and 9) and forest governance (Goal 10) to enable the protection and enhancement of forests.

2020 is a crucial year for the review and reflection on forest goals for the NYDF and the global community.

The NYDF provides a unique forum for commitment and action, bringing different actors together and anchoring their ambitions in the international agenda. As a voluntary declaration, the NYDF relies on its endorsers and their partners to step forward, formulate plans, and take concrete actions, but does not hold them accountable for their progress.

Since its adoption in 2014, the NYDF has become a reference point for the status of global forests in general and tropical forests in particular. It is clear that important targets set by the declaration for this year have been missed. The outlook is also grim: forest loss has increased rather than halved since 2014, and success stories are a rare exception. Recent spikes in deforestation and devastating fires in Australia, Brazil, Indonesia, and the United States are alarming signs of a losing battle towards long-term sustainable use of land and forests. Ending natural forest loss, the goal the NYDF set for 2030, will require a fast and full paradigm shift by the global community towards valuing forests for their essential benefits and prioritizing their protection.

This report presents the 2020 NYDF Progress Assessment focusing on the declaration's goals to reduce deforestation from other economic sectors (Goal 3) such as infrastructure development and extractive industries, and support alternatives to deforestation driven by basic needs (Goal 4).

The assessment was conducted by the <u>NYDF Assessment Partners</u>, an independent civil society network of 28 research organizations and think tanks that monitors collective progress towards the NYDF goals. This coalition develops and revises goal-specific assessment frameworks and coordinates information gathering, analysis, and the presentation of findings.

Each year, the NYDF Progress Assessment monitors progress toward all goals in a collective and iterative process (see forestdeclaration.org) while focusing on a goal or set of goals for an in-depth progress assessment. The two goals that have not previously been assessed in detail are Goals 3 and 4, which cover a wide range of activities that can lead to deforestation and forest degradation, from large-scale infrastructure and extractive industries^a (Goal 3) to small-scale encroachment of forests that is driven by poverty, including smallholder farming for subsistence and commercial agriculture,^b artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM), woodfuel collection, and charcoal-making (Goal 4).

a The most important non-agricultural economic sectors driving forest loss are infrastructure development and extractive industries. We do not consider human settlements within this report because it is not an economic sector.

b We consider only commercial smallholder farming that is linked to poverty, as incomes from commercial activities are essential for livelihoods, recognizing that, in practice, it is often difficult to distinguish information.

This report is divided into the following chapters:

- This introduction (Chapter 1)
- An overview of the impact and threat of these activities for forests (Chapter 2)
- A benchmark for measuring progress toward reducing deforestation from these sectors including an assessment framework **(Chapter 3)**
- The findings of the progress assessment for different actors, including governments of forest countries, private-sector companies, grassroots movements, and financing efforts (Chapters 4 through 7)
- A discussion of the barriers for progress including regional insights for the Congo Basin, Southeast Asia, and the Western Amazon **(Chapter 8)**, and
- A conclusion (Chapter 9).

BOX 1. The ten goals of the NYDF



Goal 1

At least halve the rate of loss of natural forests globally by 2020 and strive to end natural forest loss by 2030.

Goal 2



Support and help meet the private-sector goal of eliminating deforestation from the production of agricultural commodities such as palm oil, soy, paper, and beef products by no later than 2020, recognizing that many companies have even more ambitious targets.



Goal 3

Significantly reduce deforestation derived from other economic sectors by 2020.



Goal 4

Support alternatives to deforestation driven by basic needs (such as subsistence farming and reliance on woodfuel for energy) in ways that alleviate poverty and promote sustainable and equitable



Goal 5

development.

Restore 150 million hectares of degraded landscapes and forestlands by 2020 and significantly increase the rate of global restoration thereafter, which would restore at least an additional 200 million hectares by 2030.



Goal 6

Include ambitious, quantitative forest conservation and restoration targets for 2030 in the post-2015 global development framework, as part of new international sustainable development goals.



Goal 7

Agree in 2015 to reduce emissions from deforestation and forest degradation as part of a post-2020 global climate agreement, in accordance with internationally agreed rules and consistent with the goal of not exceeding 2 degrees Celsius warming.



Goal 8

Provide support for the development and implementation of strategies to reduce forest emissions.

Goal 9

\$ = u

Reward countries and jurisdictions that, by taking action, reduce forest emissions – particularly through public policies to scale-up payments for verified emission reductions and private-sector sourcing of commodities.



Goal 10

Strengthen forest governance, transparency, and the rule of law, while also empowering communities and recognizing the rights of indigenous peoples, especially those pertaining to their lands and resources.

CHAPTER 2. The forest impacts of infrastructure, extractive industries, and basic-needs activities

Infrastructure development often serves as a centerpiece of national and regional development plans. The form and content of these plans—what type of infrastructure is built where, and what types of activities and resources are prioritized—have long-term implications for local communities and for forests. On one hand, infrastructure can be envisioned as part of a package of interventions to promote sustainable development—a paved road providing access for a remote village to a nearby city, paired with a regular bus route and construction of a hospital. On the other hand, infrastructure plans may be designed to promote investments in large-scale natural resource extraction and the expansion of agro-industry into remote areas, such as cross-country highways connecting mine sites and agricultural areas to far-distant ports.

It is the latter, large-scale approach to infrastructure development and extractive industry promotion that is most threatening to forests, fragile landscapes, and local communities. Top-down development plans often fail to fully account for ecosystem impacts or provide commensurate investments in sustainable local economies. In the absence of economic opportunities and supportive policies, local actors may drive forest loss as they seek to provide for their basic needs or pull their families out of poverty.

The relationship between poverty and deforestation is not straightforward. Although deforestation is often attributed to poverty and a lack of livelihood opportunities, evidence supporting this assumption is mixed.^{2.3} Importantly, many studies indicate that rural households with higher incomes are often responsible for much more deforestation that poorer households because they have the means for more intensive exploitation of forests.⁴⁻⁶ The complexity of the link between deforestation and poverty indicates that additional factors, such as governance and enforcement of regulations to protect forests, play an important role in addressing both problems simultaneously.

In this chapter, we discuss the extent to which infrastructure, extractive industries, and subsistence and small-scale activities linked to poverty drive deforestation and forest degradation. We are constrained in our reporting by the limited availability of systematic and global data on forest loss attributed to the Goal 3 drivers (mining, oil and gas extraction, and infrastructure development) and Goal 4 activities (small-scale agriculture, use of forest resources, and artisanal and small-scale mining). We present global and regional estimates of loss over roughly the last two decades, and, where available, projections of future forest risk from planned projects. In addition, we discuss the ways that these drivers of forest loss—especially infrastructure —interact with and enable other deforestation drivers, magnifying their overall impacts.



2.1 Infrastructure and extractive industries

From construction to utilization to decommissioning, infrastructure can lead to significant and lasting forest degradation and deforestation. The pace of large-scale infrastructure development is increasing across many tropical forests rich in biodiversity.

Estimates have pegged infrastructure as directly responsible for between nine and 17 percent of deforestation in tropical and subtropical forest countries.⁷ Infrastructure provides services and facilitates transportation through physical networks such as roads, railways, and pipelines. The process of constructing these physical networks through forest areas requires clearing trees, and the pace of construction has been high over the last two decades. For example, in Papua, Indonesia's easternmost province, the public roads network increased by 44 percent from 2001 to 2018, with over 12,000 additional kilometers of roads constructed, including the Trans-Papua Highway. Over 86,000 hectares have been cleared within one kilometer of these roads since 2000, representing 12 percent of total deforestation in the region over the same time period.⁸ In the Congo Basin, similar dynamics were observed over the past decades—the road network is estimated to have increased by 40 percent since 2003.⁹

Within the next three decades, it is estimated that another 25 million kilometers of roads could be built, with 90 percent located in developing countries—including ecologically sensitive regions.¹⁰ The G-20 predict that, at current rates, investment in new infrastructure will amount to USD 78.8 trillion by 2040.¹¹ Large as this number appears, the G-20 argue that this leaves an "infrastructure gap" of almost USD 15 trillion over the same period, inhibiting economic growth potential.

The establishment of infrastructure has had both the intended, and sometimes unintended, effect of increasing other forms of resource extraction. Human encroachment into new forest areas further exacerbates forest disturbance.¹² For example, in Madre de Dios, Peru, the construction and opening of the Southern Interoceanic Highway correlated strongly with an uptick of artisanal and small-scale mining activity, even as the price of gold dropped after the highway was completed.¹³ Pioneer infrastructure also facilitates illicit activities that can have significantly higher impacts—for every kilometer of legal road in Brazil, there are estimated to be three kilometers of illegal roads.¹⁴

The gravest risk to forests comes from transboundary megaprojects that are currently planned or under development in all major world regions of tropical humid forest.

Megaprojects are massive and complex development projects that may combine multiple types of transportation and energy infrastructure, along with sites of natural resource extraction and planned urbanization.¹⁵ The Belt and Road Initiative, a massive infrastructure-based development strategy promoted by the Chinese government **(Box 16 in Section 7.1)** represents a paradigm of a megaproject. With an estimated 126 countries signed on, the expansive initiative calls for interlinked projects that will cut across forests and other fragile and biodiverse landscapes around the world.

Megaprojects are often framed as "economic corridors" when they span across landscapes, fostering regional transportation connections, resource extraction, and access. Such corridors are planned or under development in many critical forest regions **(Figure 1)**.¹⁶ Across South America, governments have collaborated since 2000 to promote a series of strategic development corridors with dozens of high priority projects that have and will continue to directly impact swaths of the Amazon.¹⁷ In Sub-Saharan Africa, regional

integration is fueling an infrastructure boom organized around dozens of development corridors to extract, transport, and export minerals and energy.¹⁸ These corridors would cut across 400 existing protected areas and could degrade an additional 1,800 by stimulating the destruction of habitats near or inside reserves.¹⁸ Across Indonesian Borneo¹⁹ and Papua,²⁰ planned corridors would cut through intact forests and threaten at-risk species while providing questionable benefits to local communities.

Along with corridors based around highway and railroad construction, there are hydropower plans in the Amazon, Congo, and Mekong river basins that could have serious impacts on watersheds and river connectivity while increasing deforestation.²¹ One study on a series of planned dams along the Amazon's Tapajós River basin found that they would contribute to an additional 950,000 hectares of forest loss in the Amazon by 2032, mostly due to associated roads that would promote migration and illegal invasions.²² Planned dams in the Mekong river basin would substantially alter the region's hydrology and would encourage further expansion of road networks and irrigated cropland, at the expense of forests.²³ Though hydroelectric dams are important elements of energy security and climate strategies, even small-scale dams can seriously impact river basin ecosystems if they are poorly planned and when the cumulative effects of multiple dams are not taken into account.^{24,25}

Significant extractive activities are found across regions hosting humid tropical forests, often concentrated in areas of high biodiversity.

Mining is the fourth-largest deforestation driver, contributing about seven percent of global forest loss.⁷ Oil and natural gas extraction sites tend to overlap with areas rich in biodiversity, including Central Africa and large swaths of the western Amazon.²⁶⁻²⁸ An estimated 11.9 million hectares of forest globally overlap with coal mining concessions.²⁹ The direct forest impacts of these extractive activities begin at the exploration phase and continue through the operation and decommissioning of extraction sites. Exploration activities can lead to forest fragmentation,^{30,31} while trees are also cleared for operations (the "footprint" of the extraction site) and for associated infrastructure,³² as well as unintended forest destruction due to structural failures, such as the collapse of tailings dams.^c

The access roads, pipelines, and powerlines associated with extractive activities have driven 12 percent of intact forest landscapes' loss of area between 2000 and 2013.³¹ When indirect effects of mining are accounted for—secondary infrastructure, or nearby urban expansion to supply a labor force, for example—then an estimated nine percent of deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon has been caused by mining.³³ Similar dynamics have been found in forest regions from the Congo Basin³⁴ to Ghana³⁵ to Indonesia.³⁶

In Brazil, mining-induced deforestation has been detected up to 70 kilometers away from mining sites.³⁷ Based on several studies, a zone of influence of 50 kilometers around mining operations seems to be generally accepted.^{37,38} According to a comprehensive World Bank review of non-coal mine sites, 1,539 operational large-scale mines (44 percent of all active mines) and a further 1,826 non-operational mines (under development or decommissioned) are located in forests.³⁹ This puts 10 percent of all forests at risk of impact from operational mine sites, and a full third at risk when mines in development or not currently operational are included.³⁹ Active coal mining is estimated to affect 1.74 million hectares of forest in Indonesia alone, and future permits could affect up to nine percent of the country's remaining forests.⁴⁰ Existing mining concessions also overlap with a significant share of the world's remaining intact forest landscapes ⁴ and areas of high biodiversity (**Table 1**).^{41,42}

c Tailings are the remaining waste materials after minerals have been extracted from mined ore. They are often stored as a slurry in a storage dam nearby the mine site. See Mudd, G. M. (2008). Sustainability Reporting and Water Resources: A Preliminary Assessment of Embodied Water and Sustainable Mining. Mine Water and the Environment, 27(3), 136.

d Intact forest landscapes are defined as "a seamless mosaic of forest and naturally treeless ecosystems with no remotely detected signs of human activity and a minimum area of 500 km."³¹

Mining concessions or illegal mining overlap with more than 21 percent of Indigenous lands in the Amazon.⁴³

TABLE 1. Mining in forest areas by region, for selected regions³⁹

Note: these figures exclude coal mining.

Region	Share of global forests found in region (%)	Share of mining in region that is in forests (%)
East Asia and Pacific	24	48
Latin America and Caribbean	18	37
Sub-Saharan Africa	12	39

Demand for mined and extracted products is increasing as the world becomes more industrialized, presenting enormous risks for forests.

There is no indication for a slowdown in consumption of mineral and metal-intensive technology product.⁴⁴ On the contrary, demand for critical metals like copper, lithium, and cobalt is expected to increase to support the production of renewable energy technologies necessary for a low-carbon societal transition.⁴⁵ Though global fossil fuel demand dipped slightly due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is expected to at least rebound to previous levels.⁴⁶ Moreover, the geography of these high value fuel and mineral deposits, together with policies favorable to their expansion, hold significant risks for the world's remaining biodiverse old-growth forests and intact forest landscapes.^{47,48} In the Amazon, 10.6 percent of intact forest landscapes overlap with mining operations, while this figure stands at 16.5 percent in the Congo Basin, 4.5 percent in the Mekong region, and 14.0 percent in the Coral Triangle in the western Pacific Ocean.⁴⁹

In addition, human encroachment into previously intact forest areas is a major contributor to zoonotic disease emergence.⁵⁰ As forests are fragmented due to land use conversion and infrastructure development, habitats are shrinking and more forest "edges" are being generated. These edges become key sites of human-wildlife interaction as communities provision themselves and service local markets for bushmeat and other forest products.⁵¹

Figure 1. Maps of planned economic corridors and concession areas overlaying forest in three tropical forest regions



Figure 1, continued



Note: The maps represent the spatial relations among planned infrastructure; mining, hydrocarbon, and oil palm concessions (where data is available); and forest extent as of 2020 in three regions: the Amazon, the Congo Basin, and Southeast Asia.

Sources: For all three regions: Forest extent in 2020 from Global Forest Change data (v1.7) via Google Earth Explorer.

For the Amazon: Planned economic corridors based on primary data from the Initiative for the Integration of the Regional Infrastructure of South America (IIRSA) South American Infrastructure and Planning Council (COSIPLAN). Concession data from the Amazon Geo-Referenced Socio-Environmental Information Network (RAISG).

For the Congo Basin: Forest extent was overlaid with the European Space Agency Climate Change Initiative (ESA CCI) Land Cover Product (2017) to differentiate between deciduous and evergreen forest. Study area outlines administrative borders of Cameroon, Central African Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, and Republic of the Congo via the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM). Planned economic corridors were drawn from Laurance, Sloan, Weng, & Sayer et al. (2015) and digitized as lines; then a 25-kilometer buffer was applied. Concession data from Global Forest Watch.

For Southeast Asia: Planned economic corridors were drawn from a literature review of planned regional development (e.g. Figure 2.1 in <u>Duffield</u>, <u>Duffield</u>, <u>& Wilson</u> (2019) and <u>Alamgir et al</u>. (2019)) and digitized as lines; then a 25-kilometer buffer was applied. Oil Palm concession data from <u>Global Forest Watch</u>, and Coal Mining concession data from <u>Bebbington et al</u>. (2018).



2.2 Basic-needs activities

The drivers of deforestation and forest degradation considered under Goal 4 are those activities that provide for a household's direct subsistence, as well as small-scale commercial activities that provide a livelihood.

Access roads and extraction sites, as described in the previous section, promote migration to new forest frontiers. This gives small-scale actors the opportunity to engage in practices that may drive deforestation, including land speculation and agricultural expansion. In general, activities associated with poverty and rural subsistence, as well as small-scale commercial production, can become harmful to forests under certain socio-economic conditions.⁵² These activities include small-scale agriculture (subsistence and market farming), artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM), and the use of forest resources through wood harvesting (including for fuelwood, charcoal, and selective logging), and the collection of non-timber forest products (NTFPs).

Small-scale farming, especially for commodity production, is expanding across regions as demographic shifts and a trend toward commercial production apply pressure to livelihoods and forests.

While large-scale commercial agriculture is the largest driver of deforestation globally,⁵³ small-scale agriculture can have a large impact in certain forest regions. Farming practices of small-scale agriculture may be permanent, where crops are grown or livestock are grazed continuously on the same parcel of land; or shifting, where farmers rotate their plots and pastures periodically, clearing trees as they go and allowing trees to regrow on old plots.

To give a sense of the scale, subsistence agriculture—both permanent and shifting has been estimated to be responsible for a third of deforestation in the tropics,⁷ while shifting agriculture alone accounts for almost a quarter of annual tree cover loss (though much of this loss is likely not permanent deforestation).^{e,f,53} Almost two thirds of the humid and sub-humid tropics show signs of shifting cultivation.⁵⁴ Recent data in the Congo Basin suggests that the area under shifting cultivation is expanding, correlating with population growth, and increasingly encroaching into pristine forests. Between 2000 and 2014, small-scale agriculture and, to some extent, clearing for charcoal production, drove 84 percent of all canopy forest loss in the region.⁵⁵

Despite the upward trend in some regions, the total area of land under shifting cultivation is expected to decline in coming decades. However, this farming practice is often replaced with more intensive agricultural production which leads to permanent deforestation.⁵⁴ In Sub-Saharan Africa, small-scale agriculture is the dominant driver of forest loss and degradation, in part due to expansion of cultivation of cocoa, palm oil, or other cash crops.⁵³ Meanwhile, in Indonesia, the government has motivated millions of farmers to abandon swidden practices through transmigratory programs that promote palm oil cultivation.⁵⁶ Smallholders' share of the area under palm oil cultivation is projected to grow from 46 percent to more than 60 percent by 2030, largely through expansion, as demand in emerging markets like India and China continues to grow.^{57,58}

Tree cover loss is defined as the removal or mortality of trees within a defined area, which may be temporary or permanent.
 Deforestation is defined as the permanent conversion of land from forest to another land use. See the <u>Coal 1 assessment</u> for a more detailed explanation of tree cover loss versus deforestation.

f The effects of charcoal-making cannot be distinguished from slash-and-burn agriculture, but the contribution is estimated to be less than 10 percent of the total area affected by this driver.

In Brazil, smallholder farmers (cultivating less than 100 hectares) were responsible for almost 14 percent of total deforestation in the Amazon between 2004 and 2011, with their share of deforestation rising over this period.⁵⁹ Many of these farmers play an important role in the early stages of the beef supply chain—breeding cows and raising calves. Their operations can have an outsized impact on forests because they operate in remote areas at the forest frontier.⁶⁰

The number of artisanal and small-scale miners has tripled in the last two decades, even as hundreds of thousands of hectares of forest have been felled and polluted.

ASM is a widespread activity to supplement insufficient income from agriculture or to earn cash in economically precarious situations.⁶¹ The estimated number of people who directly engage in ASM has more than tripled since 1999, from 13 million to over 40 million today. Including miners' households, around 150 million people in total rely on the income provided by ASM.⁶¹ ASM contributes to a large share of high-value minerals and metals, such as gold, tantalum, and tin, and a large share of certain countries' overall mineral production. For example, up to 90 percent of the Democratic Republic of Congo's minerals are mined by small-scale actors.⁶²

There is a wide range in the extent of deforestation found around ASM sites. In one global study, shares of forest loss within a five-kilometer buffer area around ASM sites ranged from 0.1 to 46.2 percent.⁶² ASM has been highly destructive in certain forest regions where deposits of high-value minerals, like gold, intersect with challenges of governance, and when higher levels of mechanization are employed.⁶²

In the Peruvian Amazon, artisanal gold mining has resulted in 100,000 hectares of deforestation between 1984 and 2017,⁶³ along with mercury contamination of rivers in the deforested areas.⁶⁴ A third of the Venezuelan Amazon's deforestation from 2011 to 2015 occurred in the Orinoco Mining Arc. Here the government has established a special economic zone that legitimizes, and has spurred on, additional small-scale gold mining with little environmental oversight—to devastating effect on local ecosystems.⁶⁵ In Ghana, "galamsey" (illegal gold mining) has served as both an economic engine, contributing to a quadrupling of the country's gross domestic product over the last 30 years, and a dominant driver of forest loss.^{66,67}

At least as significant as deforestation are the forest degradation effects of ASM, from the release of mercury and other pollutants to the use of earthmoving equipment in mechanized operations.^{62,62} Soil depletion and pollution in these sites can impede forest regeneration for years even after sites are abandoned.⁷⁰ Access pathways opened by ASM miners are also often used by others who broaden these routes and drive significant knock-on forest loss and degradation.^{69,71,72}

Demand for fuelwood, charcoal, non-timber forest products, and forest grazing represents an important driver of forest degradation which accelerates biodiversity loss and the risk of pandemic diseases.

Both fuelwood collection and charcoal production are primarily drivers of forest degradation rather than permanent deforestation.⁷³ An estimated one third of global woodfuel harvest is unsustainable.^{74,75} Globally, about 41 million people work in fuelwood collection and charcoal production to supply cities.^{75,76} For example, many African cities rely on charcoal, with nearly 80 percent of urban households using it as the main source of energy for cooking.⁷⁷

The degree of forest clearing for charcoal production varies considerably among countries and even sites within each country.⁷⁸ For example, the share of total tree clearance attributed to charcoal production is less than one percent in Zimbabwe while more than 33 percent in Tanzania.⁷⁸ Recent efforts to quantify the forest degradation impacts of charcoal production near an urban center in southern Mozambique using historical Landsat imagery found that, from 2008 to 2018, over 68 percent of available forest area had been disturbed.⁷⁹ As the world population urbanizes—urban populations in Africa are expected to double from 2000 levels by the year 2050⁸⁰—charcoal production is increasing near cities to meet this rising demand.⁷⁷

The use of NTFPs—forest products other than wood or timber, such as medicinal plants, bush meat, nuts, and fruits—can be an essential provisioning activity for forest-dependent communities; it may also be pursued as a commercial livelihood option. However, excessive harvesting of NTFPs can have cascading effects on ecosystem functioning and, in some cases, lead to overall forest decline.^{81,82} For example, Indonesia and Malaysia have seen a decline in rattan harvests due to illegal harvesting and deforestation, while NTFP harvests have been on a steady decline in the Lao Peoples' Democratic Republic.⁸³⁻⁸⁵

The grazing of livestock in forests also contributes significantly to forest degradation, particularly in dryland forests. Forest grazing is estimated to drive 10 to 17 percent of degradation in countries where forests are already scarce or where it cumulates with other drivers of degradation.⁷ In Ethiopia, for example, livestock are commonly grazed in national parks for income diversification and as a strategy to cope with drought.⁸⁶ However, overgrazing has degraded these forest habitats by impeding forest regeneration, threatening biodiversity.^{87,88}

CHAPTER 3. Assessing progress toward Goals 3 and 4

Infrastructure development and natural resource extraction have been foundational to the economic growth of countries in the Global North and newer economic powerhouses like China. Today, the same mega-projects that threaten the world's remaining intact tropical forests are built in part to service consumer demand from these same countries, or to follow their model for development.

There is no question that certain infrastructure is essential to reduce poverty, provide economic opportunity, and supply access to basic services such as markets, schools and hospitals, energy and water, and information networks. These are essential building blocks of development. And extractive industries provide the fuels, metals, and minerals that underpin our global economy, while certain mined materials will increasingly be required to transition to a low-carbon economy, in particular, for renewable energy technologies.⁸⁹ Yet, development projects come with environmental and social costs that tend to be distributed unequally, and which must be considered in their planning.

This chapter defines activities that indicate progress toward achieving NYDF Goals 3 and 4. In lieu of a quantified global baseline for forest impacts from infrastructure, extractive industries, and deforestation related to basic needs, we propose a blueprint of four strategies for governments, companies, and financial actors to minimize the forest impact of infrastructure and mining, and promote sustainable rural development while protecting forests. Based on these four strategies, we provide an assessment framework to measure progress toward each goal.

3.1 A quartet of strategies that indicate progress

To date, there has been no consensus on how to define progress against these two Goals. We therefore propose four strategies below that would, if pursued, contribute to their achievement. We use these strategies to define indicators for assessing the actions of governments, companies, grassroots movements, and the financial sector and international donors to determine the degree to which progress is being made against the Goals.

The following four strategies indicate how to balance development and forest conservation:

Figure 2. Strategies for progress in achieving NYDF Goals 3 and 4



Note: The four strategies to reduce forest impacts from infrastructure and extractive industries and to promote sustainable alternative livelihoods address different scales of thought, planning, and intervention. Strategies 3 and 4 apply to projects and interventions on the ground, which are nested within the high-level planning addressed by Strategy 2. In turn, the macroeconomic and strategic planning of Strategy 2 will be bounded by the conceptions of development that Strategy 1 seeks to expand. Adopting Strategy 1, by embracing alternative development pathways, will have cascading positive effects that will make Strategies 2, 3, and 4 easier to follow.



STRATEGY 1: Embrace alternative development pathways that reduce over-exploitation, inefficient production, and excessive consumption of resources.

Decision-makers should consider alternative development pathways that are less dependent on excessive resource exploitation and consumption for the benefit of small segments of the population. There is potential for societies to undergo systemic change through a realignment of policy and investment priorities away from economic growth based on extraction and consumption.⁹⁰

With the Paris Agreement, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and the NYDF, many governments and organizations have adopted ambitious goals to protect forests. Companies around the world echo these ambitious commitments in their own strategies, policies and guiding principles. Yet, there is a fundamental contention between these high-level goals and the existing paradigm of growing consumption and economies based on the exploitation of natural resources.

While improved implementation of existing policies—following the law—will contribute to some progress, radical changes will be needed to avoid the destruction of this planet and achieve well-being for all, in line with these high-level goals. In many regions of the world, however, the story of forest loss has been predicated on a long-held narrative of economic development that regards forests as resources to conquer, control, and exploit. Decision-makers in consumer countries fail to fully evaluate the environmental costs, especially those that incur in producer countries.



STRATEGY 2: Align macroeconomic and strategic planning with forest goals

At the heart of any strategy to advance progress toward Goals 3 and 4 is the alignment of decision-making processes, policies and, importantly, their implementation with the SDGs, including forest goals. While this alignment will not completely avoid trade-offs, it will enable an open and transparent balancing of different competing goals and help to avoid the primacy of short-term, often private, benefits, over long-term public benefits and sustainability.

It is essential to consider the forest impact of development programs and projects by conducting forest risk and strategic impact assessments that allow the evaluation of impacts on forests and vulnerable populations. This helps governments decide if and where negative tradeoffs for forests are justified by other sustainable development benefits, and how plans can be adjusted to minimize harm. In addition, grassroots movements and civil society play an important role in influencing these processes at different scales. Their expertise should be actively engaged, using participatory approaches to enable those living in or dependent on forests to have a voice in decision-making.

In some cases, synergies may exist. For example, investments can be directed to areas where a lack of infrastructure leads to deforestation to satisfy basic needs; road investments may enable children to attend schools, increasing economic opportunity and well-being. Investments that would risk spurring migration to forest areas can be paired with socioeconomic development programs that provide alternative and more sustainable livelihood options (e.g. sustainable intensification of agriculture) alongside strong protections for forests. This strategy applies to governments as well as private corporations. Macroeconomic planning is primarily the responsibility of governments, who direct the flows of public funds and, to varying degrees, determine land use options and provide direction or incentives to private industry to pursue certain economic opportunities. Large and multinational private-sector actors influence government decision-making, but also apply similar processes to plan investments and assess risks. For megaprojects, which often go beyond the scale of individual countries, regional and international organizations, such as multilateral development banks and intergovernmental platforms, play an especially important role.



STRATEGY 3: Apply the 'mitigation hierarchy' to effectively minimize forest impacts from infrastructure projects and extractive industries

Best practice for private- and public-sector decision-makers involves the effective application of the "mitigation hierarchy," a decision framework which allows for the systematic consideration of negative forest impacts and mitigation options. This framework is often incorporated into public standards and company policies, but it also applies to investment or licensing decisions of governments and the financial sector.

The mitigation hierarchy involves four key stages that are relevant across the full lifecycle of projects with the specific processes outlined in legislation, company policies, or funding guidelines **(Figure 3)**. First, it aims to prevent negative impacts, either by avoiding or minimizing impacts. As a second priority, it calls for remedial measures, restoring or offsetting negative impacts. Effective application of this framework requires strong prioritization of avoidance and mitigation. Restoration and offsetting options should only be used as a last resort. To be effective, the mitigation hierarchy should also consider indirect and cumulative impacts.

At the project level, it is best practice for the mitigation hierarchy to start with an environmental and social impact assessment, to identify and consider any risks during the exploration phase. Where risks are identified, decision-makers should develop a management plan to address them and set out mitigation measures during planning, development, operation, and decommissioning of infrastructure and extractive sites. In addition, civil society and local community consultations are essential to consider and mitigate the full impact of investments.

Figure 3. Applying the mitigation hierarchy throughout land use planning and project development for infrastructure and extractive industries

STEPS OF THE MITIGA	TION HEIRARCHY		4	
I		Minimize		4
		Restor	re / Reclaim / Rehabilita	ate
		ļ	Offset	
PROJECT STAGE				
1	2	3	4	5
Strategic environmental assessments	Exploration and appraisal	Development	Operation	Decommissioning
Integrated land use planning				
Opportunity assessment & licensed area				
definition				
Example activities to	ensure equitable and	forest-friendly project	development	
Multi-stakeholder planning process	Environmental and social impact assessments	Free, Prior, and Informed Consent consultations with	Biodiveristy offset requirements	Site closure and rehabilitation plans
Early and substantive engagement with Indigenous peoples and local communities (IPLCs)	Environmental management plans & biodiversity action plans	IPLCs Third-party controlled financial guarantee funds	Community-based monitoring of operations and impacts	
Financial assessments based on comprehensive risk analysis	Compensation mechanisms		Alignment of contributions to financial guarantee fund to changes in scope of projects during operations	

Source: Adapted from FFI. (2014). Timing it right: Biodiversity planning for extractive industries.



STRATEGY 4: Apply the 'PRIME framework' to promote sustainable livelihoods *and* address deforestation

Reducing poverty for rural populations that rely on forests or on deforestation to meet their basic needs can go hand in hand with sustainable forest and land use. Building on the PRIME framework⁹ developed by Shyamsundar et al. (2020),⁹¹ five interrelated dimensions for interventions cover the necessary incentives and enabling conditions for reducing both deforestation and poverty **(Figure 4)**:

- Interventions to boost forest and agricultural **productivity (P)**
- Governance reforms to strengthen land **rights (R)**, both informal and formal
- Regional **investments (I)** in institutions, infrastructure, and public services
- Interventions that enhance market access (M)
- Mechanisms that enhance the flow of benefits from forest **ecosystem services (E)** to the poor.

Governments play a central role and are responsible for the design and implementation of interventions across these five dimensions. In addition, companies also carry a responsibility to support communities, directly and indirectly impacted by their operations, to adopt more sustainable practices. The government should also work with investors and project developers, especially in the context of large-scale projects that catalyze deforestation by poor migrants into forest areas. Collaboration is essential, not just between government and companies, but also with civil society and financiers.

This strategy is particularly important for companies that rely on small-scale producers in their supply chains; for example, in palm oil and cocoa or the mining sector. In these contexts, companies can provide support for smallholders to derive greater stability, profitability, and income; to enter group arrangements; and to invite them to join sustainable supply-chain efforts.^h In addition, the PRIME framework can inform the design of interventions by civil society, official development assistance, or social investments by the finance sector.

g The original PRIME framework focuses on interventions for forest-dependent communities and does not include small-scale agriculture and ASM activities.

h Detailed guidance for companies on ethical engagement with small-scale actors has been developed by the Accountability Framework initiative.

Figure 4. An expanded PRIME framework and indicative interventions to reduce both deforestation and poverty

	h
SMAI	1-504

SMALL-SCALE AGRICULTURE







ARTISANAL AND SMALL-SCALE MINING

Ρ

Productivity

Provide extension services to boost yields and increase resilience, such as through climate-smart agriculture and agroforestry Improve management of natural forests to ensure sustainable extraction of biomass for fuelwood and non-timber forest products Enhance technology to increase mineral recovery per ton of material and reduce mercury use



Rights

Secure land rights for smallholders to enable certainty and reduce land grabbing Secure community rights to forest resources to lower risks and promote longer term investments Secure mineral access rights for small-scale miners and local communities' land rights

I

Investments In institutions, infrastructure, and public services

Ensure access to affordable credit Invest in rural connectivity through roads, electricity, health care, and education Formalize small-scale mining sector and stengthen miners' associations



Markets

Encourage farmer cooperatives to reduce transaction costs Legalize and regulate informal markets

Increase reach of responsible and fair trade mining certification schemes



Ecosystem services

Incentivize reduced forest clearing through conservation payments

Promote nature-based tourism

Distribute benefits from protected areas (e.g. jobs, tourism revenues) to local communities

The success of all strategies depends on good governance, transparency, inclusion of affected stakeholders and, in particular, the empowerment of Indigenous peoples and local communities.

Well-designed and well-equipped governance frameworks are essential pre-requisites for implementing each of the four strategies. While there is potential to improve the design of policies and decision-making processes—by improving transparency, allowing meaningful participation, and addressing inconsistencies among different laws,ⁱ for instance—much progress could already be made through the proper implementation and enforcement of existing policies.

Best practices for the mitigation of negative environmental and social impacts start with meaningful engagement with all affected stakeholders, and obtaining their free, prior and informed consent (FPIC), especially where these strategies concern their formal or informal rights to forest, land, or use during planning and implementation. It is important that local stakeholders are not only consulted and involved in the decisionmaking for specific investments **(Strategy 3)** or interventions **(Strategy 4)**, but also in higher-level planning processes **(Strategy 2)**.

Particular attention should be given to the empowerment and securing of rights of Indigenous peoples and local communities (IPLCs) **(Box 2)**. Options range from, for example, involving IPLC groups in planning processes at national or international scale **(Strategy 2)**—often just by recognizing their already existing rights, to considering Indigenous world views for the transition to alternative and more sustainable development pathways **(Strategy 1)**.

BOX 2 The role of Indigenous peoples and local communities to protect forests and use land sustainably

An estimated 1.5 billion people live in or near forests,^{92,93} of which a significant portion are Indigenous, Afro-descendant, or otherwise distinguished by their customs and traditions and long-standing relationship with forest lands. These Indigenous peoples and local communities (IPLCs) generally have governance systems based on common property and communal land management.

It is increasingly understood that IPLCs play a critical role as stewards of forest ecosystems. Forests and land that are legally owned or designated for use by IPLCs have been linked to

- $\cdot~$ lower rates of deforestation and forest degradation $^{94-98}$
- better forest and biodiversity conservation^{99–103}
- more equitable and sustainable forest restoration efforts^{104,105}
- more benefits for more people¹⁰⁶
- better social, environmental, and economic outcomes overall than forests managed by either public or private entities, including protected areas¹⁰⁷
- long-term efficiency improvements ("land sparing") in land use when agricultural productivity was increased compared to short-run land sparing on government or privately run land,¹⁰⁸ and
- protection from illegal appropriation by others.¹⁰⁹

However, many of these communities' customary claims to their lands remain unrecognized.¹¹⁰ About a quarter of IPLC lands across Asia and Latin America have not been formalized, while over 70 percent remain unacknowledged in Africa.¹¹⁰ This lack of recognition remains a significant barrier not only to IPLCs' own self-determination but also to global efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from land use, halt biodiversity loss, and enact sustainable development.

i See the 2020 update on NYDF Goal 10 for additional information.

3.2 Assessment framework and methods

Based on the strategies for progress discussed in the previous section, the below assessment frameworks present criteria and indicators to measure progress toward Goals 3 and 4.

We distinguish four criteria for different actors, governments of forest countries, companies, grassroots movements, and the finance sector (including international public donors) **(Table 2)**. We omit Strategy 1, embracing alternative development pathways, from these assessment frameworks due to a lack of common understanding of what these should look like. If Strategy 1 were being pursued by the actors we assess, the evidence would likely emerge through implementation of the other three strategies.

Criteria	Goal 3 Indicators	Goal 4 Indicators
1. Efforts of forest country governments	3.1.1. Align macroeconomic planning processes and policymaking with forest goals3.1.2. Regulate forest impacts from infrastructureand extractive industries applying the mitigation hierarchy	4.1.1. Promote sustainable alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation applying the PRIME framework
2. Company efforts	3.2.1. Align company planning with forest goals)3.2.2. Manage forest impacts from mining operations applying the mitigation hierarchy	4.2.1. Promote sustainable alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation linked to company impacts applying the PRIME framework
3. Grassroots movements	3.3.1. Influence infrastructure and extractive industry planning and development to mitigate forest impacts	4.3.1. Promote sustainable alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation for forest management and prosperous livelihoods
4. Efforts by the finance sector and by international donors	3.4.1. Use safeguards to mitigate forest impacts from infrastructure and extractive industries	4.4.1. Use safeguards to mitigate forest impacts from basic needs activities4.4.2. Increase green investments in sustainable alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation

TABLE 2.	Assessment	frameworks [·]	for	Goals 3	and	4
----------	------------	-------------------------	-----	---------	-----	---

With the focus of this report on efforts relevant to forests, biodiversity, or environment, we encountered major data and information gaps. As a result, we cannot comprehensively assess progress or the lack of progress towards Goals 3 and 4. For example, we were unable to identify relevant private-sector initiatives targeting forest risks in the infrastructure sector. We outline major knowledge gaps at the beginning of each chapter.

The following are important methodological choices:

- We chose to combine the assessment of both goals and divide the presentation of our findings by actors due to their direct (e.g. through ASM) and indirect links (e.g. the pull-effect for basic needs deforestation through mining and infrastructure). Due to their relevance for supporting all other actors, we do not separately assess progress made by civil society.
- Due to the lack of granular data, especially quantitative data, we were unable to define a baseline and measure progress from the year NYDF was adopted. This assessment could potentially serve as a baseline for future reports.
- One of the key underlying factors for addressing Goals 3 and 4 is to improve governance. This assessment is focused on governance issues specific to the two Goals, while broader issues also play a role. For example, initiatives in consumer countries to step up the due diligence for the import of forest risk commodities are also relevant to mined goods or smallholder-produced commodities. For more detail on progress made in improving governance, see our Goal 10 assessment.

The assessment relies on an extensive review of literature and information, and where possible, new research was commissioned to close essential data gaps. Due to the lack of quantitative data, we often rely on a review of examples from different countries. Key sources include:

- CDP's new disclosure questionnaires for the metals and mining and coal sectors. These comprehensive frameworks capture information related to how companies in these sectors are managing their impacts and risks, as well as realizing opportunities related to forests and biodiversity.
- The new forest module of CDP's <u>States and Regions questionnaire</u>. These disclosures serve as an important source of data to showcase how state and regional governments are addressing deforestation and forest degradation resulting from mining and other non-agricultural drivers.
- The World Bank's 2019 reports on Forest-Smart Mining. Commissioned by the Program on Forests (PROFOR), these provide the most comprehensive assessment to date of the extent of large-scale and artisanal and small-scale metals and mineral mining in the world's forests. The reports were delivered by a consortium including Fauna & Flora International, Levin Sources, Fairfields Consulting, and Swedish Geological AB.
- A literature review on basic-needs activities that contribute to forest degradation and deforestation conducted by the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT)
- A review of REDD+ Emission Reduction Program Documents submitted to the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) Carbon Fund
- Original research on smallholder cattle rancher support programs in the Brazilian
 Amazon conducted by Imaflora
- Literature reviews and field surveys with farmers to examine efforts to reduce deforestation in the smallholder sectors of palm oil in Indonesia and cocoa in Côte D'Ivoire and Ghana

CHAPTER 4. Progress by governments

Governments define economic development pathways and carry a significant portion of the responsibility for the resulting deforestation. Through national development pathways, macroeconomic planning, taxes and subsidies, governments can influence deforestation trajectories in their countries using these mechanisms either to enable or reduce the loss of forests by certain sectors or activities. When a government is unstable or weak, its influence may be determined mostly through its absence and subsequent lack of control over the use of a state's resources.

Data on the extent to which national land-use planning and decision-making specifically consider forest impacts and preemptive mitigation measures is generally lacking. This gap is typical of national development planning, especially for infrastructure and extractive industries, which is hallmarked by limited transparency.

In the absence of a structured and comparable dataset on governments' efforts to manage forest loss from mining and infrastructure, the NYDF Progress Assessment commissioned CDP to develop and integrate a forest module into its States and Regions Questionnaire. Over 200 state and regional governments were invited to disclose in 2019 and 2020, of which 21 reported these sectors as drivers of deforestation or forest degradation. Respondents cover some of the regions with high forest loss, including six regional governments in Brazil, three in Indonesia, and two each from Colombia, Mexico, and Peru. Along with this disclosure data, we analyzed REDD+ program documents, databases of relevant policies, and case studies to assess the level and direction of government support for sustainable development.

This chapter describes where and how forest country governments have been taking steps toward reducing deforestation from infrastructure and extractive industries while supporting sustainable and equitable development for rural communities. Broader questions of forest governance are addressed in the <u>Goal 10 assessment</u>.

4.1 Have governments aligned macroeconomic planning processes and policies with forest goals?

Dozens of countries have made progress in developing national forest strategies through REDD+ programs, but their implementation is progressing slowly.

Dozens of countries are setting up REDD+ programs to access payments for reduced forest emissions **(Box 3)**. This process typically requires integrating forest goals into broader national or sector strategies and setting up inter-ministerial coordination bodies. The participant countries in the World Bank-administered Forest Carbon Partnership Facility or the UN REDD+ Programme, for example, engage in REDD+ readiness that requires establishing planning and coordination processes. The government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), for example, has included REDD+ into its national economic governance matrix and in its national strategy for growth and poverty reduction.¹¹¹ Building on a process of intersectoral coordination, the government has also recently validated a new land-use planning policy.¹¹²

While policy changes can pave the way for inclusive and comprehensive approaches to tackling deforestation, their implementation is progressing slowly. Only a few countries have received REDD+ payments for results, although there is clear evidence that REDD+ readiness processes have resulted in positive policy changes in many more countries.¹¹³ However, some of these policies may just exist on paper and there is no systematic information on whether they are implemented. Some progress has been temporary, with governments backtracking or, for example, stalling policy developments following political changes.¹¹¹

REDD+ or similar programs to curb deforestation also remain in a small niche, both in funding and political attention, compared to public investment directed toward infrastructure and enhancing transport, trade, and resource extraction; we have little insight into how forest goals or sustainable development are actually taken into account in these plans.¹¹⁴

BOX 3. Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation

Through references to decisions previously adopted under the United Nations Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), Article 5 anchors the legal framework for Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD+) in the text of the Paris Agreement:

Parties are encouraged to take action to implement and support, including through resultsbased payments, the existing framework as set out in related guidance and decisions already agreed under the Convention for policy approaches and positive incentives for activities relating to reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries; and alternative policy approaches, such as joint mitigation and adaptation approaches for the integral and sustainable management of forests, while reaffirming the importance of incentivizing, as appropriate, non-carbon benefits associated with such approaches.¹¹⁵

Results-based finance (RBF) for REDD+ conditions payments upon a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from forests. Rather than financing specific actions that lead to this reduction, RBF provides an ex-post reward and therefore incentive for forest countries to take these actions. Over the last decade, several multilateral and bilateral programs have emerged and offer RBF in the context of official development assistance. While internationally agreed rules under the UNFCCC do not provide operational levels of detail, these programs differ in their modalities and requirements for recipient countries. Broadly, the process of receiving REDD+ RBF starts with a readiness phase in which countries invest in the strategies and processes to get access and make use of financial resources for REDD+. In a next phase, countries implement the policies and measures to achieve emission reductions in the forest sector.
CDP finds that most state and regional governments reporting on mining and infrastructure have adopted policies to address the impact of these drivers. Few governments, however, have translated their policies into forest management plans or systematically assessed their forest risks.

Out of 18 governments who reported mining as a driver of deforestation or forest degradation in their jurisdiction to CDP, nine had adopted policies to address this driver **(Figure 5)**. The share was higher for the infrastructure sector, with eight out of 11 governments reporting the sector as a driver also having adopted relevant policies. Examples of policies or actions to manage forest impact include integrated land-use planning and management, adoption of afforestation strategies, and enforcing forest policies and regulations.

A policy that seeks to address both mining and infrastructure drivers is Caquetá's Integrated Strategy to Control Deforestation and Forest Management. It establishes a forest management plan for the Colombian Amazon department of Caqueta, based on a sustainable integral rural development approach. Caquetá's policy contributes to the livelihoods of local communities and local development as well as improved ecosystem resilience to support climate change adaptation and mitigation. Another example is the policy reported by the Brazilian state of Pernambuco. This policy pursues the protection of flora, fauna, and essential ecological processes; the preservation of biodiversity; the recovery of degraded areas and protection of areas threatened with degradation; the improvement in awareness of and education about protecting forests; and the economic and social development needed to improve quality of life and maintain ecological balance.

However, only a few governments that reported to have published forest management plans address mining and infrastructure risks. Such plans are important to translate highlevel forest policies into coordinated programs and outline the steps that should be taken to achieve forest protection.¹¹⁶ Out of the state and regional governments who reported that they have already published a forest management plan, only four—Jalisco, Piura, Wales, and West Kalimantan—address mining. Several other regions reported that they are in the process of developing such plans.

In West Kalimantan, for example, the government implements a Provincial Strategy and Action Plan on REDD+ as part of the low emissions development scheme and mitigation action on climate change. In Jalisco, Mexico's forest management plan that addresses mining, implementation involves creating an operating committee and collaboration mechanism to coordinate different strategies and programs. These include a National Strategy for the Increase of Sustainable Production as well as the state's strategy for the conservation of biodiversity.

Governments have designated almost 18 percent of global forests as protected areas. Where properly enforced, this status can avoid or limit the impact of infrastructure and extractive developments.

In 2020, more than 726 million hectares or 18 percent of forests fall within protected areas worldwide, with South America having the highest share of its forests (31 percent) in protected areas.¹¹⁷ Designated protection is an important signal and tool for the conservation and sustainable use of forests. However, protected areas are not necessarily off-limits to development. The legal status of protected areas differs across forest countries, as does the ease with which countries can reduce the level of protection. For instance, in national parks in Bolivia, the government changed legal frameworks for mineral rights to supersede conservation rights, while in Peru, gas and oil drilling is prohibited within all national parks.¹¹⁸

One form of protected area designation that is underrecognized, but which has been critical in reducing deforestation, is the allocation of reservations for Indigenous peoples in voluntary isolation and initial contact. These communities are known to exist in Asia, in West Papua and in the Andaman archipelago, and in South America, concentrated

in the Amazon and parts of the Chaco region.¹¹⁹ Of the six Latin American countries with uncontacted communities, many had made progress since 2005, when the first international meeting on Indigenous peoples in isolation was held in Brazil, in recognizing the existence of these groups and designating protected territories for their use.¹¹⁹

More than 32 percent of protected forest areas in the world, including Indigenous territories, are under intense pressure from, largely illegal or informal activities driven by small- and large-scale actors.¹²⁰ As a result, since 2002, more than eight million hectares of tropical primary forests in protected areas were lost globally, reducing protected forest areas by 2.2 percent.¹²¹ For example, in Tanzania, forest loss in protected areas is even higher than in unprotected areas.¹²² Ongoing pressures from planned megaprojects, resource-based development, and illegal operations also place uncontacted Indigenous communities under threat.

A major reason for this lack of protection of national parks and protected areas is that park management authorities are under-resourced and understaffed. Paraguay, for example, has one park ranger for every 38,000 hectares of protected forest, while the IUCN recommends staffing of one park ranger for every 1,000 hectares.¹²³ Nonetheless, approaches that look solely at protection but not the alleviation of social and economic challenges faced by the local communities living in and around protected areas, and whose means of livelihoods depend directly on the resources in situ, fail to provide sustainable and effective results. In addition, there are often conflicts in government policies; for example, allocating mining concessions into or near protected areas.¹²⁴ Globally, an estimated six percent of protected areas are subject to large-scale mining.¹²⁵

In recent years, accelerated now by the COVID-19 pandemic, many governments are relaxing regulations for protected areas. While theoretically the impact on forests may be justified by other sustainable development benefits, it is unclear if and how trade-offs are considered and carefully calculated in decision-making.

Governments argue in favor of national strategic interest or security to justify mining, agriculture, or infrastructure projects and the necessary legal reforms to subject protected areas to downgrading, downsizing, or degazettement (so-called PADDD^j events). Such reforms reflect a poor valuation of the economic benefits of protected areas, and, especially in Latin America, have resulted in clear threats to forests. In Peru, as a result of these reforms, between 2000 and 2010 deforestation and carbon emissions rates were 275 percent higher in PADDD affected forests than in other still protected forests, and even 45 percent higher than in unprotected forests.¹²⁶ In Brazil, recent legal changes were made to allow the construction of hydropower dams, while Ecuador and Venezuela authorized infrastructure and extractive activities.^k

More recently, governments are promoting extractive industries in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. With the looming economic crisis, officials are increasingly under pressure to relax regulations and laws. In Mexico, the government is bailing out the largest oil company and supporting it by increasing its exploration capacity and preparing for an intensive production phase once demand increases.¹²⁷ In Peru, which is highly dependent on mining—providing 60 percent of the country's exports—the government has taken measures related to citizen participation and environmental permits and sanctions, which civil society organizations fear may reduce social and environmental standards.¹²⁸

j While downgrading is the decrease of legal restrictions that define the number, magnitude and extent of human activities in a protected area, downsizing is the decrease of the size of a protected area due to excision of land/sea area through a legal boundary change. Degazettement is defined as a loss of the legal protection of an entire area. In some cases, PADDD events can be beneficial for forests, for example where the purpose of downgrading is for the establishment of management infrastructure.

k Certain countries have also ceded certain protected areas to Indigenous peoples and local communities. While these are technically PADDD events, the ensuing threat to forests is generally much lower than PADDD to enable extractive activities and infrastructure development.





Note: A total of 21 state and regional governments reported mining and/or infrastructure as a driver of deforestation or forest degradation.

Source: 2019 and 2020 data disclosed through CDP's States and Regions questionnaire

4.2 Are governments applying the mitigation hierarchy to infrastructure and extractive industry developments?

Many forest countries regulate infrastructure and extractive industry investments to reduce forest loss. This includes requirements for environmental and social impact assessments, mine closure and rehabilitation, and biodiversity offsetting.

Most countries have adopted requirements to conduct environmental and social impact assessments (ESIAs) of proposed development projects. For example, all of the 18 resource-rich countries assessed by Transparency International have laws and regulations that require companies to consult with local communities affected by mining and to assess the environmental impact of mining activities.¹²⁹ In Asia and the Pacific, another study found that most countries adopted requirements for conducting ESIAs and preparing environmental management plans before the start of mining exploration and extraction projects.¹³⁰

Many countries also include requirements for mine closure and rehabilitation plans in their natural resources allocation regulations and policies. For example, most of the 22 countries and jurisdictions who are members of the Intergovernmental Forum on Mining, Minerals, Metals and Sustainable Development require the submission of a mine closure and rehabilitation plan and the inclusion of a financial guarantee to ensure that proper mine site closure and rehabilitation will occur.¹³¹ In the Canadian province of Alberta, home to the largest known crude bitumen deposits in the world, and where forest disturbance is among the highest in the country, the government requires land to be returned to an equivalent land capability, whereby disturbed land should be able to support various land uses similar,

but not necessarily identical, to pre-disturbance.¹³² The province's Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act stipulates that companies seeking approval need to conduct an evaluation of land capabilities prior to commencing activities as part of the environmental impact assessment.^{133,134}

As of 2017, 115 countries, including many where mining is an important sector,¹³⁵ had biodiversity offset and compensation policies.¹³⁶ Compensation for biodiversity loss, including offsets, are legal requirements for project permits in 37 countries.¹³⁵ These policies are often adopted to achieve political goals of "no net loss."

In many countries, one or more regulating policies are poorly designed and do not reflect the mitigation hierarchy or consider the full range of direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts. Some countries are also rolling back environmental requirements to ease approval processes for new development projects.

ESIA policies in the mining sector often fail to consider the indirect impact of the mine, such as infrastructural developments and population settlements that may result in deforestation.³⁹ For example, in Malaysia, where ESIAs are a legal requirement for infrastructure projects, the process is limited to potential local impacts within a limited spatial scale, and does not require identification of indirect risks related to roads.¹³⁷ In Indonesia, for geothermal exploration, a lighter form of environmental planning and mitigation and monitoring plan is required rather than the full environmental impact assessment required for the exploitation phase, even though exploration often requires forest clearing and extensive road construction.¹³⁸

Furthermore, in most countries, ESIAs are not required for mining and infrastructure developments until a company applies for a license to operate after exploration has been completed.¹²⁹ In such cases, the environmental assessments are much less effective in influencing decision-making by licensing authorities and lead to less effective controls to mitigate environmental harm.¹³⁹

Some governments are also actively rolling back (weakening or eliminating) regulations intended to require project planners to assess and address anticipated environmental impacts. In the United States of America, for example, in July 2020, the Trump administration announced the weakening of environmental regulations undergirding the National Environmental Policy Act by putting a time limit of one to two years on environmental impact assessments for infrastructure projects like highways and pipelines, while also limiting public review of these documents.¹⁴⁰ Notably, the rollback explicitly releases federal agencies from considering a project's indirect or cumulative environmental effects. Affected communities will likely also have fewer opportunities to weigh in on project considerations.

Similarly, offsetting policies suffer from weaknesses in design, such as the limited consideration of project impacts. If the area set aside as a biodiversity offset becomes economically interesting for a company in the future, it can be licensed and financed simply by another development project. For example, in Uganda, when the reservoir created by the Bujagali dam flooded ecologically significant waterfalls and riverbanks of great cultural importance in the project area, the project developers claimed that "comparably important" waterfalls and riverbanks would be set aside in perpetuity as a biodiversity offset. However, another hydropower developer soon obtained permission for another dam to be built along the offset area of the River Nile.¹⁴¹

In addition, offsetting policies often fail to prioritize the first two steps in the mitigation hierarchy. Just a third of the 115 countries with biodiversity offset policies require biodiversity compensation and offsets to be used only as a measure of last resort, after the maximum avoidance and minimization fails to prevent all impacts.¹³⁵ Even if implemented effectively—considering the scale of cumulative forest loss associated with infrastructure and extraction and the questions around ecological effectiveness and project longevity—biodiversity offsets do little to reduce overall and irreversible forest impacts.¹⁴²

Because biodiversity offset approvals often skirt strict regulations, they fail to serve their purpose in balancing development and conservation.¹⁴³

Even where policies are aligned with the mitigation hierarchy, enforcement is inadequate.

Limited enforcement capacity results in delays in approvals, weak integration of relevant aspects in ESIAs, and missed opportunities to effectively involve affected local communities.¹³¹ Governments in developing countries often fail to oversee the ESIA process, verify its results, and monitor the implementation of the approved management plans.¹² Moreover, the effective enforcement of ESIAs in many countries is impaired because of a conflict of interest between government agencies that approve ESIAs (e.g. Ministry of Environment) and those who issue permits for extraction and development projects (e.g. Ministry of Mining).^{131,144}

Most government authorities, across developed and developing countries, lack the capacity to verify ESIAs' content.¹²⁹ For example, in Latin America, a review of 75 proposed road construction projects in Brazil, Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, and Peru found that most lacked a rigorous ESIA and little attempt has been made to assess their cumulative environmental impacts; therefore, if these projects are implemented, they could result in 2.4 million hectares of forest loss in the Amazon basin in the next 20 years.¹⁴⁵ For the Interoceanic highway, constructed in the early 2000s in Peru's southeastern Amazon Basin, ESIAs were conducted in sections rather than analyzing the total impacts of the road as a whole.¹⁴⁶ In these and other cases, ESIAs can become a meaningless "tick-box exercise", undermining public confidence in the legitimacy of the approvals regime and creating the risk of serious environmental and social harm.¹⁴⁷

Biodiversity offset policies' effectiveness is further weakened by a lack of monitoring or coherence of priorities across government agencies.¹⁴⁸ In the implementation of the Nimba Biodiversity Conservation Program—an offset program in Liberia—establishing a rural management strategy that effectively bridges forestry, agriculture, and other land use sectors remains a major challenge.¹⁴⁸ Australia faces a similar hurdle in involving multiple government agencies in a complex landscape of agriculture, forests, mining, and other land uses, and securing suitable like-for-like offsets that have sufficient integrity.¹⁴⁸

4.3 Are governments promoting sustainable alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation covering all PRIME dimensions?

As part of their jurisdictional REDD+ programs, many countries are planning support programs that are more or less aligned with the PRIME framework.

Among the 17 forest countries that have developed REDD+ programs (See Box 3) under the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility Carbon Fund, nine have planned activities to support sustainable agricultural production, such as livestock farming and charcoal production without deforestation in their program areas.¹ Activities target deforestation driven by poverty and cover all PRIME dimensions (Box 4), including productivity (e.g. technical support), rights (e.g. land reforms), institutions (e.g. capacity building for community forest management), market access (e.g. technical support), and ecosystem services (e.g. payment for ecosystem services schemes). Most countries cover at least several of the five dimensions. These activities are funded by domestic and international donor funds (see Section 7.2 for details).

Based on Climate Focus analysis of 17 Emission Reduction Program Documents submitted to the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility Carbon Fund.

BOX 4. Examples of REDD+ program activities planned by 17 countries to support livelihoods and reduce deforestation

Activities to support sustainable agricultural production:

- Improving productivity by providing technical support, market access, financial and insurance support, and other inputs (Côte d'Ivoire, Dominican Republic, Ghana, Guatemala, Madagascar, Mexico, Mozambique, Nicaragua, Peru)
- Promoting alternative livelihood through crop diversification and agroforestry, ecotourism, and off-farm employment (Fiji, Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Guatemala, Lao People's Democratic Republic (PDR), Madagascar, Mozambique, Nepal, Nicaragua, and Republic of the Congo (RoC))
- · Create a sustainable agricultural supply chain through:
 - Promoting a public-private network that involves the administration and management of the area (Chile, Madagascar, Peru, Vietnam)
 - Establishing the standards and certification of practice (Chile, Dominican Republic, Ghana, Madagascar)
 - Developing other underlying infrastructure such as storage facilities, trading centers, extension services, and research (RoC)

Activities to promote sustainable forest-related practices:

- From the supply side, various activities are promoted, including:
 - Raising awareness about sustainable environment and forest management through education programs, information and knowledge dissemination, and workshops (Côte d'Ivoire, Dominican Republic)
 - Encouraging multi-stakeholder engagement in sustainable forest management (Ghana), and the inclusion of marginal groups such as women and Indigenous communities (Chile, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Nepal and Nicaragua)
 - Setting up PES mechanisms as an incentive to conserve and restore forest (Dominican Republic, DRC, Guatemala, Mexico, Peru, RoC)
- From the demand side, agricultural residues (Côte d'Ivoire), biogas units, and improved cookstoves (Nepal) are promoted as an alternative to fuelwood as an energy source.

Activities to improve governance:

- Strengthen institutional frameworks:
 - Land use planning to be compatible with forest conservation (Dominican Republic), and to prevent competition between rural and urban development (Mexico)
 - Inter-ministerial regulation and harmonization of policies to implement applicable forestry projects (Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Madagascar)
- Law enforcement and monitoring:
 - Improving the transparency of the commodity prices, so that farmers are ensured with formal price (Ghana)
 - Strengthening the institutional and municipal capacity through finance and human resource training (Indonesia, Mozambique, Chile, Ghana)
 - Supporting community forest management (Chile, Dominican Republic, Lao PDR, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, RoC)
- Legal reform:
 - Improving land security (Indonesia)
 - · Land reform (Côte d'Ivoire, Dominican Republic, Indonesia, Mozambique, Peru)

Outside of REDD+ programs, governments that promote smallholder productivity to remove pressure from forests often fail to invest in rights, institutions, public services, and market access. The implementation of support generally, and in alignment with forest and poverty reduction goals (i.e. addressing all PRIME dimensions), is impaired by a lack of funding and capacity of relevant government institutions.

Support for subsistence and smallholder farmers to increase productivity through intensification is often provided in the context of poverty reduction and agricultural development programs. For example, several countries, including Indonesia and Cameroon are promoting intensification and permanent forms of cultivation where extensive agriculture systems such as shifting cultivation are prevalent.¹⁴⁹ Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire provide extension services to cocoa farmers to build their capacities to increase their productivity and income.^{150,151} Similarly, Brazil operates several incentive programs targeted at smallholder and improved practices, in particular, the rural credit program.¹⁵²

In many developing countries, because of limited resources and budget, extension services are scarce and adoption of good practices by farmers is very limited. In Sub-Saharan Africa, where public and private extension is weak, agricultural productivity has grown very slowly compared to global averages over the last four decades.¹⁵³ Complementary investments in infrastructure and public services aligned with forest goals would be needed to ensure their effectiveness in reducing deforestation and poverty.

In the Brazilian Amazon, for example, smallholder cattle ranchers that practice extensive farming especially lack access to technical assistance. The main limitation is the lack of qualified extension officers **(Box 5)**, while basic services, such as health and education, are also limited.¹⁵⁴ Similarly, in Indonesia, extension services lack capacity and play a limited role in promoting better agricultural practices among smallholder palm oil farmers.¹⁵⁵ In the cocoa sector in West Africa—another smallholder sector tied to commodity markets and characterized by poor land management and widespread poverty—there is some indication that government support had positive effects on productivity. The impact on forests is, however, still unclear and there are risks that increased productivity leads to additional deforestation **(Box 6)**.¹⁵⁶

BOX 5. Case study: Successful rural settlement support programs at risk from lack of supportive policies in Brazilian Amazon

A comparative study of technical assistance programs in two rural settlements in the Brazilian Amazon demonstrates both the successes and consequences of Brazil's approach to rural development.^{152,157} Over the last three decades, the Brazilian government, pushed by popular protest movements, has pursued agrarian land reform to address landholding inequalities. The 2nd National Plan for Agrarian Reform reoriented this reform toward a conservative approach, in which land did not change ownership. Instead, the government founded rural settlements—settlement projects (PAs for the Portuguese abbreviation) and Sustainable Development Projects (PDSs)—where smallholders only had the right to use but not to own land.

Evidence from the São Paulo PDS in Mato Grosso and the Tuerê PA in Pará demonstrates the challenges to environmental and social sustainability of community livelihoods due to incomplete interventions and a lack of follow-through in supportive policies. In both settlements, technical support from NGOs to settler cattle ranchers promotes alternative livelihood activities, income diversification, and increased productivity. When Mato Grosso's São Paulo PDS was first established, before settlers received this support, there was a rapid period of deforestation as riparian forests were harvested to build houses, and pasture expanded from 12 to 45 percent of the settlement area. Since 2014, technical training in agroforestry and a solidarity finance program,^m both led by the NGO Instituto Ouro Verde, have supported a transition to diversified income streams from silvopastoral fruit and dairy production. Average incomes have doubled compared to 2013 and are now almost twice the Brazilian minimum wage, while no additional forest areas have been cleared since the start of the program.

Similarly, in the Tuerê PA in Pará, a program by the NGO Solidaridad has, for five years, targeted 225 of the 3,000 families in the settlement. The farmers have received support in adopting best practices and introducing agroforestry to their cocoa production systems, resulting in an average productivity increase of 37 percent. In addition, the conversion of degraded pasture to cocoa agroforestry has sequestered an average of 12.1 tons of carbon dioxide per hectare per year. Meanwhile, Solidaridad has helped farmers build a direct market connection to international cocoa buyers while building a brand identity around high-quality and award-winning chocolate. Incomes have increased for the families involved. The program has utilized its budget to scale up its effort to roughly seven percent of families in the settlement. However, the vast scale of territories in the Brazilian Amazon compared to funding limitations makes scaling beyond this level challenging.

Both programs' successes thus far are tenuous because the productivity interventions are not fully complemented by other supportive interventions and policies. In São Paulo PDS, farmers do not have a long-term plan to move their fruit and dairy to markets; currently, they rely on the NGO and a borrowed truck to move their goods 30 to 50 kilometers over rough roads. In Tuerê, local banks' de facto credit policies create perverse incentives to expand cattle ranching rather than adopt sustainable practices. While, in theory, the banks can provide credit for alternative economic activities not included in zoning plans, they perceive these as riskier; and for credit lines intended specifically to fund sustainable practices, the banks require the same guarantees of small farmers as they do of large operations. Families in both settlements face increasing pressure and harassment to rent or sell their allotments to miners, loggers, or other cattle ranchers moving into the region. Without a reliable source of income from diversified activities, many families are considering abandoning their lands and moving to the city, putting the success that these programs have achieved at risk.

m According to the Brazilian Ministry of Economy, solidarity finance is supported based on community development banks, solidarity funds, and solidary credit cooperatives. Community banks are solidarity-based financial services of an associative nature, aimed at generating employment and income in local economies. They are characterized as an informal credit organization. They are usually created by NGOs, municipal governments, social movements, and producer associations.

BOX 6. Examples of interventions that support smallholder productivity

In the Indonesian smallholder palm oil sector, extension services at the district level are generally underfunded and unable to provide trainings to smallholders.^{158–160} For example, in Rokan Hulu, a district with more than 25 percent of its area cultivated with smallholder oil palm, extension workers do not train smallholders and there are no programs that would target information dissemination and transfer to independent smallholders.¹⁵⁸

A survey of cocoa smallholders in Ghana (Western North and Central regions), commissioned by the NYDF Progress Assessment, found that attendance in trainings for better practices organized by the government increased productivity by 16.1 percent compared to farmers that did not receive support. In Côte d'Ivoire, a similar survey found that trainings organized by the government, civil society, and companies led to an increase in income of 33.3 percent.¹⁵⁶

In 2017, only 20 percent of farmers received technical assistance in the Brazilian Amazon region. The government has implemented several incentive programs targeted at smallholder and improved practices, in particular the rural credit program (PRONAF and its ECO subprograms), however, their effectiveness has been limited. One of the major limitations of this program is that access to finance is conditional on the preparation of a technical proposal as well as compliance with environmental regulations. This is difficult and costly for many smallholders, and requires capacity building, which is lacking.¹⁵²

Many governments are also struggling to address security of tenure and land rights for farmers, forest users, and small-scale miners. Rights are often contested among powerful and less-powerful actors.

Land rights recognition has been demonstrated to be effective in many countries, and under certain conditions, at reducing deforestation while supporting livelihoods. In Benin, recognition of customary land rights led to an overall reduction in forest loss by enabling investments in agricultural productivity and community forest management.¹⁶¹ A survey of palm oil smallholders in Sumatra, Indonesia found that having land title was positively associated with decreased deforestation.¹⁶² The formalization of ASM, through securing mineral tenure rights alongside effective enforcement, has reduced forest loss and other environmental impacts from these activities.^{52,163}

Tenure insecurity is widespread across forest countries. A 2020 review of 42 countries, comprising half of the world's land, found that at least 46 percent of community lands were not legally recognized by national governments.¹¹⁰ While aggregate data on progress in recognizing IPLC lands as well as land rights of small-scale farmers is lacking, it is clear that interventions to address insecure rights face various challenges. In Latin America, for example, the governments of Argentina, Colombia, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Peru have all adopted legal regimes that recognize the rights of IPLCs to their lands but many communities have yet to receive their titles.¹⁶⁴

Land rights formalization can have unintended effects when not paired effectively with other PRIME interventions. In Ghana, for example, a study found that, unless other factors like access to finance, agricultural inputs, and targeted extension services are present, tenure security will not reduce deforestation.¹⁶⁵ Similarly, a study of farmers in Brazil suggests that, unless other forest protection measures such as strong enforcement are in place, tenure security through land titles alone will not reduce deforestation.¹⁶⁶ In Ghana, decentralization of responsibility for ASM regulation was paired with incomplete designation of relevant powers, leaving local governments unable to effectively manage the sector.¹⁶⁷ In the Madre de Dios region of Peru, a shift in government policy from promoting to containing ASM¹⁶⁸ was not accompanied by sufficient supports to the most vulnerable miners, while medium-scale miners adopted technologies that allowed them to evade detection.¹⁶⁹

While programs have been implemented at large scale only in a few countries, well-designed community forest management and payment for environmental services schemes have shown positive impacts on forests and livelihoods.

Community forest management (CFM) and payments for environmental services (PES) **(Box 7)** have emerged as popular strategies for sustainable forest use, with many countries developing and implementing policies and trial projects. CFM schemes **(Box 8)** have yielded results in both poverty alleviation and forest conservation where governments in collaboration with civil society were able to carefully assess community needs and capacities and had a clear understanding of the economic potential of different options for forest and land use. Furthermore, institutional structures that assure secure tenure and rights are also important in these areas where, generally, access to forests is open and government administration is weak.

In addition to building the necessary institutions, successful interventions by governments and civil society also invested in other PRIME dimensions, such as productivity (e.g. supporting forestry enterprises), institutions (e.g. forestry planning), and market access (e.g. certification), supported through consistent funding and support by civil society. Thus, they indicate the need for multifaceted approaches.

Payments for ecosystem services have also gained traction, with an estimated 550 programs worldwide paying USD 36 billion altogether.¹⁷⁷ In many cases, these programs' effectiveness and their impacts on forests and other ecosystems are unknown.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ However, several cases in Brazil, Cost Rica, Mexico, and Vietnam point to positive to mixed outcomes.¹⁸¹ PES programs in Brazil, for example, have shown some limited success in reducing deforestation in the Amazon, although the factors underlying these achievements are not clear.

BOX 7. Examples of Payments for Environmental Services schemes

The Program to Support Environmental Conservation or the Green Grants (Bolsa Verde) in Brazil, initiated to reduce poverty and protect forests, has resulted in reduced deforestation among smallholder farmers in the Amazon. The 48,000 beneficiaries of Bolsa Verde at the end of 2017 were residents of Extractive Reserves, riverside dwellers, and settlement projects settlers.¹⁸² Deforestation among beneficiaries declined up to five percent by enforcing peer monitoring.¹⁸³ The Program, which ended in 2018, made a direct payment of BRL 300 every three months to the participant families on the condition that they complied with environmental laws.¹⁸²

The Bolsa Foresta, a similar program initiated in the Amazon in 2008, covers 9,600 households and more than 10 million hectares of forest.¹⁸⁴ It pays families, including smallholder farmers, to meet several conditions, such as a zero-deforestation commitment and children's enrollment in school. The program seems to have had a significant impact, reducing the deforestation rate by more than five percent in areas with medium deforestation risks. However, it did not have a significant impact in all areas covered by the program, suggesting that effectiveness could be increased by extending it to high deforestation risk areas.¹⁸⁴

BOX 8. Examples of community forest management schemes

In 2014, the Indonesian government adopted an ambitious target under the Social Forestry Initiative to allocate some 12.7 million hectares of forest land to marginalized communities. Of this area 2.3 million hectares have been assigned, and community forest management has helped to protect forests.¹⁷⁰ The program aims to halt deforestation and resolve land tenure conflicts by putting forest management back in the hands of local communities. In some regions, the program has been associated with reduced deforestation, but this varies. The program's success stemmed largely from complementary interventions. Another Indonesian program called Village Forest has successfully avoided deforestation overall between 2012 and 2016.¹⁷¹ The scheme, established in Sumatra in 2009 and in Kalimantan in 2011, aims to improve marginalized communities' social welfare and forest use rights by allowing forest to be managed communally through the authority of a village head.¹⁷¹

The Maya Biosphere Reserve in Guatemala provides one of the most successful examples of community forest management. The program managed to reverse the land's historical status as an agricultural frontier to an area governed by the principles of biodiversity conservation paired with sustainable development. Forest-dependent communities in the northern Petén region successfully lobbied the Guatemalan government to pioneer a new model for community-based concession. The resulting community-based business and protection models have resulted in lower rates of deforestation than adjacent protected areas.¹⁷ However, the communities face an uncertain future due to the limited terms of the concessions and competing visions for the area, emphasizing tourism as a development alternative.¹⁷² (see also Box 14).

In the Congo Basin, while community forest management has shown the potential to increase forest stock, improve rural livelihoods, reduce poverty, strengthen civil society organizations, and contribute to decentralized governance,¹⁷³ the model has continuously encountered difficulties.¹⁷⁴ Governmental implementation of these programs is often inconsistent, and community management, which is often driven by external finance, is costly to sustain and can have trouble competing with local alternatives. In Cameroon, for example, effective community management faces a number of challenges: a 5,000-hectare size limit generally does not correspond to the size of forest land that these communities traditionally occupy and exploit, and the limited 25-year duration of the community forest status does not promote long-term investment for these communities into their forests. Moreover, despite stated efforts to streamline the process, obtaining the status of community forest in Cameroon remains highly complex for the local communities, namely due to the literacy rates and capacities of the communities, which the government continuously fails to address by allocating limited resources to capacity-building and technical support to these communities.¹⁷⁵

Nepal has a longstanding community forest management program, established in the 1970s. By 2009, a quarter of the country's forests were managed directly by one third of the population. A study has found that placing forests under community control has led to reduced deforestation and poverty in Nepal and increases the likelihood of both positive environmental and socio-economic outcomes.¹⁷⁶ However, impacts on forests are poorer in areas where poverty rates are higher, suggesting poorer areas may require additional support to minimize trade-offs between socioeconomic and environmental outcomes. Large community forests that have been established for longer are also associated with positive socioeconomic and environmental outcomes. These results indicate that greater benefits may result from longer-term investments and larger areas committed to community management.

CHAPTER 5. Progress by companies

The launch of the NYDF in 2014 represented a major step forward in the recognition that companies have an essential role to play in reducing deforestation and ending natural forest loss. Company decisions can lead directly to forest clearance, while investments can also fundamentally alter local economies. The longer-term effects of investment decisions reverberate through forest regions as projects and roads stimulate migration and a change in livelihoods.

Companies within the extractive sector are increasingly recognizing their forest impacts, and corresponding responsibilities, although mostly in the context of biodiversity protection. However, corporate disclosures related to forests remain very limited across the sector. To address this gap, CDP Forests, commissioned by the NYDF Progress Assessment, expanded the scope of its forest disclosure framework in 2019 to include new sector-specific questions for metals and mining and coal companies, sectors previously only targeted by CDP's climate change and water security disclosures. The resulting dataset and accompanying analysis of corporate sustainability reports (Box 9) provides a comprehensive assessment of current corporate action in the sector related to forests and biodiversity. Along with presenting this disclosure data, we also examine sector standards to promote responsible mining practices and sustainable infrastructure development, noting how they address forests and the scale of their adoption.

Where companies in the agriculture and large-scale mining sectors rely heavily on small-scale producers—such as cocoa, palm oil, and beef supply chains, and some metals and minerals—they may also bear responsibility, to a greater or lesser extent, for the environmental and social risks posed by producing those commodities. We report here on efforts by companies in mineral and agricultural supply chains to engage these small-scale actors, based on disclosures and review of sustainability reports, as well as through the use of ASM certifications.

This chapter describes measures that companies are taking to mitigate forest loss from mining and extractive projects, associated infrastructure development, and small-scale commodity production within their supply chains, and where possible, the extent to which these measures have been effective.

5.1 Have companies in the mining sector aligned their planning and commitments with forest goals?

Most assessed companies in the mining sector have made commitments to stop biodiversity loss. However, it is difficult to gauge ambition and progress, or even understand what companies are planning.

A large share (78 percent) of companies assessed by CDP have made a biodiversity-related commitment. This is a sign of progress, especially considering that about half of this sample represents companies with the largest share of mining operations in forests, and about 22 percent of assessed companies are among the 25 key mining companies globally. Most companies have also indicated that biodiversity or the environment are considered at board and/or senior management level. This is important as corporate boards and senior management need to understand how these issues affect business strategy and performance.

BOX 9. CDP Forests' disclosure request and complementary analysis of efforts by mining companies

For this report, CDP analyzed data from 45 mining companies. This includes 23 companies that self-reported and disclosed data through CDP in 2019 and/or 2020 out of 225 companies invited, and 22 companies assessed based on data from corporate sustainability reports.

The list of companies assessed includes 10 of the largest 25 mining companies, based on their market capitalization¹⁸⁵ and 27 companies with the highest number of mining operations in forests.³⁹ Assessed companies include: Vale S.A., the world's largest producer of iron and nickel; Carajás, located within the Carajás National Forest in the Amazonian state of Pará, Brazil, the operator of the world's largest iron mine; Lynas Corporation Ltd., the world's second largest producer of Rare Earths; Newmont Corporation and Barrick Gold Corporation the world's largest gold mining companies; Polyus PJSC, Russia's largest gold mining company; Banpu Public Co Ltd. the world's third-largest gold company by reserves base; Petra Diamonds Pty Ltd., one of the largest coal miners in Southeast Asia; Freeport-McMoRan Inc., manager of one of the world's largest and gold deposits in the Grasberg minerals district in Papua, Indonesia who, together with Barrick Gold Corporation, own Kibali, one of the largest gold mines in Africa, situated in forested northeastern DRC.

Yet, commitments reported to or identified by CDP vary widely from one company to another and are generally not framed and implemented through a robust science-based approach.¹⁸⁶ Types of commitments range from broad goals (e.g. No Net Loss) to very specific avoidance strategies (e.g. not to explore or develop mines in World Heritage sites) (Figure 6). Most of them lack clear definitions, targets, or implementation procedures, which impairs any assessment of the quality of company actions or of the progress companies made in addressing biodiversity and forest impacts. It is, for example, unclear if commitments extend to indirect and cumulative impacts.

These findings align with the findings of the Responsible Mining Foundation in its Responsible Mining Index (RMI) Report 2020. Of 38 companies assessed, over half had made some commitments to respect World Heritage sites or other protected areas, but less than a third had assigned specific internal responsibility or channeled resources to implement these commitments.¹⁸⁷

Only 11 percent and 20 percent of CDP-assessed companies made ambitious 'No Net Loss' or 'Net Positive Impact' commitments, respectively. If developed appropriately, these concepts have the potential to change corporate practice, contribute to progress towards national and international biodiversity targets, and support positive results

for biodiversity.¹⁸⁶ Only four out of the 45 companies assessed adopted the Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Time-bound (SMART)ⁿ target addressed at biodiversity impacts.

It remains difficult to determine whether the measures taken by mining companies are sufficient to address their impacts. Companies that do report are often performing poorly in their disclosure to CDP and against GRI's reporting standards.

Out of 225 total companies invited to report on their efforts in 2019 and 2020, only 23 responded to CDP's disclosure request.^o Companies have been slow to disclose information on their efforts and impact on forests or sustainability concerns. CDP's new questionnaire for metals and mining, and coal companies focuses on forests and biodiversity, asking companies to disclose their direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts, while the Global Reporting Initiative 2016 Standard on biodiversity also requires companies to present information on both significant direct and indirect impacts (**Box 10**).

Of the companies assessed by CDP, most cover some biodiversity aspects in their public sustainability reports but, in general, do not report on their dependency on biodiversity and ecosystem services. Companies are also not disclosing information on their priority sites for biodiversity conservation. While more than 56 percent of the companies assessed reported operations in or close to protected areas, only 38 percent provide comprehensive information related to protected areas or internationally recognized areas of high conservation value. Identifying sites of conservation importance and clearly disclosing detailed information on such aspects, including ecosystem-specific information, could help companies focus their biodiversity action plans and any biodiversity-related business interventions, and showcase actions taken to their stakeholder.

This lack of transparency implies both a lack of ambition and a lack progress to address biodiversity goals (including forest goals). Thus far, company-level pledges have not been effectively translated into the project level, where the bulk of an operation's environmental impacts needs to be considered.¹⁸⁸ Since most companies do not disclose information on addressing biodiversity (and forest) goals in their policies and planning, it is likely that they do not have significant progress to report. Confirming this assumption, a World Bank analysis of 29 mine sites found no indication that ambitious commitments lead to better practices and reduced forest impact. On the contrary, several of the strong commitments assessed by the study were paired with poor practices on the ground.³⁹

n This framework is recommended by the Subsidiary Body for Scientific, Technical, and Technological Advice of the Convention on Biological Diversity as presented in CBD (2010) and is defined as specific (*target element sets out clear and well-defined objectives*), measurable (*quantitative indicators available*), ambitious (*target goes beyond business as usual and aims sufficiently high to achieve the overall objective of halting biodiversity loss*), realistic (*can practically be achieved within time and given resources*), and time bound.

o Disclosures included in analysis were as of September 4, 2020. Companies had until September 30 to disclose for the 2020 cycle.



Figure 6. Number of companies that made commitments related to biodiversity

Note: A total of 45 mining companies were assessed; 23 companies self-reported and disclosed data through CDP in 2019 and/or 2020, while 22 companies were assessed based on data from corporate sustainability reports.

Source: CDP analysis of self-reported and disclosed mining company data in 2019 and 2020 as well as corporate sustainability reports published mostly from 2017–2019 (one report from 2013)

5.2 Are companies managing forest impacts from mining or infrastructure following the mitigation hierarchy?

While many companies in the mining sector have a policy covering biodiversity or general environmental aspects, we lack insight into the specific processes and practices used for their implementation.

The majority of companies (78 percent) assessed by CDP have a documented, accessible biodiversity-related policy to manage impacts from their operations (**Figure 7**). While some policies just reiterate commitments to good practices and broad goals (e.g. transparency), others provide more detail to their high-level goals, defining milestones, specific targets, or international standards. Most policies do not refer explicitly to company targets, commitments, or implementation mechanisms or procedures. Similarly, a 2020 report found that very few mining companies provided evidence of implementing biodiversity management procedures across their operations.¹⁹⁷ This lack of information makes it difficult to determine how and whether companies are making progress.

Thirty-eight percent of companies assessed by CDP disclosed biodiversity offsetting projects. However, detailed information on the exact objectives/goals of the offsets is scarce. While some projects mention targeting the conservation of priority species, only four projects from the sustainability reports are specifically aimed at conserving forest ecosystems. The insufficiency in the information disclosed by companies makes it difficult to measure progress towards offsetting targets.



Figure 7. Number of companies referring to specific types of biodiversity policies

Note: A total of 45 mining companies were assessed; 23 companies self-reported and disclosed data through CDP in 2019 and/or 2020, while 22 companies were assessed based on data from corporate sustainability reports.

Source: CDP analysis of self-reported and disclosed mining company data in 2019 and 2020 as well as corporate sustainability reports published mostly from 2017–2019 (one report from 2013)

In practice, progress in aligning operations with the mitigation hierarchy and addressing direct as well as indirect impacts has been very limited.

Through an analysis of 29 case study sites of large-scale mining in forests, a recent World Bank report³⁹ could not find an example of a single operation that comprehensively addressed and mitigated forest risks of mining. There are, however, good practice examples of *specific steps* of the mitigation hierarchy across mining sites, where companies attempt to target their direct impacts. For instance, the report found that exemplary operations carried out appropriate ESIAs and timely stakeholder consultations, allowing for plans to be responsive to findings. Similarly, many mine site operators work to minimize their impacts, such as through reducing the impact on nearby vegetation. In contrast, good practice examples addressing indirect impacts are rare. Although indirect impacts can be much more extensive, available evidence on company efforts in the mining and forestry sectors indicates that most are focused exclusively on direct impacts of their actions.

Many different voluntary sustainability initiatives have emerged to guide the extractives industry in efforts to address biodiversity concerns. Nearly all of the companies assessed by CDP refer to international standards and widely recognized biodiversity-related initiatives for their policies.

Nearly all (95 percent) of the companies assessed by CDP indicated participation in or supporting industry-led and/or standards-setting initiatives and organizations promoting sustainability in the mining sector. The most popular initiatives are <u>The International</u> <u>Council on Mining and Metals</u> (ICMM) and <u>Towards Sustainable Mining</u> (TSM), which were taken up by 16 percent and 15 percent of the companies respectively; and the Responsible

Jewellery Council (seven percent) and Aluminium Stewardship Initiative (four percent). Just under a third of companies (29 percent) are also participating in the <u>United Nations</u> <u>Clobal Compact</u>. We were, however, unable to find information on the larger market uptake of these standards.

The number of voluntary sustainability initiatives has increased rapidly in recent years, amounting to 124 different initiatives in 2017.¹⁸⁹ This is a concern for different stakeholders, given the difficulty and cost of keeping track.

Our review of mining certification standards shows that in terms of the guidelines, tools and definitions, the sector made some progress in addressing biodiversity impacts. Uptake has, compared to broader sustainability initiatives, been slow. The lack of common definitions makes it difficult to assess the quality of these standards; for example, in covering indirect impacts.

Accounting for the level of the standard's content and the level of obligation in its application generally, an IISD analysis clearly highlighted the Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA) Standard for Responsible Mining as a top performer; other well-performing large-scale mining standards are those created by the Aluminium Stewardship Initiative, the Responsible Jewelry Council (RJC), and the International Finance Corporation (IFC) **(see Box 10)**.¹⁸⁹

Only the IRMA's Standard for Responsible Mining provides detailed guidance and certification for mining operations and explicitly calls for the identification of direct, indirect, and cumulative effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services. The adoption of IRMA's standard has, however, been slow and likely requires additional pressure from investors or consumer companies. As of October 2020, only five mines are registered on the Responsible Mining Map, which means that they have initiated the process. Similarly, two other standards of practice from the IFC and RJC mention indirect impacts resulting from mining activities.

Although standards often refer to "indirect impacts", the term itself is generally not clearly defined, and hence can reflect different meanings. In this report, indirect effects of infrastructure, mining, and energy projects on forests are understood in the context of a "pull effect": the establishment of these industries in remote and previously undisturbed areas attracts populations and new settlements, which then use forest resources for subsistence or other economic activities. These impacts far outweigh the direct impacts. In contrast, mining standards may use the term differently; for instance, to present impacts occurring in a different location (e.g. a mining operation may exert an "indirect" impact on a local community situated downriver from the operation).

BOX 10. Example mining sector standards and their forest relevance

Standards of practice

In May 2020, IRMA released its list of "Critical Requirements" that mining sites must meet to achieve so-called "IRMA 50" and "IRMA 75" certified levels,¹⁹⁰ providing a stepwise onboarding process for companies. Under the critical requirements, companies need to conduct social and environmental impact assessments that cover biodiversity, ecosystem services, and protected areas, accompanied by a mitigation and minimization plan, and ensure FPIC of Indigenous peoples and/or evidence of positive relationships with IPLCs and remedies for past impacts.¹⁹¹ In addition to IRMA's standards, material-specific standards and certifications target downstream companies to promote good mining practice, e.g. the <u>Responsible Steel</u> <u>Standard</u> targets the steel industry while being aligned with IRMA.

IFC's Sustainability Framework presents eight different Performance Standards—covering social, environmental, health, and other aspects—that the user has to meet throughout the life cycle of the investment. Although they allow for some flexibility in the application of some of its requirements, overall, certificate holders are expected to meet all the specified requirements in order to participate in the initiative.¹⁹² Its Performance Standard 6 states that the project's impacts should consider direct and *indirect* project-related impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services. In the context of biodiversity threats and impacts to ecosystem services, the process stresses that special focus should rest on habitat loss; degradation and fragmentation; invasive alien species; overexploitation; hydrological changes; nutrient loading; and pollution. This is an example of where the indirect impact definition likely deviates from the important concept highlighted in this report **(Chapter 2)**.

The <u>Responsible Jewelry Council's code of practices</u> provides a standard for responsible business practices along the whole supply chain, from mine to retail, building on/using international standards (e.g. IFC's performance standards), which include the mitigation hierarchy. The code applies to gold, silver, PGM, diamond, and colored gemstones, and requires mandatory third-party auditing. Regarding its impact assessments, the standard states that it shall collectively assess "environmental, social and human rights impacts, including but not limited to impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services, labor, and employment, gender, health and conflict. This includes cumulative and indirect impacts." Similar to the IFC standard, indirect impacts are not defined, yet are unlikely to consider the settlement of populations and their use of forest resources.

Standards for reporting and disclosure

<u>CDP Forests</u> expanded its scope in 2019 to include new sector-specific questions for <u>metals</u> and mining, and <u>coal</u> companies, sectors previously only targeted by CDP's climate change and water security disclosures. The objective of this expansion is to address the current lack of comprehensive, structured, and comparable data to measure the impacts of the metals and mining, and coal sectors by defining clear criteria and indicators specifically intended to measure relevant impacts and progress for the NYDF Progress Assessment. These questions are intended to provide a comprehensive framework to capture information on how companies in these sectors are managing their impacts and risks, as well as realizing opportunities related to forests and biodiversity. Companies are requested to disclose direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of their operations on biodiversity. The second disclosure cycle for the CDP Forests' metals and mining, and coal questionnaire ended in August 2020.

The <u>Global Reporting Initiative's (GRI)</u> guidelines have served as a starting point for numerous companies' corporate social responsibility, and environmental, social, and governance reporting. GRI guidelines present a disclosure-specific document for mining and metals.¹⁹³ A new draft of GRI's Sector Standard on oil, gas, and coal acknowledges that "increased human settlement around operational sites can have indirect impacts, such as stress on ecologically sensitive areas and newly opened routes to previously inaccessible areas." It also refers to the importance of the mitigation hierarchy.¹⁹⁴

Sustainability standards for the infrastructure sector have raised awareness of environmental and social pitfalls of poorly designed projects. However, uptake of these standards is minimal compared to the global scale of infrastructure development.

While sustainability ratings are relatively well-known and widely applied in building design and construction, the infrastructure sector has been a relative laggard.^{195,196} One barrier to widescale adoption has been the fragmented proliferation of standards: well over 30 sustainability rating labels have been developed, many of them only applied to one country or region.¹⁹⁷ Some widely recognized initiatives cluster in North America and Australia, including Greenroads, Envision, and Infrastructure Sustainability. Comparability across these standards is limited, and few existing tools are designed to be applied in a project's planning phase, as opposed to its construction or operational phases.¹⁹⁸ Project assessment methods used in the infrastructure sector—ranging from sustainability standards to more standard tools like ESIAs, life cycle assessments, and cost-benefit analyses—vary widely in their scope and if they account for indirect or cumulative impacts.¹⁹⁹

Examples of infrastructure sustainability standards that have gained traction include SuRE[®] (Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure), which shows strong alignment with international frameworks and other relevant principles such as the Equator Principles; and CEEQUAL (Civil Engineering Environmental Quality Assessment and Awards Scheme), a leading sustainability assessment since 2003 **(Box 11)**. While the emergence of these standards and guiding principles is encouraging and signals a shift towards sustainability in the infrastructure development sector, their uptake has been limited compared to the total scale of infrastructure investment.^{200,201} Conversely, the IFC's Sustainability Framework integration in the Equator Principles, at least in countries who are not members of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), may have been key to rendering such standards more relevant, motivating further adoption.

BOX 11. Examples of standards for the infrastructure sector

CEEQUAL (Civil Engineering Environmental Quality Assessment and Awards Scheme) is a sustainability assessment launched in 2003 by the Institution of Civil Engineers and acquired by the Building Research Establishment in 2015. CEEQUAL provides assessment for all types of civil engineering, infrastructure, landscaping, and public realm projects and contracts. CEEQUAL aims to create an industry environment of sustainability awareness in decision-making, project-planning, and implementation.²⁰² By the end of 2016, CEEQUAL had been used to certify more than 360 projects with a further 250 registered for certification.¹⁹⁵

SuRE® (Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure), a standard launched by the Global Infrastructure Basel Foundation, encourages best practices aligned with relevant international frameworks, such as the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change and the Convention on Biodiversity, and aims to mainstream SDGs in infrastructure. All projects under SuRE® should minimize negative environmental direct and indirect impacts through construction and operation phases; other requirements are staged according to increasingly stringent performance levels. At Performance Level 1, projects comply with other standards such as the IFC, while no more than 25 percent of the project site is newly cleared land, while Performance Level 2 indicates 'No Net Loss' through minimizing and offsetting impacts. Projects at Performance Level 3 avoid negative impacts overall. So far, uptake of SuRE® standards have been limited: it is currently running its initial implementation phase with projects in China, India, and Indonesia, and Malaysia is undergoing certification assessment.²⁰³

5.3 Are companies in the agriculture and mining sectors promoting sustainable alternatives to basic needs deforestation linked to their impacts by applying the PRIME framework?

Supply-chain companies in the cocoa and palm oil sectors have initiated a broad range of initiatives to address the sustainability issues of smallholders in their supply chains. However, efforts remain limited in scope, and engagement programs still fail to reach smallholders at scale.

In the cocoa sector, companies focus support mostly on their supplying farmers and specific priority regions while many smallholders still remain unsupported. In the past two years, the 35 companies that form the Cocoa and Forest Initiative (CFI) reported technical training to approximately 943,000 cocoa farmers in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana. Since farmers are likely to receive support from multiple companies, this figure likely overestimates the share of the region's roughly two million farmers who have received support.^{204,205}

In the palm oil sector, about 19 percent of smallholders in the major producer countries of Indonesia and Malaysia receive support from companies.²⁰⁶ This support is, however, limited to smallholders who are contracted within company schemes and in whom companies invest to ensure the security and quality of their supply. Independent smallholders in Indonesia, who cultivate more than 2.5 million hectares of palm oil plantations, are largely outside of company support programs. Most of these smallholders have little knowledge of good practices and have lower yields compared to scheme smallholders and large plantations, and tend to expand their plantations through conversion of peatland and forests.^{58,207}

The majority of smallholder support programs seek to increase farmers' productivity but cannot address underlying structural vulnerabilities and system of incentives that make farmers more likely to engage in forest clearing.

Without collaboration from governments and civil society, companies cannot, and should not be expected to, provide support and enabling conditions that address all PRIME dimensions. In West Africa, for example, even for those cocoa farmers that were reached by support programs, impacts on forests remains unclear. The full suite of conditions to ensure sustainable forest use were not in place.¹⁵⁶

With support focused on productivity, there are risks of a rebound effect for deforestation as profitability increases. Although not representative of all farmers in the respective countries, a recent survey commissioned for the NYDF Assessment showed that 80.2 and 69.8 percent of farmers in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire, respectively, disclose farm expansion as their top investment priority—despite a large share of them already benefiting from different types of support.¹⁵⁶ This finding points to the need for additional incentives to adopt sustainable practices while disincentivizing forest expansion as a strategy to increase incomes.

Collective efforts that engage companies and governments in mutually beneficial collaboration offer a promising way forward aligned with several PRIME dimensions.

As part of the CFI, 35 companies who together account for 85 percent of the world's cocoa trade have begun to coordinate with the governments of Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire to align and scale the impact of their interventions to improve smallholder productivity at the landscape scale. Civil society groups are working to support this public-private collaboration to develop landscape level planning and governance arrangements.²⁰⁸

The main advancement of the CFI is that companies work collaboratively with governments to reform governance structures and build institutions that enable farmers to adopt sustainable land use practices, including tenure reform and building local capacity for technical assistance.^{204,206} Although the CFI can potentially play an important role in

harmonizing programs to ensure full sourcing areas are covered by effective programs, so far, progress is limited. Currently, programs are still largely implemented in a patchwork of trainings, support packages, and limited credit that fail to cover smallholders across the entire sector. In addition, unless profound issues are addressed, such as poverty and the unequitable distribution of value in the supply chain, effectiveness of such engagements may be short-lived.

On a smaller scale, individual companies seeking to take responsibility for the wellbeing of communities impacted by their operations have also taken steps to support interventions, often in collaboration with governments and civil society. In the mining sector, these initiatives typically revolve around improving transparency and participation in decision-making regarding how benefits for local communities are shared. A case study **(Box 12)** in Brazil demonstrates how a government policy that favors the strategic use of company resources to implement sustainable development initiatives in local communities near mine sites has resulted in improved community empowerment and welfare while contributing to biodiversity conservation.

BOX 12. Case study: Multi-stakeholder partnerships for sustainable territorial management

The Amazon rainforest hosts about a quarter of Brazil's mining activities, a sector that contributes about seven percent of the country's GDP.^{209,210} To help compensate for the social, economic, and environmental impacts of mineral resource extraction, Brazilian law requires that royalties and taxes be paid to the Federal District, state, and municipality where mining takes place.²¹¹ Municipalities receive 65 percent of these payments under the Financial Compensation for the Exploration of Mineral Resources, with the intention that they will reinvest these resources to benefit local communities. Compensation funds may be used to implement infrastructure projects that support local economies, to support environmental conservation activities, and to increase access to health and education. Some mining companies are taking action to support local communities in taking ownership of how these royalties should be spent, via transparent, efficient, and democratic processes. One such company, *Mineração Rio do Norte*, has been supporting the development of a participatory and transparent financial mechanism through the Sustainable Territorial Program (Programa Territorios Sustentaveis) since 2015—one which aims to contribute to community wellbeing through community empowerment and the adoption of sustainable land use activities.²¹²

The Sustainable Territorial Program an innovative fifteen-year public-private regional program implemented by the U.S. Agency for International Development, the Bioversity-CIAT Alliance, and the Avina Foundation. Among the various development pathways being implemented, the program features the creation of a community-led fund (so-called Quilombola Fund). Currently in its pilot phase, the participatory territorial management model redirects a portion of compensation payments to initiatives decided upon autonomously by the communities themselves. The program's long-term vision is to provide a foundation for the communities to become self-sufficient and to continue thriving after the mining exploration ends. For this purpose, the program and community fund are planning and implementing activities that will strengthen livelihoods and value chains, land tenure and local governance structures, infrastructure and social services, as well as territorial and natural resource management, among others, thus providing a comprehensive intervention that incorporates all PRIME dimensions.

In the mining sector, the majority of companies assessed by CDP whose mine sites overlap with ASM operations engage with small-scale miners. Rather than by forest goals, collaboration is motivated either by managing operational risk or by conducting due diligence to source from ASM suppliers.

Since ASM operations within or close to large-scale mine sites present operational and reputational risks, mining companies have long sought to minimize conflict with small-scale miners.^{213,214} Increasingly, sector best practice standards are calling for mining companies to engage with small-scale miners and support the improvement and professionalization of the ASM sector, including the adoption of best environmental practices.²¹⁵ However, most corporate ASM engagement does not explicitly link to forests.

In their assessment, CDP found that 60 percent of mining companies who reported on ASM activities near their operations also reported engagement with these groups or communities, but with no explicit links to forest concerns. One company in Peru, for example, engages in a partnership with the government and host communities that enables artisanal mining to take place legitimately. Through a government-approved artisanal mining formalization process, the mine helps the ASM community access credit and markets as well as provide safer working conditions. The rest of companies near ASM activities, however, indicated that they do not engage with ASM groups or communities due to the illegality of their activities.

Numerous standard-specific examples exist that provide companies with the necessary guidance to successfully engage with ASM and local communities, while also addressing environmental risks (Box 13). Most companies lack insight in the extent to which biodiversity or forest risks even play a role. Only one company included a statement on ASM engagement in their biodiversity-related policy.

BOX 13. Important mining sector standards and their relevance for ASM engagement

Numerous initiatives aim to address how artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) actors are engaged by large-scale mining and downstream supply chain companies, including the GRI, the Responsible Mining Index, International Council on Mining and Metals, the Responsible Minerals Initiative, the Responsible Steel Standard, Copper Mark, the World Gold Council, De Beers, or the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.²¹⁵ Below, the ASM approaches of top three standards for overall performance, as identified in Section 5.2, are described.

The Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA) principles for social responsibility state that "operating companies [should] ... where possible within the scope of national law, foster positive relationships between large-scale mines and ASM entities, and support the development of ASM that provides positive livelihood opportunities and is protective of human rights, health, safety, and the environment." The guidelines recommend steps for companies to reach these outcomes, including due diligence in assessing environmental and social risks when establishing commercial relationships. Other requirements include involving small-scale miners in community benefit and mine closure planning.

The Responsible Jewellery Council's Code of Practices requires mining companies to engage directly and maintain a continuous dialogue with the ASM community as part of stakeholder engagement, environmental and social impact assessments, and risk management. Moreover, companies are directed to participate in initiatives that enable the professionalization, formalization, and certification of ASM, as appropriate. Finally, specific requirements for sourcing from ASM are outlined.

In contrast to the two previous standards, <u>the International Finance Corporation's Performance</u> <u>Standards</u> do not provide specific requirements for ASM. Instead, the standards refer more generally to engagement with local affected communities. For example, Performance Standard I directs companies to "ensure that grievances from Affected Communities and external communications from other stakeholders are responded to and managed appropriately," including through application of the mitigation hierarchy; and to "promote and provide means for the adequate engagement with Affected Communities throughout the project cycle ... and to ensure that relevant environmental and social information is disclosed and disseminated."¹⁹²

Certification for ASM producers is extremely limited and does not reach the most vulnerable actors. Existing certification schemes do not require deforestation-free production.

As in the agriculture sector, downstream and consumer-facing companies who source metals and minerals may rely on certification of ASM producers to ensure their supply was mined according to certain environmental and social standards. The most widely adopted third-party verified ASM certification schemes are Fairtrade International's Fairtrade Standard and the Alliance for Responsible Mining's Fairmined Standard.²¹⁶ Both standards require ASM operators to ecologically restore mined areas, and to reduce or eliminate the use of mercury, while Fairtrade additionally requires operators to conduct third party-approved environmental impact assessments.²¹⁶

On both the demand and producer sides, the reach of both programs remains quite limited. Uptake of the Fairmined Gold certification has grown steadily, if slowly, from 136 jewelry wholesalers and retailers participating in 2017 to 196 in spring 2019. Over the same period, Fairtrade Gold dropped from 136 participants to 60. Few artisanal miners are certified to meet even this limited demand: less than 0.01 percent (one in 10,000) of ASM operations are certified across Latin America, Africa, and Asia.²¹⁶ Because only legal and formalized ASM organizations are eligible for certification, and due to the stringency of the requirements, only a limited proportion of ASM actors has the capacity to participate.⁶²

CHAPTER 6. Grassroots movements

Grassroots actors are those who typically do not sit within the halls of power. They are the ordinary citizens who form the base of society, going about their daily lives until they are united in common cause or threat to their livelihoods.²¹⁷ The powerless have long turned to grassroots resistance and built popular movements to make their voices heard. Within the context of infrastructure and extractive developments, grassroots actors seek to influence how, where, or if projects are undertaken and to exert local communities' rights to self-determination. They also strive to attain the means and recognition they need to pursue traditional and sustainable livelihoods.

The long-term success of community efforts to influence extractive and infrastructure projects is difficult to assess. This gap is in part due to a lack of comprehensive data on, for example, the outcomes of legal actions brought by communities, or the extent to which policymakers take these stakeholders' views into account. Grassroots actors' influence is often exerted through indirect channels, which are hard to fully trace. Similarly, progress and success in improving their livelihoods is contingent on a range of factors that limit efforts to measure and compare efforts across different landscapes.

However, grassroots actors themselves are generating awareness and knowledge of their efforts through high-profile public events, statements, and campaigns. We present some of these awareness initiatives in this chapter, complemented by literature review and case studies of local actors' endeavors through the court system, in international forums, and in their own territories.

In this chapter, we briefly describe the expansive work of Indigenous peoples and local communities (IPLCs), landless peasants and smallholder farmers, local NGOs, and allied civil society groups to shift patterns of development. First, we discuss the tools and processes of efforts to influence, and civil resistance to, development projects. In the second half of the chapter, we describe progress in implementing alternative livelihood models through community forest management. The growing demand for natural resources globally and the corresponding infrastructure and extractive development in forest lands continues to be met with social resistance and opposition. IPLCs and civil society actors fight for their voices to be heard and to influence decisions related to their territories and rights to forest natural resources.

Citizens and civil society have long resisted certain large-scale development and extractive activities over the environmental, social, and human rights impact of these projects, advocating instead for projects that are more responsive to their needs. Such collective efforts are led by and include IPLCs, environmental defenders, civil society, and academics. Many are centered around the needs of IPLCs and the protection of their cultural identities, spiritual norms, and ways of living tied to ancestral territories. Communities seek their rightful participation in development planning through decision-making processes that value and incorporate their traditional institutions of governance and allow them the power to influence those decisions. Effective consultation processes enable communities to give their free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC) or dissent without fear of reprisal and ensure the fair distribution of benefits from development. Other grassroots movements promote development models that completely depart from the mainstream status quo.²¹⁸

More broadly, IPLCs and grassroots movements tend to organize around and advocate for:

- Territorial self-governance and the right to cultural preservation and self-determination. This means having their rights to land recognized, respected, and enforced and the appropriate legal status that guarantees and protects this.
- The right to utilize resources on IPLC territories according to their understanding of sustainability tied to Indigenous, traditional, and local knowledge. Some IPLC groups also seek to mainstream such approaches to forest management and protection into dominant policies and institutions that govern forests.²¹⁹
- Recognition of collective rights to their Indigenous traditional livelihoods that are negatively altered and impacted by investments, leaving them more vulnerable.
- A shift in dominant paradigms that incorporate Indigenous perspectives and values into legal frameworks and broader national economic development plans. IPLCs' complex views on and practices of forest management can supplement existing approaches in order to not exceed ecological limits.

6.1 Are grassroots movements influencing infrastructure and extractive industry planning and development to mitigate forest impacts?

IPLC and grassroots movements have mobilized to gain access to and influence planning to protect forest lands from harmful development. In some cases, they have successfully cancelled or delayed large-scale infrastructure projects.

Grassroots movements and resistance have played an important role in informing policy on land use, influencing public opinion, and placing impacts of large-scale development projects on the public agenda. IPLCs, activists, lawyers, and scholars have made concerted efforts to push governments to adopt requirements for consultation and FPIC as well as demanding that these processes be robust and inclusive, rather than perfunctory and silencing.^{220,221} Civil-society organizations and grassroots NGOs have been important in supporting such efforts. In Brazil, local NGO support has been crucial in the struggle of the country's traditional communities for their territorial rights, including rights to practice their traditional livelihoods through the communal management of natural resources.²²²

When communities' rights to consultation and FPIC are not respected, bottom-up community consultations have been organized to mobilize communities and reverse or disrupt these projects. Formal petitions, public campaigns, street protests and strikes, and collective action networks are some of the methods actors use.^{223,224} In the Amazon, social

movements have brought together smallholders, IPLCs, and national and international NGOs to successfully delay large-scale infrastructure development in critical forests, such as the suspension of the São Luiz do Tapajós dam in Brazil²²⁵ and the creation of a 26 million-hectare protected forest corridor in Brazil's Xingu Basin between 2004 and 2008.²²⁶

IPLCs and civil society groups have long utilized the courts as a tool for contesting development projects that threaten important ecosystems. One strategy involves filing lawsuits to enforce FPIC requirements.²²⁷ Belize's Supreme Court cited FPIC requirements for Mayan communities in its 2007 order to cease the granting of extraction and hydroelectric permits.²²⁸ When a mega hydroelectric project in Costa Rica advanced without fulfilling FPIC requirements, the United Nations Special Rapporteur for Indigenous Rights weighed in, naming FPIC as essential.²²⁹ In 2016, the Supreme Court annulled the authorization for the project.²³⁰ In Peru, a court determined in 2017 that Indigenous lands occupied by IPLCs in voluntary isolation must be excluded from an oil exploration project.²³¹ And in May 2019, the Waorani Indigenous community won a lawsuit contesting the flawed consultation process when the Ecuadorian government put their territory in the southern Amazon up for sale in an oil auction in 2012.²³²

Grassroots and IPLC movements have been tackling power inequities by building international alliances to put pressure on actors and to raise awareness on crosscountry impacts of harmful development. While leveraging international support has brought some issues into the spotlight, there has been limited progress in incorporating Indigenous worldviews into policy.

To strengthen their movements, IPLCs and grassroots activists have been establishing transnational alliances. International activism targeted at governments and donors makes these movements visible and difficult to ignore.²³³

Regional alliances across the Americas include the <u>Coordinadora de las Organizaciones</u> Indígenas de la Cuenca Amazonica (Coordinating Body for the Indigenous Peoples' Organizations of the Amazon Basin, COICA), an Indigenous Alliance coordinating regional efforts in the Amazon Basin to promote and protect Indigenous peoples' territories, ways of life and social, spiritual and cultural values. In the Congo Basin, the <u>Conference on</u> <u>Dense and Humid Forests Ecosystems of Central Africa</u> was created in 1996 to improve the participation of civil societies. One of its grassroots members is the network of <u>Indigenous</u> and Local Communities for the Sustainable Management of Forest Ecosystems in Central <u>Africa</u>, which aims to enhance IPLC engagement in forest management. In Kenya, a grassroots campaign leveraged local and foreign social organizations and environmental groups to successfully delay a coal-plant project near the UNESCO-World Heritage site, Lamu, on the Kenyan coast.²³⁴ Such alliances have had a major impact in uniting and amplifying IPLCs' voices, especially in response to governments' promises of the resulting benefits from planned development activities **(Table 3)**.

TABLE 3. Statements on proposed infrastructure and extractive projects from Indigenous peoples and local communities and government leaders

INDONESIA

"AMAN urges the President to revoke this regulation" that legalizes land-grabbing of IPLC territories in the name of national strategic development and creates conflict and poverty for IPLCs affected. Indigenous peoples. Development models must be based on and utilized for the greatest prosperity of the people, as mandated in the constitution and the goals of the state. [AMAN also] urges the president and parliament to pass the RUU Masyarakat Adat bill that provides the recognition, protection and fulfillment of rights of Indigenous peoples as a whole."²³⁵

 —Indigenous Peoples Alliance of the Archipelago (AMAN) "Don't dream that we can compete with other countries and win the competition if our infrastructure is still lagging behind." "We have to work hard and catch up [with other countries]. We have to speed up this [infrastructure] development."²³⁶

—President Joko Widodo

BRAZIL

"We do not accept gold digging, mining, agribusiness and leasing of our lands, we do not accept loggers, illegal fishermen, hydroelectric plants and other projects, such as the Ferrogrão, that will impact us in a direct and irreversible way [...] If the forest disappears, our cultures will also disappear ... our languages will disappear. We need to fight for the preservation of our land; we need to unite our forces."²³⁷

—Statement from a Meeting of the Mebengokre Peoples and Brazilian Indigenous leaders^q "[Indigenous peoples] don't want to live as though they are confined, like prehistoric beings [...] They want to be integrated into society, they want electricity, they want to be who we are [...] Indigenous people don't lobby, don't speak our language, and yet today they manage to have 14 percent of our national territory [...] One of their intentions is to hold us back."²³⁸

—Brazilian President Jair Bolsonaro

"When environmentalists get involved, the debate becomes very ideological and very little technical [...] We will carry out the consultations demanded by the International Labour Organisation (ILO), but only after the contract [with the engineering companies] has been signed. If you consult them [communities] earlier, you create all kind of expectations."²³⁹

—Bolsonaro administration's Minister of Infrastructure, Tarcisio Freitas

GHANA

"The Atewa Forest Reserve defines our livelihood. So, if anything should happen to the forest, the rainfall pattern will change and our livelihood also change. It will affect everybody living along the line and it is therefore important that the forest is reserved [...] Nobody is saying that bauxite mining is not good or it won't give employment or it won't give Ghana government money, but we believe that whatever we will get out of bauxite mining as at today, we equally beg that if we do the alternative, we will get several times what we will get and that will help Ghana today and Ghana tomorrow."²⁴⁰ "Beginning now, the full-scale exploitation of Ghanaian bauxite resources will commence. I am satisfied by what I have been told and what has been demonstrated to me that it is possible for us to get that red matter out without disturbing the wildlife that there is in the Atewa mountains."²⁴⁰

—Ghanaian President Nana Addo Dankwa Akufo-Addo

-Emmanuel Tabi, local assembly representative

p In May 2020, the President Joko Widodo passed a regulation that expands the type of land that can be unilaterally acquired by state government. This includes forests, villages, and customary lands.

q A historic gathering among Indigenous leaders, in which the Piaraçu Manifesto was produced, denouncing the Brazilian government for putting Indigenous people at risk.

International alliances are particularly important as movements are increasingly facing threats and restrictions to their activities and funding sources through state tactics, ranging from bureaucratic hurdles to restrictions on foreign funding to killings of environmental defenders.^{241,242} Throughout central Africa, civil society space is largely closed, while many Amazon and Southeast Asian countries face repressed environments for citizen activities.²⁴³ The June 2020 National Pandemic Act in Papua New Guinea, for example, included provisions that may restrict rights to freedom of expression and freedom of assembly, which analysts fear may undercut ongoing community protests against an Australian and China-backed gold and copper mine along the Sepik river.²⁴⁴

International alliances have been leveraged by IPLCs to raise awareness for specific threats from mining activities to their territories and health. The International Articulation of People Affected by Vale (AV) is a transnational, South-South network of civil society actors that establishes strategies against social and environmental impacts of the mining industry, specifically those caused by the Brazilian transnational company, Vale S.A.^{245,246} Since the outbreak of COVID-19, Indigenous communities in the Brazilian Amazon have launched the "#MinersOutCovidOut" campaign, seeking 200,000 signatures from the Brazilian public and global community to pressure Brazilian authorities to remove illegal miners from their territory.²⁴⁷ The presence of illegal mining activities less than five kilometers away from communities has led to the spread of the virus among Indigenous community members. Forty percent of the Indigenous population is expected to be infected by COVID-19 if nothing is done to stop transmission.^{248,249}

While traditional and Indigenous knowledge is formally recognized in international agendas,²⁵⁰ there is cursory progress in the incorporation and implementation of Indigenous worldviews such as *buen vivir* in downstream policies. A delegation of representatives from IPLCs in Latin America, Asia, and Africa travelled to the 23rd UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (COP 23), calling for the recognition of IPLCs' territorial rights, access to climate finance, and the incorporation of Indigenous knowledge in climate change mitigation strategies.²⁵¹ The Indigenous + Community Response to the IPCC Special Report on Climate Change and Land in 2019 underscores the role Indigenous, traditional, and local knowledge systems have played in biodiversity conservation, and advocate for partnerships that allow this knowledge and practical experiences with land and forest management to inform efforts to combat climate change.²⁵²

IPLC-led legal victories have helped promote alternative conceptions of rights of nature in certain legal frameworks, but implementation of these rights through specific policy is limited, and redress through the courts has often been slow.

Building on Indigenous worldviews of nature as a living being with inalienable rights, legal paradigms are being intentionally shifted in a number of countries to recognize the right of nature to be protected and preserved.²⁵³ Ecuador was the world's first country to include "Rights of Nature" in its institution in 2008,²⁵⁴ as a tool for envisioning a new kind of sustainable development. IPLCs have leveraged this in legal battles. In October 2018, the Cofán community of Sinnagoe won their lawsuit to cancel mining concessions in their territory because community consultations were never conducted. The court also reaffirmed the community's rights to water, a healthy environment, and the right of nature.²⁵⁵ Only a year after Ecuador made such constitutional changes, Bolivia's constitution included environmental rights as part of its constitution, driven by IPLC and civil society movements against the neoliberal model of development pursued in Bolivia at the time.²⁵⁶ Nevertheless, these commitments have not always been reflected in policy or action; for example, neither Ecuador nor Bolivia have adopted FPIC requirements in national law (requiring only *consultation* instead).⁴³ In Ecuador, the government opened up Yasuni National Park to oil drilling.²⁵⁷

While legal proceedings can be a powerful channel to seek redress for harms, they can take a long time.^{258,259} Companies have also been employing strategies to avoid environmental litigation. In Ecuador and Brazil, companies have extended the process through filing

complaints or appealing decisions.^{259,260} An oil giant filed a countersuit against state officials in Ecuador who won a judgement against the company for polluting the Amazon rainforest in Ecuador.²⁶¹ In Indonesia and Guatemala, despite IPLCs winning lawsuits, the follow-up implementation has been troublesome.^{262,263} In Guatemala, the sued company claimed that consultations had been conducted, and agreements made, and the projects resumed operation. However, civil society organizations argue that this consultation was inadequate. Another case in Indonesia turned out to be a success for the mining companies who managed to sue the local government for revoking their permits.²⁶⁴

In cases where extractive developments proceed, communities are making some progress in gaining access to a share of the economic benefits.

In some cases, despite, or in lieu of local resistance, communities seek to receive some of the economic benefits from mining or extractive activities. They have seen successes: in northern Peru, the local community in Hualgayoc protested a mining project by the company Gold Fields.²⁶⁵ In response, the company signed an agreement to improve farmers' income and participation. In Ghana, communities that have been displaced by the mining company Newmont Gold Ghana continue to fight for a fair compensation for the loss of their land and livelihoods. Families that were displaced under the company's resettlement plan continue to struggle with lack of electricity and potable water , and exposure to cyanide spills.²⁶⁶ The company established a community benefit agreement when it began operations, and its program has been heralded as a model for corporate social responsibility. However, affected communities have not been adequately represented as agreements have been made with local elites rather than communities themselves.²⁶⁷

Companies, governments, and multilateral institutions have increasingly accepted the idea of community participation in natural resource governance as a way to increase inclusion and legitimacy of extractive projects.²⁶⁸ Yet much work remains to be done in making these participatory processes truly responsive to community needs rather than being co-opted by elite actors and reinforcing existing power dynamics.²⁶⁹

6.2 Are grassroots movements promoting alternative models for sustainable forest management and prosperous livelihoods?

Forest management driven by communities themselves has in some cases enabled increased community self-determination, autonomy, and a less extractive and more sustainable approach to improved livelihoods.

Between 1990 and 2010, the global forest area under community use rights increased by about 7 percent, while state ownership of forests declined.²⁷⁰ Community forest management (CFM) has proven an effective strategy for building robust livelihoods while reducing deforestation in cases where civil society, governments, and communities themselves have collaborated to ensure that proper enabling conditions are in place (see Section 4.3). NGOs play an influential role in proposing and testing alternative models for community-based resource management and channeling access to funding to support these efforts. A meta-analysis of 81 cases of community-based natural resource management worldwide demonstrates that social and grassroots movements have played an important role in defending community management structures against threats from government decisions or corporate incursions.²⁷¹ In addition, social movements have actually led to improvements in how these management structure operate, including increased community autonomy and democratic decision-making, improved utilization of local ecological knowledge, and strengthened institutional capacity.²⁷¹

Grassroots actions have prompted a durable and institutionalized model for sustainable, community-driven forest management in Guatemala's Maya Biosphere Reserve (MBR) **(Box 14)**. Employing a community-concession model, the MBR fulfills most of the

dimensions in the PRIME framework and provides proof of concept for community management at a large scale: communities have improved productivity, have strengthened rights over the land and resources, established local-forest governance and planning institutions, and benefit directly from the ecosystem services of the forest.

BOX 14. Case study: Community forest management in the Maya Biosphere Reserve

The Maya Biosphere Reserve (MBR) extends across the northernmost part of Guatemala's largest and most remote department, Petén, and contributes to the largest contiguous forested area in Latin America north of the Amazon.²⁷² Originally established as a biodiversity conservation site in the late 1980s by the Guatemalan government, communities rallied against the initial lack of consultation in the area's management.²⁷³ Through negotiation, direct action, and advocacy with donors and environmental groups, these communities succeeded in forcing the government to take seriously their demands for a role in the MBR's management. The resulting compromise, the community forest concession model, grants 25-year contracts to community forest organizations that meet a set of requirements around forestry planning, certification, and reporting.

This initiative reversed the land's historical status as agricultural frontier towards an area governed by the principles of biodiversity conservation paired with sustainable development. Communities in the MBR have reduced deforestation rates—including virtually ending forest fires—and increased local well-being, through individual income and the expansion of community health and education services.^{272,274,275} The model encourages active stewardship of forest resources by the concession communities, and contrasts strongly with the development path followed by neighboring regions—characterized by accelerated deforestation rates, corruption, narco-land grabbing, large-scale cattle-ranching, unlicensed airstrips, and illegal roads. An oil concession in one of the Reserve's national parks—originally granted prior to the MBR's establishment—and the attendant infrastructure have facilitated ongoing encroachment of areas meant to be under strict protection.^{276,277}

The success of the Association of Forest Communities of Petén (ACOFOP) has made it an important example for other forest-reliant communities across the world, and it actively engages in exchanges and trainings around lessons learned and capacity-building, including with groups in Indonesia and the Amazon.²³³ Nevertheless, ACOFOP and its community members still face challenges. The extension of the CFM concessions is dependent on government approval and remains vulnerable to ever-present competing land use objectives and proposals.^{278,279} Despite the challenges, and through ACOFOP and in partnership with other global coalitions, these communities continue to advocate for their right to manage the forest for current and future generations of people and ecosystems.

Access to technical knowledge, governance support, and sufficient finance are critical to achieving longevity and sufficient revenues from CFM. As illustrated by a case from Liberia **(Box 15)**, NGO support is often critical to navigating government bureaucracies and staving off company advances as communities seek to establish robust community management systems.

BOX 15. Case study: The GolaMA Community Forest Project in Liberia²⁸⁰

In the largest single remaining block of the Upper Guinean forests between Liberia and Sierra Leone, an NGO-led community forestry project seeks to protect the region's biodiversity while advancing local livelihoods. The Society for the Conservation of Nature in Liberia and the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds in the UK have implemented the GolaMA project in collaboration with communities living on the Liberian side of the Greater Gola Landscape.

The GolaMA area is home to both Indigenous and migrant communities, whose traditional livelihoods differ—migrants tend to hunt or mine, while people Indigenous to the area tend to be farmers. Land use planning and decision-making occurs collectively through a general assembly of clan chiefs and leaders of key groups (women and youth, miners and farmers). The population density is relatively low, and so are deforestation rates. However, this is likely to change as competing and lucrative land use pressures increase.

Knowing their conservation goals would not be achieved without making the project economically lucrative for communities, the implementing NGOs designed it with both conservation and livelihood strategies in mind. The project has two complementary objectives: 1) build the communities' capacity to gain community forestry status under Liberia's 2009 Community Rights Law, and 2) support their adoption of forest-friendly livelihoods, such as beekeeping and sustainable logging. The NGOs also provide training and capacity building in community forest governance.

Corruption and conflicts of interest have stymied the recognition of GolaMA communities' rights to the land. By February 2020, GolaMA had completed eight of the nine steps to achieve community forestry status, an achievement which would have been very challenging without external NGO support. Government capacity to effectively administer the forestry law is quite low because institutions are still recovering from years of civil war, allowing logging companies to hijack the law to gain access to forest lands.²⁸¹ Reflecting a global pattern, government officials have also been complicit, expediting applications by logging companies while community-driven initiatives such as GolaMA still await approval. Due to pressure from international donors to address this corruption, the government has put a moratorium on granting community forest status.

The more recently passed Land Rights Act in 2018 promises to address the weaknesses of the previous law, asserting the customary rights of communities over forest lands. Under the new law, a self-defined community can get the equivalent of a land deed, whose rights supersede other rights. Acquiring the deed would involve parts of the government that are less influenced by logging interests. However, critics are skeptical of its eventual effectiveness because it does not apply to communities living on land already allotted to commercial interests.²⁸²

Grassroots movements are fighting for direct access to climate finance in recognition of local communities' successful sustainable management of their territories; as yet, however, proposals have not been taken up by funders.

The Mesoamerican Alliance of Peoples and Forests (AMPB) have proposed an alternative model for climate finance based on recognition of Indigenous peoples as autonomous territorial leaders and managers. Specifically, they are advocating for the creation of a Mesoamerican Territorial Fund that would allow results-based payments to bypass national and state governments and flow directly into the hands of communities who manage the forest.²³³

Direct funding such as that proposed by AMPB would allow communities to strengthen the governance and management structures they have in place, including patrolling territories, monitoring incursions and forest fires, land use and community development planning, and investment in community enterprises. The payments would help to achieve realization of AMPB's members' desire for autonomy and self-governance based on Indigenous worldviews such as *buen vivir*. AMPB has lobbied to strengthen the Mesoamerican Territorial Fund in international climate events as recently as UNFCCC COP 25 in Madrid in 2019.²⁸³

CHAPTER 7. Progress by financial institutions and international donors

Through their investment decisions, financial institutions as well as international donors send strong signals to companies and countries. By delivering financial resources, the financial sector acts as an enabler to various activities, knowingly or unknowingly contributing to deforestation and forest degradation. International donors can also strongly influence forest country governments' development priorities and pathways, with long-term and cascading forest impacts.

Recent years have seen the wide adoption among financial institutions of guiding principles for ensuring sustainability of investments. However, apart from certain examples, we lack data on the alignment of investment decisions with these principles. While multilateral development banks have been at the vanguard of developing and applying environmental and social safeguards, these institutions generally lag in their reporting of environmental outcomes from the projects where these safeguards were applied. There is also an overall lack of coherence and alignment within and among donor institutions that impedes the effectiveness of finance, especially where investments aim to alleviate poverty but without sufficient consideration of the supporting environment to reduce deforestation. Finally, financial flows explicitly aligned through national forest planning processes like REDD+ are still largely unrealized, making it too early to assess progress.

The <u>Goal 8 progress assessment</u> provides an analysis of efforts made by financial institutions in addressing deforestation risks. This includes the creation of new funds, networks, tools, and resources. Here, we only highlight the initiatives that are specific to deforestation driven by infrastructure, extractive industries, and agricultural commodities with a clear link to smallholder production and poverty. Company- and civil society-led finance interventions for smallholder farmers are covered in chapter 5.

In this chapter, we review how financial institutions are progressing with safeguards and investment policies that manage forest-risk development projects. We also highlight how collaboration with international public financiers is helping forest countries align their investment plans with forest goals.

7.1 Are the financial sector and international donors applying safeguards to mitigate forest impacts from infrastructure, extractive industries, and interventions to reduce poverty?

Many financial institutions adopt policies to address social and environmental risks from all sectors. For example, 110 financial institutions from 38 different countries have signed the Equator Principles, which requires the application of comprehensive safeguards or laws in project financing.

As of September 2020, 110 financial institutions from 38 different countries have signed the Equator Principles (EP), a framework to assess and manage social and environmental risks for large financial transactions.' Signatories commit to implementing the EP in their internal environmental and social policies, procedures and standards for financing projects, and to not provide project finance or loans where clients are unable to comply. Principle 3 calls for financial institutions to require their clients to comply with the IFC's Performance Standards (see Box 10), which sets standards that are widely considered best practice in the finance industry. This requirement does not apply to "designated" countries that are OECD members and on the World Bank High Income list. Instead, clients in these countries are required to comply with host country laws and regulations. The reliance on existing institutions in designated countries is also criticized several of these countries, including the US and Australia, have recently weakened their environmental policies (see Chapter 4). In addition, requirements for FPIC of the latest EP version are considered too weak, while the EPs also do not call for a restriction to financing sectors, such as coal, that have a negative impact on forests and climate.²⁸⁴

In a positive sign for progress, according to the EP website, signatories cover the majority of international project finance debt within developed and emerging markets. The public reporting system also indicates that the framework is being applied in sectors relevant to Goal 3, while the scale is unclear. A number of projects in the infrastructure and extractive sectors were financed in forest countries while applying the EPs; for example, a highway project in Colombia and a mining project in Guinea.²⁸⁵

There are several similar initiatives to reduce the environmental, social and/or governance risks of finance, such as the <u>Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI)</u>, a voluntary and aspirational set of principles that were developed with the objective to contribute to a more sustainable financing sector. As part of this initiative, groups of investors made statements formulating expectations on how clients should address deforestation in the cattle or palm oil supply chains.⁵ The statement for cattle, for example, specifically asks for companies to disclose on their risks including the ability to accurately determine the source geography of an input and that area's deforestation risk, land use change, displacement of Indigenous peoples, and land/labor risks. This, in principle, uncovers deforestation risks from indirect suppliers such as breeders of cows, which are often smallholders. A similar initiative in the banking sector, the <u>Principles for Responsible Banking (PRB)</u>, seek to align the strategies and practice of banks with the SDGs and the Paris Climate Agreement. Similarly, the Soft <u>Commodities Compact</u> (SCC), a company-led initiative works with the banking industry to help transform commodity supply chains and help banks' company clients to address deforestation risks.

r The Equator Principles apply globally, to all industry sectors and to five financial products: 1) Project Finance Advisory Services, 2) Project Finance, 3) Project-Related Corporate Loans, and 4) Bridge Loans and 5) Project-Related Refinance, and Project-Related Acquisition Finance. For example, the financial products Project Finance Advisory Services need to exceed a total project capital costs of USD 10 million, and Project Finance a total project capital cost of USD 10 million. In the context of this report, the Equator Principles are mostly relevant for extractive industries and infrastructure projects, while less relevant for agriculture commodity investments.

s See investor statements for cattle and palm oil supply chains..

Less is, however, known about the implementation of these commitments. Assessments by NGOs point to weaknesses in these policies' design and implementation.

For the EPs, reports about specific transactions are only available for the last two years and if clients agree to their disclosure, while NGOs found weaknesses or incomplete application of the EPs in individual projects financed by signatory institutions. This disclosure is also not verified by independent third parties.²⁸⁶ It also fails to provide detailed information about risks and impacts of projects. Similarly, transparency for other initiatives is even more limited. For examples, access to the data portal of the PRI is not publicly available.²⁸⁷ Since the PRB initiative is fairly new, there is still limited information on implementation, while reporting is also only planned for collective progress. Rather than providing a comprehensive and systematic assessment of progress and lack thereof, the website lists examples, such as "One bank implemented a new sustainable financing framework to enable them to respond to relevant customer demands. This allows the bank to review any new financing opportunities for alignment with its low carbon economy goals."²⁸⁹

It is questionable whether these commitments, broadly focused on environmental and social risks, sufficiently address the problem of deforestation, especially in sectors with risks of indirect and cumulative impacts. For the infrastructure and extractive sectors, we have little insight into how financial institutions translate these commitments into formal policies. In the agriculture sector, data from Forest 500 suggest that formal policy adoption does not mirror the large market uptake of initiatives like the EPs or PRI. According to Forest 500, only 14 percent of the largest 150 financial institutions exposed to deforestation risks from agriculture, had a policy prohibiting deforestation for at least one of their commodities.^t It is also unclear to what extent these efforts reach smallholder producers. Some banks participating in the SCC, for example report on the share of client production or processing that is compliant with certification. But in palm oil, for example, certification still largely fails to reach smallholder production.

New initiatives aim to track progress of sustainability policies by financial institutions but are still in early stages.

A new initiative, the Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosures led by Global Canopy, UNDP, the UNEP Finance Initiative, and WWF could potentially fill this gap for nature- and biodiversity-related risks. The objective is to develop a framework for naturerelated financial disclosure and redirect flows of finance at scale towards nature-positive activities.²⁸⁹ The Informal Working Group for the Task Force, composed of 62 financial institutions and private firms, governments, and regulatory bodies, as well as think-tanks and consortia, was launched in September 2020.²⁹⁰ Another new initiative, Trase Finance, launched in September 2020, links the trade of commodities that drive deforestation to financial markets worldwide by connecting data on company ownership and investment to Trase's data on deforestation risk linked to supply chains. The initiative will be focused on soft commodities, with an initial coverage of cattle and palm oil—which are tied closely to smallholder production—as well as soy.

Multilateral development banks and bilateral donors' social and environmental safeguards generally align with best practice. Independent assessment, nevertheless, indicates shortcomings in the implementation of these safeguards, while institutions fail to publish information on their impact on forests.

International donors that are OECD members have broadly agreed on a common approach for environmental and social due diligence to identify and address any impacts deriving from their investments.²⁹¹ OECD members are expected to use relevant World Bank Policies, Safeguards, and Guidelines, and the IFC Performance Standards.²⁹¹ These standards are subject to much scrutiny by civil society and are generally considered best

t 21 of 150 financial institutions assessed in the Forest 500 (2019). Data provided by Global Canopy.

practice, as they comprehensively address risks, including indirect and cumulative ones from different sectors.

Independent assessments nevertheless point to weaknesses in the design and implementation of these safeguards. A recent study on the impacts of development bank funding in the Andean Amazon, where countries like Bolivia, Ecuador, and Peru have seen a surge in infrastructure investments, found that safeguard systems of donors as well as governments had failed to prevent negative impacts.²⁹² Impacts were so severe that they impaired project goals leading to delays and even cancellations. The main weaknesses were inadequate stakeholder engagement, EIAs, and an overall lack of transparency and oversight. The study specifically notes the importance of comprehensively assessing indirect and cumulative impacts, such as on migration or mega-projects funded by several donors. A lack of such practices had created social conflicts and as a result damaged the reputation of lenders.

Similarly, NGOs have identified weaknesses in the safeguard policies adopted by the Asian Infrastructure Development Bank, one of the main funding instruments for infrastructure and energy investments in the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). The policy fails to include a body for independent investigation, which impairs accountability, and has additional weaknesses related to transparency and the handling of complaints.²⁹³

While safeguards are generally applied, it is also unclear to what extent these investments and related support programs from multilateral development banks and public donors result—or not—in impacts on forests. The World Bank Group, for example, fails to publish data on forest-related impacts across its operations.²⁹⁴

In addition, according to the Bank Information Center, although forest monitoring tools are applied extensively for forestry sector projects, the same tools are not being used to monitor and mitigate forest impacts from other World Bank Group development projects.²⁹⁵

Even when some financial institutions and international development banks make progress with their sustainability commitments, there is still a major and largely opaque financial market without any policies to protect forests. Development banks and other financial institutions that rely on domestic government policies, as is the case for large parts of the Belt and Road Initiative, are exposed to large risks.

The complexity of financing arrangements, and the increase in funding from relatively new funders such as banks from emerging markets, makes it difficult to assess large-scale projects in the mining and infrastructure sectors. The recent infrastructure boom in the Andean Amazon, for example, has been funded increasingly by state-owned Chinese banks that largely defer the management of environmental and social risks to host countries.²⁹² In areas of weak governance, this approach risks insufficient application of safeguards and can cause major harm, such as deforestation or social conflicts, as was the case for several large-scale projects in the Andean Amazon (see above).²⁹²

This is also the approach that major funding institutions use for the world's largest megaproject, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), also known as "One Belt, One Road" **(Box 16)**. Combined with a lack of transparency in the decentralized planning of BRI projects, this approach reduces financial actors' ability to assess projects' sustainability.

BOX 16. Case study: The unprecedented challenge of greening the Belt and Road Initiative

The Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) was launched by the Chinese government in 2013 to increase regional transportation and economic integration across Eurasia and beyond.²⁹⁶ An estimated 126 countries have signed bilateral agreements with China related to the initiative, including mostly middle and low-income developing countries.²⁹⁷ A large share of the known projects relate to power generation (especially hydropower and coal-fired power plants) in addition to linear transport infrastructure.¹⁹⁷

Despite being promoted by China as a mechanism to work with its international partners toward "ecological civilization" in pursuit of achieving the SDGs,²⁹⁸ independent analyses have identified major direct and indirect environmental risks—particularly for Southeast Asia and tropical Africa. A 2019 study found that infrastructure development along the BRI would endanger 4,138 animal and 7,371 plant species, and that BRI corridors would intersect 1,738 important bird areas and 46 biodiversity hotspots, mostly in forests.²⁹⁹

The BRI's unprecedented geographic scope is matched by the scale of its financing needs. An estimated 1 to 8 trillion USD will be mobilized into overseas infrastructure projects between 2017 and 2027.²⁹⁶ Financiers include Chinese state-owned policy banks as well as a range of regional funding mechanisms led by China, such as the Silk Road Fund, the Energy Development Fund, and the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank.^{300,301} In addition, direct state funding from participant countries and commercial banks round out the bulk of funding, while multilateral investors such as multilateral development banks and private-public partnerships supply a smaller portion.³⁰²

The quality of environmental safeguards and guidelines for BRI financing is mixed. The Chinese government has released several guidelines and initiatives for Chinese entities, such as the *Guidance on Promoting Green Belt and Road* and the *Belt and Road Ecological and Environmental Cooperation Plan (BREECP)*.¹⁹⁷ While these safeguards are not binding, environmental requirements for BRI projects are largely guided by the regulations of host country governments, which are in many regions weakly designed or enforced. Safeguards required by multilateral lending institutions tend to be more stringent; however, they apply only to the subset of projects.¹⁹⁷

A major barrier to the accountability of this initiative is the complexity and opacity of project planning and development.197 Because many projects cross country borders, environmental impact assessments conducted in each country do not account for their cumulative impact.¹⁹⁷ Decentralized planning leads to scattered and incomplete data on planning considerations and project outcomes. This lack of data impedes proper assessment of project risks.³⁰³

Due to a lack of transparency on implementation, monitoring, and enforcement of environmental standards, there is growing concern that BRI investors will prefer to invest in countries with weaker regulations overall.³⁰⁰ However, recent reports^{297,299,304} linked to Chinese institutions have provided a new level of transparency into potential impacts and the internal debate among Chinese experts on the balance of risks and benefits.³⁰³ New multisector initiatives , such as the Green Investment Principles,³⁰⁵ have emerged in the last few years to address the lack of transparency in projects' environmental impacts to enable sustainable financing decisions. With the BREECP, the government of China also set up a fund to enhance integrated environmental assessments, which could help to address cumulative and indirect impacts at the mega-scale.
There is also a lack of transparency over financial institutions and international donors *avoiding* investments with high forest risks. This is particularly important for the coal sector, due to the large impact on forests in some geographies—and therefore a double climate risk.

There is a clear need to phase out coal, oil, and gas, especially from power generation, not only for their direct emissions from combustion, but also for their contribution to deforestation in forest areas **(see Section 2.1)** and resulting release of CO₂. Although we lack information on efforts specifically relevant to geographies where coal is known to drive large-scale deforestation, overall progress by financial institutions in phasing out coal is slow. According to a recent analysis of the coal policies of banks, insurers, asset owners, and asset managers around the globe, at least 216 top financial institutions have no policies to limit or exclude coal from their portfolios.³⁰⁶ Among the 214 financial institutions found to have a coal policy, only 16 have high-quality policies. Most coal policies identified were found to be too weak to prevent further growth of the coal sector.³⁰⁷

While multilateral development banks have made more progress, it appears that neither the deforestation risks of these sectors, nor the indirect climate risks through deforestation, are yet seriously considered in investment decisions. Institutions such as the World Bank and the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) are stopping finance to fossil fuels. The World Bank, for example, currently restricts financing in the coal sector and announced, in December 2017, that it would stop financing oil and gas exploration projects by 2020. A recent study found that some World Bank funding, though, is indirectly still working against low carbon development.³⁰⁸ Through project finance and policy-based assistance, it is in effect both reducing the cost of finance and providing investment incentives that contribute to increasing profit margins for fossil fuel operations.

New rules point to clearer action: the new IDB environmental and social performance standards prohibit funding for coal mining or oil extraction projects.³⁰⁹ And in September 2020, the IFC published new rules wherein it will no longer make equity investments in financial institutions that do not have a plan to phase out support for coal by 2030.³¹⁰

7.2 Are international donors and the financial sector promoting investments in reducing poverty while preventing deforestation?

REDD+ initiatives have mobilized at least USD 7.6 billion of international and domestic public finance to address poverty-driven deforestation. Programs are more or less aligned with the PRIME framework, but programs are still in early stages, and funding flows for most countries are miniscule compared to non-forest-aligned investments.

Many forest countries, with the support of various donors, plan investments in REDD+ program activities to support alternatives to poverty-driven deforestation (see also Section 4.3 for a discussion of how these align with the PRIME framework). Among the 17 forest countries that have developed jurisdictional REDD+ Emission Reduction Programs under the FCPF Carbon Fund, all plan investments in activities addressed at Goal 4 drivers (Figure 8).³¹¹ For many countries, the majority of these funds come from donors, such as bilateral donors or international funds like the Forest Investment Program or the Central African Forest Initiative), while some cover investments with domestic budgets (e.g. Mexico, Chile, Ghana). (see Goal 8 assessment for details).



Figure 8. REDD+ investments in Goal 4 activities, in million USD



Source: Climate Focus analysis of Emissions Reduction Program Documents under the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility's Carbon Fund

The impact of relevant funding commitments and disbursements is often unclear or too early to assess. Most of the international funding initiatives, for example, are still unable to report impacts (e.g. in terms of forest area protected) beyond initial policy milestones, e.g. the FCPF Carbon Fund, the Forest Investment Program or the Central African Forest Initiative **(see Goal 8 assessment for details)**.

Donors and governments could do more to maximize synergies by aligning interventions in other sectors with forest goals, beyond just using safeguards.

Compared to other finance, especially investments flowing to driver sectors without any consideration of forest goals, these investments are also minor. In Côte D'Ivoire, for example, an assessment found that out of USD 136 million in finance allocated to sectors relevant for driving deforestation, only 13 percent was clearly aligned with REDD+ goals.³¹² Especially when coming from international donors, finance for driver sectors is generally the subject to environmental safeguards to mitigate negative effects, yet this still shows an imbalance toward financing that puts forest at risk.³¹² Notably, non-aligned finance was largely allocated to agricultural intensification, an intervention that is essential to address deforestation linked to poverty. Alignment therefore has potential to exploit synergies between forest goals and other SDGs. After adopting its Forest Action Plan, the World Bank Group succeeded at increasing funding for forest positive programs in the forestry sector. While this is positive in Mozambique, Mexico and Colombia, for example, a majority of the funding shifted towards forest-positive interventions—the bank still needs to mainstream forest goals into other sectors that drive deforestation, such as infrastructure, energy, extractives, and agriculture.²⁹⁴

While in nascent stages, a number of impact investors or relevant platforms show potential to address poverty-driven deforestation by offering long-term capital, supporting job creation and increased income with tropical forest protection and restoration components. We found limited information on the impacts of these investments.

A number of impact investors or platforms to facilitate such investments have emerged. Some initiatives, such as &GreenFund, the Tropical Landscapes Finance Facility in Indonesia, the Althelia Climate Fund, EcoEnterprises Fund, and the Moringa Fund, offer opportunities for partnerships between investors to mobilize finance for smallholder farmers and enterprises to achieve positive environmental and social impacts. Overall, in our <u>Goal 8 assessment</u> we identify investments or allocations at a scale of USD 683 million in funding capital. However, these initiatives support a wide range of activities to protect forests and it is unclear to what extent they are relevant for smallholder supply chains or other poverty driven activities. The amount of private capital mobilized through these investment funds is rarely reported.

CHAPTER 8. Barriers to progress

The previous chapters have made clear that governments, companies, and financial actors are largely aware of the forest risks of infrastructure development and extractive industries, and of the need to secure economic opportunities for local communities that do not result in deforestation or forest degradation. They have made efforts to align high-level planning forest goals; to mitigate the forest impacts of development projects; and to support poverty alleviation interventions with complementary investments that protect forests. Meanwhile, grassroots actors have spent decades working to influence infrastructure and extractive industry planning and development, and to demonstrate the potential of alternative modes of forest management and development trajectories.

Why, then, have these efforts resulted in only slow overall progress? In this chapter, we describe barriers to progress that have emerged as common themes throughout this progress assessment. These issues recur across sectors, actors, regions, and scales, and provide countervailing forces against efforts to make change. We also take a deep dive to explore how some of these barriers play out within the specific historical, political, and economic contexts of critical forest regions: the Congo Basin, Southeast Asia, and the Western Amazon.

Despite some progress, a widespread lack of transparency continues to impair accountability of governments, companies, international donors, and other financial actors.

The number of commitments and policy goals to protect forests keeps increasing. Governments are adopting REDD+ strategies; companies are making commitments to address sustainability concerns in mining; financial institutions are signing up to sustainable lending principles. But action is what counts. We find limited information about progress made in implementing these commitments so the conclusion must be that progress itself is limited: most actors would not hesitate to make evidence of their successes publicly available. This lack of transparency related to such commitments reflects a general context of opacity that prevails in the extractive and infrastructure sectors.

In many ways, the limited transparency in the extractive and infrastructure sectors starts at the top. Macro-economic planning processes, including decisions on how natural resources will be managed, and at what scale and in what form infrastructure will be constructed, happen largely behind closed doors. Megaprojects are planned and announced by governments and investors, without meaningful insight and participation of civil society and grassroots stakeholders, likely limiting initiatives that would pressure governments or companies toward more accountability. Except for a few examples, the evidence is insufficient to truly understand whether and how trade-offs are considered in this planning and decision making.

Similarly, financial transparency is limited in the infrastructure sector in particular. Increasingly complex financial instruments are used including combinations of national pension funds, equity investments via public-private partnerships, co-lending instruments of the IFC, and financing from Chinese state-owned banks. The environmental policies of other private sector actors, like construction companies, have been rarely examined or disclosed.¹⁹⁷

Accountability in the mining sector is better than in infrastructure, likely because civil society has been more active in calling out human rights violations (for example, in Canada²⁹⁹) and the misalignment between corporate action and public-facing pledges or policies. Consumers and consumer-facing companies are also increasingly aware of sustainability risks of the mined materials omnipresent in technology and other consumer goods, spurring more substantive engagement in sustainable supply-chain initiatives among these companies.³¹⁴

In the agricultural sector, companies are ahead of their mining and infrastructure peers in detailed commitments to reduce the forest impacts of their supply chains. While these and emerging commitments from extractive sectors allow for some assessment of progress, transparency is still quite limited for several reasons. This makes it difficult to judge the quality of implementation to hold actors accountable against their commitments, and to motivate further progress:

- Most information on voluntary commitments is self-reported and not independently verified. Companies tend to focus on communicating their successes rather than providing a comprehensive overview of their progress and failures.
- Complex supply chains, especially for palm oil, cocoa, and beef, make it difficult, yet not
 impossible for buyers to trace materials back to their origin, especially for small-scale
 producers (see Goal 2 assessment). While technically possible, full traceability would
 involve significant cost that most companies have been unwilling to pay.
- The wide variety of standards for managing forest and biodiversity impacts suffers from incoherence and the lack of common norms and science-based frameworks for action. For example, in the mining sector, several mining standards refer to "indirect or cumulative impacts" on biodiversity. Yet the descriptions of such impacts vary across standards, and evidence from company disclosures indicates widely varying interpretations of company responsibilities (see Chapter 5). Similarly, environmental

reporting is often fragmented, with companies reporting their efforts on biodiversity and on carbon separately.

- Across sectors, there is a lack of impact measurement in reporting and disclosures, making it difficult to link efforts to reductions in deforestation.
- Monitoring rarely incorporates local communities to monitor local level impacts of company activities and efforts to address deforestation risks.

Governments often grapple with implementing existing forest policies due to a lack of political will, capacity, and stability. An imbalance in power among government agencies allows vested interests to shape enforcement regimes, enabling profits despite the environmental and social costs.

In many forest countries, policies and laws that aim to safeguard forests—such as the regulation of investments or the provision of agricultural extension services—do exist on paper. However, respect for and implementation of these policies is often weak. Some governments also fail to address structural problems that underlie forest loss, such as tenure insecurity. Without certainty of land access, small-scale actors cannot invest in improved forest management and agricultural practices, while Indigenous peoples, local communities, and the rural poor have little recourse when their land is claimed by companies and investors.

In developing countries, in particular, environmental and forest authorities often lack sufficient capacity and funding compared to agriculture, mining, and energy ministries, rendering them ill-equipped to counter vested interests from these sectors.^{12,129,315,316} These authorities, like the environmental policies they aim to implement, are weakened not just because of a lack of capacity but because powerful actors have an interest in sidelining them.

Political leaders often favor economic development based on resource exploitation and agricultural expansion. Opening land for exploitation can win votes through promises of economic development, bring public revenues and, in some cases, personal revenues through corruption. The infrastructure sector in particular is known for its limited accountability and endemic corruption. For example, one of the most significant corruption scandals in history revolved around Brazilian construction company Odebrecht. The largest construction company in Latin America, Odebrecht had paid bribes to heads of state and other government officials across the region and Africa, in exchange for lucrative construction contracts.³¹⁷

At the same time, too many decision-makers give low priority to forests and to forestdependent people, to the extent that any measure to mitigate negative impacts on forests, and people dependent on them, is lukewarm at best. We find evidence for intentional weakening of policies and institutions, especially under cover of the COVID-19 crisis. For example, federal agencies in the US have been directed to no longer consider the indirect or cumulative environmental effects of infrastructure projects **(see Section 4.2)**.

Another reason for limited progress is the instability of governments. Where governments give higher priority to forests and, for example, enforcement capacities are strengthened (e.g. in Brazil in the mid-2010s), the resulting protections for forests can be short-lived as new administrations come into power, putting forest at risk anew.³¹⁸ This instability is a major barrier to building durable and effective institutions, particularly in countries that suffer from internal conflicts, such as the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Central African Republic, and Colombia.³¹⁹

Support that is aligned with all five PRIME dimensions has not been scaled up. An underlying lack of trust and stability in company-smallholder relationships undermines support programs, while public-private coordination to align complementary interventions is still in nascent stages.

A number of promising efforts demonstrate that the problems of poverty and deforestation can be addressed comprehensively. For example, company and civil society initiatives directly engaging with smallholders in the cocoa and palm sector, especially those in outgrower schemes, have contributed to reducing deforestation and poverty for many years. Yet, it is challenging to scale these types of programs for several reasons.

Most companies that engage in sustainability efforts focus on working with their direct suppliers, often organized in outgrower schemes. They have motivations in addition to addressing forest risks, such as securing quantity and quality of supply. But companies want exclusivity in return for support, while smallholders are reluctant to bind themselves in production contracts with specific companies. Meanwhile, for example in the palm oil sector in Indonesia, smallholders find many other buyers, generally middlemen who may then sell markets with lower sustainability standards, such as domestic markets or emerging economies like China and India. Companies with commitments that are unable to trace their products back to the producer will also still buy products from smallholders that do not receive support for more forest-friendly practices. In the case of cocoa, the low price of raw materials also limits incentives for farmers to enter into contracts with companies.

At the same time, governments invest too little and have limited capacities to promote the comprehensive reforms and interventions needed to ensure that land developments are sustainable, protecting forests and contributing to the livelihoods of the rural poor. Many of the interventions identified in this report were one-dimensional and failed to address the systemic nature of both poverty and deforestation. In Indonesia, for example, the palm oil smallholder sector contributed significantly to poverty reduction, but the government has not enforced regulations or effectively promoted better practices to protect forests.

As part of jurisdictional approaches in the context of REDD+, some companies have started collaborating with each other and with government and civil society to address deforestation through collective and coordinated action. These collaborative models have much potential to address the problem comprehensively, however, they are still in the early stages. Similarly, governments have planned a number of interventions targeted at deforestation drivers associated with poverty in the context of REDD+ plans.

Another barrier to progress is the power disparity between governments and companies, on the one hand, and local people, especially IPLCs, on the other. Conflicts over land and resource use result in the criminalization and murder of environmental defenders.

When it comes to economic development, and the allocation and use of forest lands, local people tend to have very little say in decision-making processes. Instead, poor populations and vulnerable communities are pushed toward the frontier and further into forests due to a lack of alternative options for local economic development. Meanwhile other Indigenous, Afro-descendant, and traditional forest dwellers are often forced out of forests to become part of already chaotic processes of urbanization.

Overall, the land and forest sector suffer from an imbalance in power, where powerful corporations and national elites influence decision-making to facilitate resource exploitation, while grassroots actors who express their preferences are shunted aside or ignored. High levels of economic inequality can undermine the institutions and incentives that enable sustainable livelihood activities, including reduced access to land and the prevention of collective action.³²⁰

Weak recognition of customary land ownership or territorial sovereignty further undermines community efforts to assert their right to self-determination. In practice, processes that are designed to re-balance power toward communities—like FPIC—often get translated into bureaucratic exercises conducted superficially, without proper language or cultural provisions, or with inaccurate or incomplete information, thus denying IPLCs a real chance to voice potential dissent.

Recent years have seen escalating violence against environmental defenders, which further limits the accountability of companies and governments.²⁴² Criminalization of protest and violence against environmental defenders, including IPLCs, has been utilized as a tool of

control and intimidation by powerful agents seeking to secure control of natural resources. States' responses to IPLC and grassroots environmentalists have increasingly involved systematic and deliberate suppression and the use of legal mechanisms such as penal laws and anti-terrorist legislations, which justify the detention of activists.^{321,227} The mining sector accounts for the highest number (21 percent) of reported environmental conflicts in the Environmental Justice Atlas.²²³ Extractives sectors also account for the highest number of murders of environmental defenders—50 in 2019.²⁴²

Similarly, civil society and grassroots movements are actively hindered in their engagement to protect the rights and interests of local communities and forests. In a recent example, the Mexican president publicly attacked civil society organizations after they opposed a large infrastructure project, the "Maya train," accusing them of being subject to the influence of foreign donors. Groups had criticized the project due to environmental concerns as it runs through several protected areas, and because of a lack of planning transparency for local communities.³²²

Especially in the Global North, economies continue to rely on commodities produced in developing and emerging economies, enabled by production practices linked with deforestation. Governments, companies, and consumers need to take more responsibility for environmental and social externalities not reflected in market prices.

REDD+ —a mechanism for financial partnerships between developed and developing countries – has led to some positive policy changes. Many forest countries have initiated reforms and policies to address the problem of deforestation comprehensively, such as strengthening institutions and improving capacity of local stakeholders. However, despite the large potential of this mechanism, its realization has taken longer than anticipated. Many countries are still in a preparation process after more than a decade, and others are still unable to sustainably implement and scale their activities, while forests continue to be lost at an enormous speed.

This delay can be partially explained by the complexity of enacting and sustaining the reforms and capacity-building necessary to comprehensively address deforestation and forest degradation from all sectors. Incentives to keep forests standing often cannot compete with the short-term economic and political wins from converting forests, and REDD+ programs typically engage environmental or forestry ministries without engaging other, usually more influential ministries. Additionally, forest countries often struggle to navigate the various conditions set by donors. These requirements create additional barriers to establishing the successful partnerships between forest and donor nations, a fundamental prerequisite to implementing REDD+ at scale. Finally, to accelerate and achieve lasting large-scale outcomes, additional sources of finance—both public and private—need to be mobilized.

Despite an increasing number of initiatives by consumer country governments, measures to ensure sustainability of imports are still in their early stages or are merely voluntary, existing only as and platforms to support efforts **(see Goal 2 assessment)**. Similarly, though consumer awareness is increasing, it is still limited and buying habits have not yet changed.³²⁹

Supply chain and consumer-facing companies also need to step up their responsibilities. The large—indirect and cumulative—risks for forests are barely known to the wider public. While supply chain companies fail to take responsibility for social and environmental risks, buyers also exert limited influence on them. A closer look at some of the world's largest tech companies, Apple,³²³ Microsoft³²⁴ or Tesla,^{325,326} that all rely on mined goods from forest regions, reveal that relevant policies suffer from vagueness or do not explicitly refer to forests, nor to broader concepts such as biodiversity or ecosystems. Apple, for example, states the company "anticipates that in the future only suppliers exceeding minimum requirements and operating at the best practice level are likely to remain in Apple's supply chain."³²³ If this statement was translated into a more specific policy with a scope

that clearly applied to the conversion of forests, this could motivate mining companies to improve legal compliance or seek certification of additional mining operations.

8.1 Insights from forest risk regions

The above barriers have been broadly identified across sectors and regions as recurring patterns that hinder progress toward NYDF Goals 3 and 4. However, the complex interactions of actors who control the fate of forests, and the communities who seek to exert their right to self-determination, are, to a large extent, specific to the historical, legal, social, and economic contexts of different forest geographies. In order to overcome these barriers to progress, it is necessary to understand how these issues play out on the ground.

In the below case studies, we provide an overview of the barriers to progress as they appear in each of three critical tropical forest regions: the Congo Basin, Southeast Asia, and the Western Amazon. What dominant paradigms of development constrain alternative pathways for sustainable development? Where have actors been shut out of power, alleviating pressure both for changes and adherence to extant law, and precluding possibilities for reorganizing development approaches? In attempting to answer these questions, we aim to set a foundation for understanding that may spark creative discussion and localized solutions to overcome these barriers.

REGIONAL ANALYSIS

The Congo Basin has a long and ongoing history of political instability and conflict, impairing governance in the land sector.

Peace and political stability, largely absent in many parts of the region in recent decades, are necessary conditions not only for the conservation of forests and associated carbon stocks, but also for the successful implementation of alternative sustainable land use options. In the countries of the Congo Basin, and particularly in the DRC and the Central African Republic (CAR), political instability has resulted in patchy state presence within their borders. In practice, farmers' inability to rely on markets for inputs or outputs due to a lack of transport connectivity³²⁷ has promoted a culture of complete self-reliance, and pushed rural populations to attempt to carve out basic subsistence livelihoods, relying heavily on forest resources.55

Across the region, the absence of the state in remote areas leads to continued failure to address declining agricultural productivity and lack of employment opportunities.³²⁸ Instability serves to exacerbate unsustainable land use and deforestation, and hinders efforts to establish more sustainable livelihoods.³²⁹ Violence and armed conflict—the most extreme forms of political instability-exacerbate existing regional drivers of deforestation.³³⁰ They produce strong disincentives for sustainable land use options for smallholders³¹⁹ through the displacement and resettlement of affected populations and the use of natural resources for conflict funding or insecure land tenure resulting from extreme instability.³¹⁹ Armed conflict was found to increase deforestation during DRC's second civil war (1998–2003)³³¹ and it is likely that ongoing conditions of violence in the Congo Basin (DRC, CAR, and Cameroon³³²) are not only slowing the adoption of more sustainable land use options but also slowing efforts to reduce deforestation rates, as many smallholders move into remaining forests to escape conflict and insecurity.333

The Congo region is emerging as a new deforestation front, with tree cover loss rates doubling over the last decade and annual loss outpacing rates in tropical Asia since 2017.

The annual tree cover loss in the Congo Basin has consistently been larger than the annual tree

cover loss in tropical Asia since 2017, suggesting the establishment of a new regional frontier for tree cover loss.¹²¹ Indeed, the Congo Basin has doubled its deforestation rates over the last two decades.⁵⁵ Between 2001 and 2018, the area lost over 22 million hectares of tree cover,^{55,334} and, since 2014, three countries—the DRC, the Republic of Congo, and Cameroon—have together lost 7.6 million hectares of forest land.³³⁵

Between 2000 and 2014, small-scale agriculture and—to a smaller extent—clearing for charcoal production, drove 84 percent of tree cover loss in the Congo Basin.⁵⁵ Infrastructure, mining, and other extractive industries are important drivers of deforestation.

Smallholder farmers play a more important role in Congo Basin countries' deforestation dynamics than they do in southeast Asia and Latin America, which may be explained by the region's relative lack of better-remunerated employment opportunities in other sectors.³³⁶ Shifting agriculture takes place in over a quarter of all forested land in the DRC and accounts for 70 percent of total tree cover loss.³³⁷ It is important to note that tree cover loss in these systems is, in principle, temporary and does not lead to permanent land use conversion. Evidence indicates, however, that shifting cultivation is not only affecting secondary forests but also expanding rapidly into previously undisturbed forest regions.55,34

The establishment of activities such as logging and mining—and their associated access infrastructure—exerts a strong indirect impact on tropical deforestation by attracting working populations to remote locations, and creating communities that rely on forest resources and small-scale agriculture **(see Chapter 2)**.³⁴ It has also led to the proliferation of shifting agriculture, which today remains by far the main proximate driver of deforestation in the region.⁵⁵

This trend is likely to intensify due to increasing urban and rural populations, ongoing infrastructure development, leakage from other forest risk countries, and further market integration.

Large population growth is expected to unfold across the region, especially the DRC and the CAR.

With a population of nearly 87 million people,³³⁸ DRC accounts for twice the population of the rest of the Congo Basin countries combined, and could reach 362 million by 2100339—a fourfold increase which poses a severe challenge to forest resources.⁵⁵ The strong correlation between population and forest loss rates indicates an observable lack of agricultural intensification,55 while demand for fuelwood and charcoal from growing cities also contributes significantly to forest degradation.⁷⁷ Given the expected population growth, the fate of forests in the region will largely be a function of alternative development strategies.⁵⁵ Pacts and bargains made by dominant elites affect the space and options for development thereafter.³¹⁵ As a result, governments may not prioritize nor develop inclusive development that would provide alternative livelihoods and reduce poverty.

Large infrastructure and extractive sector projects that are being promoted to increase economic development are expected to expand in the coming decades, heightening the risk of rapidly increasing rates of deforestation and opening them up for logging and agricultural use. In 2015, a study of 33 development corridors in sub-Saharan Africa found that 18 percent of these projects were "inadvisable" due to their adverse implications for areas of high conservation value and their low potential agricultural benefits. On average, pre-existing corridors were found to have a significantly higher agricultural potential than those planned.¹⁸

In addition, due to increasing global land scarcity and policy changes in certain regions of Asia and Latin America, rising global demand for agricultural commodities could displace deforestation to the Congo Basin from other regions,³⁴⁰ where suitable agricultural land and abundant cheap labor may be found.³⁴⁰ While production is still mainly directed towards domestic markets, it is becoming more exportoriented and a high share of land is allocated to foreign investors, particularly for oil palm production.^{341,342} Across Sub-Saharan Africa, the four Congo Basin countries - DRC, Gabon, Republic of the Congo, and Cameroon—together with Sierra Leone, Liberia and Côte d'Ivoire present the most serious risks of agricultural expansion into forests, in part because of their high percentage of forest cover and relatively lower availability of cropland outside forested areas.340

Attempts to reduce deforestation have failed to address poverty as well, nor have they provided viable alternative means of subsistence for local populations.

A key dimension of PRIME, the recognition of communities' rights to forest land and resources in the region remains extremely limited,³⁴³ despite various positive initiatives aiming to implement community-based forest management (CFM). To date, this model has yet to become embedded or sufficiently empowered to become a convincing alternative method for land use and development.³⁴⁴ In Cameroon, although local communities that rely on CFM appear to be benefiting financially, they lack market access and the capacity to capture added value in the market chain. This is caused by a lack of technical skills, long distances to markets, competition from industrial loggers, the quality of capacity building support that they receive, and overall levels of political support.^{345,175} In the DRC, the growing number of pilot projects for CFM, such as the local community forest concessions, demonstrates progress. Yet projects often lack financial viability and are skewed towards rural development goals and not sustainable forestry operations per se.³⁴⁶

Since government presence is lacking in remote areas, particularly in conflict-torn countries such as the DRC and CAR, it is very challenging for governments to address even the most problems of food insecurity through formal policies and to provide support for the adoption of sustainable practices aligned with the PRIME dimensions. Even if government is present, levels of insecurity can still be severe.

International REDD+ finance has not begun to flow despite years of preparation, while grey development investments continue to threaten forests.

Several countries in the region are setting up REDD+ policies and measures, and the DRC is one of the first countries globally to fulfill all relevant requirements to sign an agreement for emissions reduction payments with the FCPF Carbon Fund. While the country has yet to receive results-based payments, it has made initial progress with certain policy reforms, such as adopting a strategy that addresses impacts from future infrastructure for large and small-scale mining.³⁹ The strategy has outlined possible effective mitigation measures and financial compensation that could be used to fund REDD+ activities, reforms to clarify land rights status, and reforestation requirements after extraction. Other countries in the region propose similar measures in their planning documents but are less advanced in the FCPF process and have yet to reach the final negotiations of an agreement with the fund.

Although still at early stages, there is a promising funding initiative being developed and implemented in the Congo Basin: the Central African Forest Initiative (CAFI). A central challenge for the Congo Basin countries, improved land-use planning is at the heart of CAFI's action in the DRC, Gabon, and the CAR.¹¹² In DRC, as a result, a new land use planning policy was adopted in January 2020.¹¹² In the DRC, CAFI is also funding six flagship Integrated Rural Development Programs to address the drivers of deforestation in an integrated and sustainable developmentoriented manner by not only fighting the drivers of deforestation, but also promoting adaptation strategies.³⁴⁷

However, broader development finance may affect forest resources negatively and, by a large share, exceeds funding targeted at forest goals. For example, the World Bank supports many different programs attempting to bring about economic development across different sectors while improving local livelihoods. Yet, a report by the Bank Information Center finds that the World Bank Group's investments in the DRC "remain skewed heavily towards projects associated with deforestation" despite efforts in recent years to invest in forest protection and sustainable forest management.²⁹⁴

REGIONAL ANALYSIS Southeast Asia

Natural resource exploitation and agricultural expansion have historically been important pillars of national development in Malaysia, Indonesia, and Papua New Guinea. Yet, they have caused widespread deforestation in these three countries that host the largest remaining tropical forest in the region.

Infrastructure development as an enabler for growth and resource exploitation has been an important economic priority in Indonesia, Malaysia, and Papua New Guinea. Compared to other regions, Southeast Asia has the greatest number of hydropower dams under construction,³⁴⁸ the highest rate of mining in the tropics,³⁴⁸ and is a major exporter of limestone and various minerals globally. Mineral resources including gold, copper, oil, and gas provide approximately a third of government revenue in PNG, for example.³⁴⁹ Though frequently overlooked as a driver of deforestation in the region, mining represents an important threat to forests. Between 2000 and 2014, coal mining in Sumatra, Indonesia, accounted for a similar rate of deforestation in its concessions compared to palm and timber concessions,³⁵⁰ and in Indonesia alone, active coal mining is estimated to affect 1.74 million hectares of forest.³⁵⁰ In addition to their direct impact, the roads and railways built, or planned, to transport these goods have caused deforestation and continue to threaten forests and biodiversity by fragmenting the landscape.³⁴⁸

In Indonesia and Malaysia, where governments have historically promoted agricultural intensification from shifting cultivation to increase national economic independence and reduce poverty, palm oil cultivation rapidly increased. ^{351,352} In Indonesia, for example, the area under palm oil cultivation grew from 300,000 hectares in 1980 to 14.7 million hectares in 2019, 41 percent of which is managed by scheme and independent smallholders.^{4,353} While these policies have brought profit to the sector (palm oil exports were valued at USD 21 billion in 2018),³⁵⁴ palm oil has added a relatively small amount to the Indonesian economy: the average contribution of Indonesia's estate crops (including oil palm and rubber) to GDP only amounted to 2.2 percent annually during its peak.³⁵⁵ Meanwhile, this rapid increase in palm oil cultivation has driven deforestation, including by smallholders. In the past 40 years, palm oil accounted for an estimated 47 percent and 16 percent of total deforestation in Malaysia and Indonesia, respectively.⁵⁶

Government planning for national development across these Southeast Asian countries continues to rely primarily on an expansive and extractive model of economic growth. While there is little insight into planning processes, there is scant evidence that these have weighed up the tradeoffs for forests and other sustainable development goals.

Planned infrastructure developments are likely to increase pressure within remaining natural environments and often reflect interests conflicting with national conservation objectives.356 In Indonesia, for example, the Trans-Papua Highway consists of around 4,000 kilometers of new roads planned by the Indonesian government to link agriculture, mining, and oil and gas hubs across the "underdeveloped" Papua province.357 Cutting across Lorentz National Park, the megaproject will greatly increase human access to more than 50,000 hectares of designated mining concessions inside the park,²⁰ while impinging on Indigenous people's customary land rights which have not yet been formalized by the central government.³⁵⁸ Another Russian-financed railway planned for Kalimantan will further open up areas for coal and palm oil activities.³⁵⁹ Overall, future permits for coal mining could affect up to nine percent of Indonesia's remaining forests.³⁵⁰ Since 2019, in Papua New Guinea, the national government is implementing two plans—"Missing Links" and "Other Planned Roads"—intended to

u The definition of smallholders adopted by the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil is "farmers who grow oil palm, alongside with subsistence crops, where the family provides the majority of labour and the farm provides the principal source of income, and the planted oil palm area is less than 50 ha." Indonesia's Ministry of Agriculture sets the cut off at 25 hectares. However, in practice, independent smallholders are any growers who are not state-owned and private-sector companies; up to a third of "smallholder" farmers in Indonesia may be large investors who often do not farm their own land. See Jelsma, I., Schoneveld, G. C., Zoomers, A., & van Westen, A. C. M. (2017). Unpacking Indonesia's independent oil palm smallholders: An actor-disaggregated approach to identifying environmental and social performance challenges. *Land Use Policy*, 69, 281–297.

double the length of the country's road network by the end of 2022, despite the potentially catastrophic impacts on remaining intact forest.³⁶⁰ Similarly, government action to degazette forest reserves in peninsular Malaysia for logging and mining has led to a sharp uptick in deforestation in recent years.³⁶¹

Recent policy changes in Indonesia and investments in Papua New Guinea have sent mixed signals regarding the future of coal. Competing interests and a lack of political will to enact sustainable development have locked coal in for decades in Indonesia.

Over the years, the Indonesian government has set national targets to cap coal production and reduce overall emissions. Both national and provincial governments have enacted moratoria on new mining concessions.³⁵⁹ These efforts, however, are undermined by recent policy changes that demonstrate a continued commitment to domestic coal production and consumption as a pillar of economic development. For example, allowing two-decade extensions of existing mining licenses, removing upper limits on the size of licenses, and relaxing mine rehabilitation policies.^{114,359,362}

As a result, licensing of new coal mines in Indonesia has increased rapidly in the last 15 years, leading to higher production and export rates, along with a rise in illegal mining and land disputes.³⁵⁹ Mining permits cover roughly 6.3 million hectares of Conservation Forest and Protected Forest areas in the country, of which about 15 percent are coal concessions.³⁶³ Just this year, on May 12, 2020, Indonesia's parliament passed a revision to the Minerals and Coal Mining Law, granting mining companies greater freedoms while extending the scale and duration of their contracts, further weakening the law's previously ambiguous environmental and social obligations. Passed with relatively little public scrutiny due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the revision effectively serves to extend six major coal companies' mining permits for two consecutive ten-year periods.^{364,365}

The revisions also preceded a larger "Omnibus Law" passed in October 2020 which intends to boost employment by reforming a suite of laws and regulations. Among other outcomes, this law reduces the requirement for ESIAs, which are now solely required for activities presenting "high environmental, social, economic and cultural risks," while heavily restricting civilian participation. Populations living near these "highrisk" projects are, as a result, no longer able to appeal the issued ESIAs.³⁶⁶ The passing of the law, which provoked protests in Jakarta and other cities, was condemned by a coalition of fifteen activist groups as well as by a group of thirty-five investment firms managing a total of USD 1.4 trillion in assets, urging the government to restore the environmental safeguards.³⁶⁷

Indonesia's National Development Plan 2020–2024 offers an important opportunity to shift the country's emphasis towards greener growth. Under the revised plan, the government intends to address the interactions between land cover change, GHG emissions and sectoral development, namely by integrating low-carbon elements. Nonetheless, this shift relies on the endorsement of the national president and the private sector.³⁵⁹ Furthermore, while Indonesia has formulated a commitment to decrease its GHG emissions by tackling deforestation and promoting renewable energy in its first NDC, coal-related commitments are missing.³⁵⁹

In a similar vein, while Papua New Guinea's NDC does state the country's intent to phase out fossil fuels and move towards 100 percent renewable energy generation by 2030, this commitment is contingent on international support³⁶⁸ and reports indicate that the country has entered discussions to develop its coal mining industry.³⁴⁹ Though the state-owned power company has yet to review a proposal from the Australian power company Mayur Resources to open three coal-fired power plants, in conjunction with solar and biofuel-based power generation, and the government has not granted any coal mining concessions, the idea of boosting industry and electrification through domestic coal production continues to garner support.³⁶⁹

The Government of Indonesia, for example, is committed to increasing palm oil output and intensifying production among smallholders. However, due to the lack of enforcement and much-needed support, growth in the sector is likely to continue to rely on area expansion.¹⁶⁰

Primarily driven by the availability of cheap land and the profitability of palm oil farming even in low-output systems,³⁷⁰ the massive expansion of smallholder palm oil has benefitted from limited enforcement and ambiguous laws at state and customary level,³⁷¹⁻³⁷³ poor coordination between government offices, conflicting interests between central and local agencies, and limited capacity of local governments.^{374–376}

At the same time, many Indonesian smallholders, especially those not associated with company outgrower schemes, lack access to trainings for better practices. Throughout the 1990s, this type of independent smallholder emerged as a new type of palm oil farmer, with no obligations to any specific company, but no guaranteed resources from the government or companies either.^{159,377} Political decentralization in the late 1990s also led to extension services being delegated to the districts, which resulted in uneven funding and access to support programs across districts.¹⁶⁰ As a result, only about 18 percent of oil palm smallholders in Indonesia are reached by company support programs.^v With little knowledge transfer from companies or from the government, scheme and independent smallholders alike lack crucial knowledge on using sustainable techniques to increase production without expanding the footprint of plantations. As the share of palm oil area cultivated by smallholders in Indonesia is expected to grow from 45 percent to 60 percent by 2030, further expansion into remaining forests and peatlands may occur.^{378,58} Furthermore, as smallholder oil palm producers in Indonesia range from small local farmers with an average plot size of 1.2 hectares to large investor farmers with an average plot size of 49.6 hectares, the adoption of actor-disaggregated approaches is required to prevent further expansion.³⁷²

Finally, limited access to government data and maps creates another barrier to the management of the country's natural resources. Relying on the 2011 Geospatial Law, which stipulates that official geospatial information may only be released to prevent data misuse or alteration, the Ministry of Environment and Forestry has been restricting public access to information on concessions and exploitation of natural resources. In 2014, the Ministry issued a memo to exempt its departments from publishing data in shapefile format, which would allow more accurate analysis and increase the monitoring of extractive activities by civil-society watchdogs.³⁷⁹ In 2019, the Indonesian Government called on the country's palm oil companies to refrain from publishing plantation data, alluding to national security, privacy, and competition reasons, despite it being a necessary step for sustainability certification under the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil.³⁸⁰

Leakage from "green" to "brown" supply chains means that overall rates of deforestation will not be reduced. As long as domestic and regional markets are willing to absorb unsustainable commodity production—in palm oil and mining—the progress of certain actors in removing deforestation from their supply chains will be undermined.

With neither smallholder palm oil nor mining subject to significant government intervention in support of forests, the likelihood of reducing deforestation caused by these activities seems quite distant. The RSPO, for example, has developed smallholder certification guidelines, but its reach has been extremely limited, with only about 5,130 independent smallholders certified as of 2019 in Indonesia.³⁸¹

While a significant number of companies have made commitments—for instance, No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation (NDPE) commitments cover 83 percent of palm oil refining capacity in Indonesia and Malaysia^{382,383} their level of implementation and reach among smallholders is unknown. Data on land-clearing trajectories of many RSPO members is missing and the zero-(net) deforestation pledges made by many palm-oil companies lack a clear, practical, and consistent definition that would improve accountability and credibility of these schemes.³⁸⁴

Furthermore, an increase in sustainable production does not necessarily equate with reductions in unsustainable production of similar proportions. Some domestic and regional markets still accept commodities produced with little or no environmental oversight. Palm oil not covered by NDPE commitments, for instance, was expected to account for 19 percent of Indonesia's palm oil diesel market in 2019.³⁸³

v Climate Focus analysis based on the assessment of 99 palm oil producers, processors, and traders by ZSL-SPOTT. https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/

REGIONAL ANALYSIS Western Amazon

The economic development of Amazonian countries has been dependent on the exploitation of forests. Governments have locked in a development pathway that relies on exploitation, settlement, and expansion.

The economic potential of the Amazon's vast forest areas has long attracted the interest of governments, elites, and settlers. Since at least the middle of the last century, governments of Amazonian countries have actively promoted economic development through investment and settlement in forest regions, both in an effort to expand agriculture but also to secure national sovereignty over these areas. Governments of Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Peru, Ecuador, and Venezuela have directly and indirectly promoted policies that encourage human settlement in forests—a continuation of a colonial view that justifies appropriating forests seen as "unused" space and resources of peoples deemed "uncivilized".

This settlement approach to development continues today. Governments continue national and regional mega-infrastructure and extraction projects.

Corridors of forest loss are growing across the western Amazon as infrastructure development and corresponding agro-industrial expansion remain a foundation of development planning. Over the next 5 years there are plans to construct or update more than 12 thousand kilometers of roads across five Amazon countries," with a total investment of approximately USD 27 billion.³⁸⁵ If all planned projects are realized, they will cause the deforestation of approximately 2.4 million hectares over the next 20 years.³⁸⁵ Even if some of these plans are not implemented in the end, the expectation of their construction can lead to land speculation that drives deforestation and conflict.^{386,387} Many of these plans stem from a coordinated effort, begun in 2000 as a regional integration initiative and now known as the South American Infrastructure and Planning Council (COSIPLAN), to align regional strategic investments to boost agroindustry, forestry, and mining.³⁸⁸ While COSIPLAN has been on hiatus

since 2017, the projects largely continue at the national level.

A significant factor in the planning and financing of these large-scale development projects is often the influence of special interests on government decision-making. In the most widely evidenced example of the scale of corruption in the infrastructure sector, Odebrecht, a Brazilian construction company that became the largest highway builder in Latin America, ensnared government officials and political parties across the continent in its influence campaign through the payment of at least USD 786 million.³⁸⁹ Generally, a lack of transparency in governments' infrastructure planning has shielded such influence campaigns, until this Lavo Jato ("Operation Car Wash") scandal was revealed by Brazilian law enforcement in 2014.

At the same time, Amazon countries continue to explore oil and gas reserves in forest areas with the argument that they are an important source of revenue. In the state of Amazonas, Brazil, a standing forest area of roughly 740,000 square kilometers has been granted as oil and gas concessions in the Solimões Sedimentary Area.³⁹⁰ A proposed law (PL 191/2020) submitted in early 2020 would remove Indigenous communities' right to veto oil and gas projects on officially recognized Indigenous territories. Another example is the Yasuní-Ishpingo-Tambococha-Tipuntini park in Ecuador; while expanding the protected areas without oil, the government has approved plans for new drilling inside the park.³⁹¹

In Venezuela, Ecuador, Colombia, Peru, and Brazil, mineral extraction is a key element of countries' economic development strategies. Venezuela and Ecuador, whose economies are highly dependent on oil and gas, are outlining key metal and mineral mining corridors in response to declining oil prices,³⁹² while Peru and Colombia have both established strategic mining areas in the Amazon. Mining is another important economic sector for Brazil. While most industrial mining takes place in the eastern Legal Amazon, there is growing interest in exploiting known mineral reserves in the western Amazon. Previous attempts to open a

w Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Peru, and Ecuador

4.6 million-hectare reserve in the state of Amapá, to both small- and large-scale mining were met with a large public outcry and overturned by the judiciary in 2017,³⁹³ but there are growing concerns that the plan will be revived.³⁹⁴ Current proposals for large-scale niobium mining in the northwest of the Brazilian Amazon would cause significant forest loss including in areas that are home to the Yanomami people.³⁹⁵

Recent efforts to address the expansion and impacts of ASM have faced challenges. Weak state governance has impeded progress on regulating small-scale mining.

Along with state-led extractive industries, ASM is also exacerbating forest loss. Between 1999 and 2014, the ASM workforce in Latin America more than doubled to 1.6 million workers across 19 countries.³⁹⁶ A recent report identified at least 2,312 illegal mining sites and 245 concentrated areas in Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela.³⁹⁷ A large portion of ASM is neither formalized nor regulated by the government, and it often corresponds to large-scale mining areas, including on Indigenous territories and protected areas. Mining concessions and illegal mining were recently found to overlap with more than 21 percent of Indigenous lands in the Amazon.⁴³

Efforts to reduce the impact of ASM on forests in Peru, for example, have been undermined by several factors. Firstly, some members of local communities have become economically dependent on mining, and are resistant to restrictions on such activity, despite the social friction it has created between local groups.³⁹⁸ Secondly, the state's lack of capacity to formalize existing small-scale miners, apply environmental standards, and specify appropriate technologies for extraction has resulted in the prolific use of environmentally-damaging machinery, such as front loaders or dredges.³⁹⁹ Contradictory policies by different state agencies create mixed signals on whether mining is allowed in the region, and the criminalization of small-scale miners has increased, which has diminished local support for, and compliance with, regulations.³⁹⁸

Progress made in nominal and actual recognition of IPLC rights is being threatened or rolled back in the name of economic development, revealing the limit to which IPLCs have access to power and decision-making.

Significant progress has been made in protecting IPLCs and their forest territories, but those protections are increasingly under threat. Specific regulations protecting Indigenous peoples in voluntary isolation have been established in Peru,⁴⁰⁰ Bolivia,⁴⁰¹ and Colombia.⁴⁰² The number of such territories increased from six to 19 in Brazil, while both Colombia and Ecuador have expanded these areas.¹¹⁹

These achievements are undermined by more recent rollbacks in environmental and human rights protections. In Brazil, legislative protections for Indigenous groups have been threatened under the current administration,⁴⁰³ including the loosening of environmental controls, efforts to weaken the government body responsible for protecting Indigenous lands (Fundação Nacional do Índio, FUNAI), and the introduction of a set of economic initiatives that clash with the strict terms of the Federal Constitution regarding the protection of Indigenous Peoples' rights.¹¹⁹ In Peru, institutional weaknesses in the Ministry of Culture undermine efforts to enforce the legal framework and timelines for formalizing Indigenous Reserves, revealing the conflicts between different state institutions that push back against social and environmental protections for Indigenous People.

The nominal protection that Indigenous groups have on paper is often not reflected in dynamics on the ground. Indigenous territories and protected areas in the Amazon basin are seeing increased illegal mining along their borders and inside territories themselves. ³⁹⁷ Throughout the Amazon, Indigenous communities have suffered sustained violence and threats, including the death of Indigenous leaders,⁴⁰⁴ by groups of small-scale, informal miners. The Brazilian government's decisions to open up Indigenous territory to industrial mining and to legalize small-scale mining on Indigenous lands threaten communities further. Parallel trends are found along the Brazil-Venezuela border, exacerbated by the exodus of migrants from Venezuela looking to mining for their livelihoods. Indigenous territories on both sides have been inundated by thousands of ASM miners, often associated with illegal armed actors.405,119





Progress toward Goals 3 and 4—reducing deforestation from infrastructure and extractive developments, while supporting sustainable livelihoods—is slow. Instead, forests are under threat by an ever-increasing demand for natural resources and different land uses, fueled by global markets, power imbalances, and weak governance. The NYDF goals and the SDGs are fundamentally at odds with an economic system based on the assumption of infinite production and consumption.

Although there are several promising initiatives and examples of progress, we find little evidence of efforts that have successfully addressed deforestation by the combined drivers of infrastructure and extractive industries, nor that by subsistence use. While most efforts targeted at Goal 3 drivers fail to take the problem of deforestation seriously, interventions targeting poverty and deforestation fail to address the full complexity and scale of these interconnected problems.

In the meantime, strong economic and political forces incentivize the destruction of forest at an unprecedented scale. Many of these forces operate at the national level in forest countries, while increasing demand for food and other material demands drives the expansion of infrastructure, natural resource extraction (minerals, metals, but also timber), and other land uses into forests. The richer populations in the Global North, as well as new elites and middle classes in emerging economies benefit from the flow of commodities out of forests that externalize environmental and social costs. The groups most affected by the damage, however—poor populations and vulnerable local communities—are pushed toward the frontier, further into the forest, or to chaotically urbanizing human settlements with a lack of alternative options for local economic development.

While infrastructure development is important for poverty reduction—providing access to education, healthcare, farming inputs, and markets for rural populations—mega-scale investments are often planned with very little attention to the sustainable development of local economies: the primary political emphasis is instead on macro-economic growth and elite investment priorities. Decision-making processes for investments are often obscure; there is limited transparency over the use of safeguards; and we find no evidence for commensurate investments in public services that could mitigate social and environmental costs. In other words, these projects are primarily motivated by creating access and transportation for exploitation rather than connecting the rural poor to basic infrastructure needed to lift them out of poverty.

The world is engulfed in a global pandemic that has quickly evolved into an unprecedented crisis, further exacerbating forest loss. COVID-19 will make the achievement of the NYDF goals even more challenging.

The pandemic, which has already led to an increase in poverty for the first time since 1998,⁴⁰⁶ is a threat to forests as loss of incomes and livelihoods is likely to drive further encroachment into forests. Many governments also struggle to address this economic and social crisis, diverting their attention from forest goals that already have little priority. Governments are already rolling back environmental protections to boost their economies, and there is a risk that they promote further infrastructure and extractives investments in forests as a recovery strategy.¹¹⁴ At the same time, Indigenous peoples and local communities, who have traditionally played an important role in protecting forests, are among the most affected by COVID-19.

The COVID-19 crisis has exposed the vulnerability of our economic and social systems. If we are not successful in mitigating climate change and reducing deforestation, the world will face more crises of this and likely greater magnitude.

The Paris Agreement calls for limiting the increase in global average temperature to 1.5°C by the end of the century. But so far there has been no net progress in reducing GHG emissions. Instead, emissions reached a new record high of 36.7 gigatons of CO_2 in 2019, while the recent decline due to the COVID-19 crisis is likely to be short-lived. The recent

"United in Science 2020" report led by the World Meteorological Organization estimates a 20 percent chance that the global median temperature increase will already exceed the 1.5°C target by 2024.⁴⁰⁷

Much more needs to be done, and much more quickly, to stop climate change. Tackling deforestation is an essential part of the solution. Avoided deforestation in tropical forests alone has a mitigation potential of 3.5 gigatons of CO_2 per year,⁴⁰⁸ equivalent to 9.5 percent of 2019 emissions. This climate benefit of forests must be explicitly included in all assessments of the financial and economic viability of large-scale infrastructure and extractives projects and when supporting alternatives to deforestation driven by subsistence use.

Action and policies do not match ambitious high-level goals for sustainable development, climate, and forests. The paradigm of consumption and exploitation is deeply entrenched in our society. If NYDF endorsers and the global community intend to reach Goals 3 and 4, they need to urgently step up their efforts to manage trade-offs and capitalize on synergies between forest protection and sustainable development.

Abbreviations

ACOFOP: Association of Forest Communities of Petén (Guatemala)

AMAN: Indigenous Peoples Alliance of the Archipelago (Indonesia)

AMPB: Mesoamerican Alliance of Peoples and Forests

ASM: Artisanal and small-scale mining

AV: International Articulation of People Affected by Vale

BREECP: Belt and Road Ecological and Environmental Cooperation Plan

BRI: Belt and Road Initiative

CBFM / CFM: Community-based forest management

CEEQUAL: Civil Engineering Environmental Quality Assessment and Awards Scheme

CAFI: Central African Forest Initiative

CAR: Central African Republic

CFI: Cocoa and Forest Initiative

CFEM: Financial Compensation for the Exploration of Mineral Resources

CIAT: International Center for Tropical Agriculture

COICA: Coordinating Body of the Indigenous Peoples' Organizations of the Amazon Basin

COP: Conference of the Parties

COSIPLAN: South American Infrastructure and Planning Council

DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo

EP: Equator Principles

ESG: Environmental, Social and Governance

ESIA: Environmental and social impact assessment

FCPF: Forest Carbon Partnership Facility

FIP: Forest Investment Program

FPIC: Free, prior, and informed consent

GEF: Global Environment Facility

GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

ICMM: International Council on Mining and Metals

IDB: Inter-American Development Bank

IFC: International Finance Corporation

IFL: Intact forest landscape

ILO: International Labour Organization

IOV: Instituto Ouro Verde

IRMA: Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance

IPLC: Indigenous peoples and local communities

MBR: Maya Biosphere Reserve (Guatemala)

MDB: Multilateral Development Bank

NDC: Nationally Determined Contribution

NDPE: No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation

NGO: Non-governmental Organization

NTFP: Non-timber forest product

NYDF: New York Declaration on Forests

OECD: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

PADDD: Protected area downgrading, downsizing, or degazettement

PES: Payment for environmental/ecosystem services

(Lao) PDR: Lao People's Democratic Republic

REDD+: Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries

RJC: Responsible Jewelry Council

RMI: Responsible Mining Index

RoC: Republic of the Congo

RSPO: Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil

SDG: Sustainable Development Goal

SuRE®: Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure

TCFD: Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

TSM: Towards Sustainable Mining

Glossary

Access road: road or throughway constructed specifically to provide access to areas (generally forests) to facilitate an activity such as infrastructure construction or resource (e.g. timber) extraction⁴⁰⁹

Artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM): the licensed or unlicensed extraction of mineral resources by small enterprises, through mechanized mining, or individual miners, to provide some or all of their basic income, possibly through contracts with larger companies⁴¹⁰

Basic-needs activities: actions taken by poor communities to sustain subsistence (e.g. to procure food, shelter, and cooking fuel) as well as smallholder commercial activities (e.g. market faming, artisanal and small-scale mining, and charcoal production) which provide subsistencelevel incomes for practitioners and their families

Biodiversity offsets: interventions in areas outside a project's zone of influence that result in measurable conservation outcomes and are intended to compensate for significant adverse project impacts that cannot otherwise be avoided or restored, such as the restoration of degraded land or the conservation of areas under threat of loss⁴¹¹

Deforestation: loss of natural forest as a result of conversion to agriculture or other non-forest land use; conversion to a tree plantation; or severe and sustained degradation ⁴¹²

Extractive industries: sectors that rely on the extraction of raw materials such as metals, minerals, oil, natural gas, or sand from the earth⁴¹³

Forest degradation: change within a natural forest ecosystem that significantly reduces its species composition, structure, and/or capacity to provide the full suite of forest ecosystem services and products, such as biodiversity, carbon, or hydrological services^{414,415}

Green finance: finance and financial incentives aligned with objectives of conservation, protection, or promotion of the sustainable forest use, including REDD+ investments and results-based payments, carbon markets, debt for climate or forest swaps, and NDC forest bonds, or geared towards the maximization of synergies with development finance and forests, such as alternative livelihood programs or specific activities (e.g. cookstoves programs targeted at regions affected by degradation)⁴¹⁶

Grey finance: new or continued finance of activities that have no stated objective to positively impact forests but that may have a potential positive or negative impact on forests, depending on the context, design, and implementation of these activities⁴¹⁷

Infrastructure: structure that provides services and facilitate transportation through physical networks of roads, railways, electrical grids and power generation (e.g. hydropower), and more⁴¹⁸

Intact forest landscape: unbroken expanse of natural forest landscape and ecosystem, without signs of significant human activity, and having an area of at least 500 km² ⁴¹⁹

Large-scale mining: a formal and regulated activity that involves the use of modern industrialscale technologies to extract and process valuable ore from the ground⁴²⁰

Megaproject: massive, complex, and high-budget development projects that may combine multiple types of transportation and energy infrastructure with natural resource extraction, urbanization, and other large-scale development projects⁴²¹

Non-timber forest product: forest product other than wood or timber (e.g, medicinal plants, bush meat, nuts, and fruits)⁴²²

Outgrower scheme: short-term or long-term formal or informal partnership established between forest companies and grower(s), who may be individuals, groups, or communities, which may offer simple financial returns or multiple benefits to growers⁴²³

Permanent agriculture: Annual or perennial cropping systems (including most agroforestry systems) where crops are continuously grown on the same parcel of land Protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (PADDD): the decrease of legal restrictions that define the number, magnitude and extent of human activities in a protected area (downgrading), the decrease of the size of a protected area due to excision of land/sea area through a legal boundary change (downsizing), or the loss of the legal protection of an entire area (degazettement)⁴⁸

REDD+: the incentive mechanism defined under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change to "Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in developing countries, plus conservation, sustainable management of forests, and enhancement forest carbon stocks" in developing countries

Rehabilitation: as part of mine closure or decommissioning of another development project, the process of restoring degraded cleared ecosystems following exposure. Although 'rehabilitation,' 'reclamation,' and 'restoration' are used interchangeably, rehabilitation does not necessarily imply the return to the pre-disturbance state of the affected ecosystem, but may instead imply putting it to a new or altered use^{424,425}

Shifting/swidden agriculture: traditional practice that clears forest land for short-term crop production before moving on and allowing forests to regenerate, with varying effects on forests depending on the time fallow areas are given for regeneration and the type of clearing techniques used⁴²⁶

Smallholder: small-scale agricultural or forest products producer, distinct from larger-scale producers found in similar contexts. Definitions of smallholder may differ depending on location, land use type, and commodity⁴¹⁵

Small-scale agriculture: agricultural production distinct from larger-scale production in similar contexts which generally: exhibits a high degree of dependence on family labor; represents a primary source of subsistence or income for the smallholder; has a relatively small land footprint; uses relatively little agricultural inputs and produces generally low yields; faces significant economic and information constraints. Definitions of small-scale agriculture may differ depending on location, land use type, and commodity⁴¹⁵

Subsistence agriculture: farming in which nearly all of the crops or livestock raised are used to maintain the farmer and the farmer's family, leaving little, if any, surplus for sale or trade

Tree cover: all vegetation five meters or taller with a default canopy density threshold of 25 percent, which may indicate the biophysical presence of trees but may not meet many definitions of "forest"³³⁴

Tree cover loss: the permanent or temporary removal or loss of trees within a defined area⁴²⁷

Woodfuel: any type of wood biomass derived directly or indirectly, at small-scale and via nonmechanized extraction, potentially as a part of the cultivation-fallow cycle for shifting agriculture, from trees and shrubs grown on forest and non-forest land, which may be used for energy production.⁴²⁸ Includes both charcoal (produced by heating wood with limited oxygen flow to induce pyrolysis) and fuelwood (also known as firewood)

Endnotes

1. Geist, H. J. & Lambin, E. F. What drives tropical deforestation. *LUCC Rep. Ser.* 4, 116 (2001).

2. Miyamoto, M. Poverty reduction saves forests sustainably: Lessons for deforestation policies. *World Dev.* 127, 104746 (2020).

3. Purba, J. H. V. & Sipayung, T. Perkebunan kelapa sawit indonesia dalam perspektif pembangunan berkelanjutan. *Masy. Indones.* 43 (2018).

4. Babigumira, R. et al. Forest Clearing in Rural Livelihoods: Household-Level Global-Comparative Evidence. *World Dev.* 64, S67–S79 (2014).

5. Angelsen, A., Jagger, P., Babigumira, R., Belcher, B., Hogarth, N. J., Bauch, S. et al. Environmental Income and Rural Livelihoods: A Global-Comparative Analysis. *World Dev.* 64, S12–S28 (2014).

6. Busch, J. & Ferretti-Gallon, K. What Drives Deforestation and What Stops It? A Meta-Analysis. *Rev. Environ. Econ. Policy 11*, 3–23 (2017).

7. Hosonuma, N., Herold, M., Sy, V. D., Fries, R. S. D., Brockhaus, M., Verchot, L., et al. An assessment of deforestation and forest degradation drivers in developing countries. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 7, 044009 (2012).

8. Gaveau, D. Drivers of forest loss in Papua and West Papua. http://www.cifor.org/publications/pdf_files/ factsheet/7444-factsheet.pdf (2019).

9. Kleinschroth, F., Laporte, N., Laurance, W. F., Goetz, S. J. & Ghazoul, J. Road expansion and persistence in forests of the Congo Basin. *Nat. Sustain.* 2, 628–634 (2019).

10. Laurance, W. F. & Balmford, A. A global map for road building. *Nature 495*, 308–309 (2013).

11. Global Infrastructure Hub. Forecasting infrastructure investment needs and gaps. *Global Infrastructure Outlook*. https://outlook.gihub.org/ (2019).

12. Arcus Foundation. Volume 3: Infrastructure development and Ape conservation. in *State of the Apes* (eds. Rainer, H., White, A. & Lanjouw, A.) (Cambridge University Press, 2018).

13. Caballero Espejo, J., Messinger, M., Román-Dañobeytia, F., Ascorra, C., Fernandez, L. E. & Silman, M. Deforestation and Forest Degradation Due to Gold Mining in the Peruvian Amazon: A 34-Year Perspective. *Remote Sens. 10*, 1903 (2018).

 Barber, C. P., Cochrane, M. A., Souza Jr, C. M.
 Laurance, W. F. Roads, deforestation, and the mitigating effect of protected areas in the Amazon. *Biol. Conserv.* 177, 203–209 (2014).

15. Pitsis, A., Clegg, S., Freeder, D., Sankaran, S. & Burdon, S. Megaprojects redefined—complexity vs cost and social imperatives. *Int. J. Manag. Proj. Bus. 11*, 7–34 (2018).

 Meijer, J. R., Huijbregts, M. A. J., Schotten, K. C. G. J.
 Schipper, A. M. Global patterns of current and future road infrastructure. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13, 064006 (2018).

17. Sauls, L. A., Rosa, H., Bebbington, A. J.

& Bebbington, D. H. Assessment and Scoping of Extractive Industries and Infrastructure in Relation to Deforestation: Central America. http://www.climateandlandusealliance.org/ wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Central-America-Impacts-of-EIIon-Forests-1.pdf (2018).

18. Laurance, W. F., Sloan, S., Weng, L. & Sayer, J. A. Estimating the Environmental Costs of Africa's Massive "Development Corridors". *Curr. Biol. 25*, 3202–3208 (2015). 19. Alamgir, M., Campbell, M. J., Sloan, S., Suhardiman, A., Supriatna, J. & Laurance, W. F. High-risk infrastructure projects pose imminent threats to forests in Indonesian Borneo. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 140 (2019).

20. Sloan, S., Campbell, M. J., Alamgir, M., Engert, J., Ishida, F. Y., Senn, N., et al. Hidden challenges for conservation and development along the Trans-Papuan economic corridor. *Environ. Sci. Policy 92*, 98–106 (2019).

21. Winemiller, K. O., McIntyre, P. B., Castello, L., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Giarrizzo, T., Nam, S., et al. Balancing hydropower and biodiversity in the Amazon, Congo, and Mekong. *Science 351*, 128–129 (2016).

22. Barreto, P., Brandão Jr, A., Silva, S. B. & Souza Jr, C. O risco de desmatamento associado a doze hidrelétricas na Amazônia. Tapajós Hidrelétricas Infraestrutura E Caos Elem. Para Governança Sustentabilidade Em Uma Reg. Singul. 1a Ed ITACTA São José Campos SP 147–173 (2014).

23. Pokhrel, Y. et al. A Review of the Integrated Effects of Changing Climate, Land Use, and Dams on Mekong River Hydrology. *Water 10*, 266 (2018).

24. Athayde, S., Duarte, C. G., Gallardo, A. L. C. F., Moretto, E. M., Sangoi, L. A., Dibo, A. P. A., et al. Improving policies and instruments to address cumulative impacts of small hydropower in the Amazon. *Energy Policy* 132, 265–271 (2019).

25. Lange, K., Meier, P., Trautwein, C., Schmid, M., Robinson, C. T., Weber, C., et al. Basin-scale effects of small hydropower on biodiversity dynamics. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 16, 397–404 (2018).

26. Harfoot, M. B. J., Tittensor, D. P., Knight, S., Arnell, A. P., Blyth, S., Brooks, S., et al. Present and future biodiversity risks from fossil fuel exploitation. *Conserv. Lett.* 11, e12448 (2018).

27. Finer, M., Jenkins, C. N., Pimm, S. L., Keane, B. & Ross, C. Oil and Gas Projects in the Western Amazon: Threats to Wilderness, Biodiversity, and Indigenous Peoples. *PLOS ONE 3*, e2932 (2008).

28. O'Rourke, D. & Connolly, S. Just Oil? The Distribution of Environmental and Social Impacts of Oil Production and Consumption. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 28, 587–617 (2003).

29. Olden, M. & Neumann, J. *Double Jeopardy: Coal's Threat to Forests*. <u>http://www.coalforest.org/</u> (2015).

30. Parish, E. S., Kline, K. L., Dale, V. H., Efroymson, R. A., McBride, A. C., Johnson, T. L., et al. Comparing Scales of Environmental Effects from Gasoline and Ethanol Production. *Environ. Manage. 51*, 307–338 (2013).

31. Potapov, P., Hansen, M. C., Laestadius, L., Turubanova, S., Yaroshenko, A., Thies, C., et al. The last frontiers of wilderness: Tracking loss of intact forest landscapes from 2000 to 2013. *Sci. Adv. 3*, e1600821 (2017).

32. Laurance, W. F., Goosem, M. & Laurance, S. G. W. Impacts of roads and linear clearings on tropical forests. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 24, 659–669 (2009).

33. Hosonuma, N., Herold, M., Sy, V. D., Fries, R. S. D., Brockhaus, M., Verchot, L., et al. An assessment of deforestation and forest degradation drivers in developing countries. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 7, 044009 (2012).

34. Molinario, G., Hansen, M., Potapov, P., Tyukavina, A. & Stehman, S. Contextualizing Landscape-Scale Forest Cover Loss in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) between 2000 and 2015. *Land* 9, 23 (2020).

35. Schueler, V., Kuemmerle, T. & Schröder, H. Impacts of Surface Gold Mining on Land Use Systems in Western Ghana. *Ambio 40*, 528–539 (2011).

 Abood, S. A., Lee, J. S. H., Burivalova, Z., Garcia-Ulloa, J.
 Koh, L. P. Relative Contributions of the Logging, Fiber, Oil Palm, and Mining Industries to Forest Loss in Indonesia: Deforestation among Indonesia's industries. *Conserv. Lett.* 8, 58–67 (2015).

37. Sonter, L. J., Herrera, D., Barrett, D. J., Galford, G. L., Moran, C. J. & Soares-Filho, B. S. et al. Mining drives extensive deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. *Nat. Commun. 8*, 1–7 (2017).

 Martin, O. & Piatti, World Heritage and Buffer Zones: International Expert Meeting on World Heritage and Buffer Zones, Davos, Switzerland 11-14 March 2008 (2009).

39. World Bank. Forest-Smart Mining: Identifying Factors Associated with the Impacts of Large-Scale Mining on Forests. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ handle/10986/32025 (2019).

40. Agrawal, S., Bebbington, A. J., Imhof, A., Jebing, M., Royo, N., Sauls, L. A., et al. Assessment and Scoping of Extractive Industries and Infrastructure in Relation to Deforestation: Indonesia. http://www. climateandlandusealliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ Indonesia-Impacts-of-EII-on-Forests-1.pdf (2018).

41. Murguía, D. I., Bringezu, S. & Schaldach, R. Global direct pressures on biodiversity by large-scale metal mining: Spatial distribution and implications for conservation. *J. Environ. Manage. 180*, 409–420 (2016).

42. Bax, V., Francesconi, W. & Delgado, A. Land-use conflicts between biodiversity conservation and extractive industries in the Peruvian Andes. *J. Environ. Manage. 232*, 1028–1036 (2019).

43. Quijano Vallejos, P., Veit, P. G., Tipula, P. & Reytar, K. Undermining Rights: Indigenous Lands and Mining in the Amazon. https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/Report_Indigenous_ Lands_and_Mining_in_the_Amazon_web_1.pdf (2020).

44. OECD. Global Material Resources Outlook to 2060: Economic Drivers and Environmental Consequences. (OECD Publishing, 2019).

45. Arrobas, D. L. P., Hund, K. L., Mccormick, M. S., Ningthoujam, J. & Drexhage, J. R. *The Growing Role* of Minerals and Metals for a Low Carbon Future. 1–0. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/207371500386458722/The-Growing-Role-of-Minerals-and-Metals-for-a-Low-Carbon-Future (2017).

46. Le Quéré, C., Jackson, R., Jones, M., Smith, A.,
Abernethy, S., Andrew, R., et al. Supplementary data to:
Le Quéré et al (2020), Temporary reduction in daily global
CO₂ emissions during the COVID-19 forced confinement.
(2020) doi:10.18160/RQDW-BTJU.

47. Bridge, G. Mapping the Bonanza: Geographies of Mining Investment in an Era of Neoliberal Reform. *Prof. Geogr.* 56, 406–421 (2004).

48. Mascia, M. B. & Pailler, S. Protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (PADDD) and its conservation implications. *Conserv. Lett.* 4, 9–20 (2011).

49. Grantham, H. & Tibaldeschi, P. Assessing the potential threat of extractive industries to tropical intact forest landscapes. https://wwf.panda.org/knowledge_hub/?331793/ Report-Assessing-the-potential-threat-of-extractiveindustries-to-tropical-intact-forest-landscapes (2018).

50. Wolfe, N. D., Daszak, P., Kilpatrick, A. M. & Burke, D. S. Bushmeat hunting, deforestation, and prediction of zoonotic disease. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 11, 1822 (2005).

51. Bloomfield, L. S. P., McIntosh, T. L. & Lambin, E. F. Habitat fragmentation, livelihood behaviors, and contact between people and nonhuman primates in Africa. *Landsc. Ecol. 35*, 985–1000 (2020). 52. Francesconi, W., Vanegas, M. & Bax, V. Unraveling the socioeconomic context of basic needs deforestation and forest degradation: a systematic review (2019).

53. Curtis, P. G., Slay, C. M., Harris, N. L., Tyukavina, A. & Hansen, M. C. Classifying drivers of global forest loss. *Science* 1108–1111 (2018).

54. Heinimann, A., Mertz, O., Frolking, S., Christensen, A. E., Hurni, K., Sedano, F., et al. A global view of shifting cultivation: Recent, current, and future extent. *PLOS ONE 12*, e0184479 (2017).

55. Tyukavina, A., Hansen, M. C., Potapov, P., Parker, D., Okpa, C., Stehman, S. V., et al. Congo Basin forest loss dominated by increasing smallholder clearing. *Sci. Adv. 4* (2018).

56. Qaim, M., Sibhatu, K. T., Siregar, H. & Grass, I. Environmental, Economic, and Social Consequences of the Oil Palm Boom. *Annu. Rev. Resour. Econ.* 12 (2020).

57. Directorate General of Estate Crops. Statistik Perkebunan Indonesia: Kelapa Sawit 2015–2017. http://ditjenbun.pertanian.go.id/?publikasi=buku-publikasistatistik-2015-2017 (2017).

58. Schoneveld, G. C., Ekowati, D., Andrianto, A. & van der Haar, S. Modeling peat-and forestland conversion by oil palm smallholders in Indonesian Borneo. *Environ. Res. Lett.* (2018).

59. Godar, J., Gardner, T. A., Tizado, E. J. & Pacheco, P. Actor-specific contributions to the deforestation slowdown in the Brazilian Amazon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111*, 15591–15596 (2014).

60. Skidmore, M., Moffette, F., Rausch, L. & Gibbs, H. K. Characterizing compliance in cattle supply chains: What factors encourage deforestation-free production in the Brazilian Amazon? (2020).

61. Intergovernmental Forum on Mining, Minerals, Metals and Sustainable Development (IGF). *Clobal Trends in Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining (ASM): A review of key numbers and issues* (2017).

62. World Bank. Forest-Smart Mining: Identifying Good and Bad Practices and Policy Responses for Artisanal & Small-Scale Mining in Forest Landscapes. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/32026 (2019).

63. Caballero Espejo, J., Messinger, M., Román-Dañobeytia, F., Ascorra, C., Fernandez, L. E. & Silman, M. Deforestation and Forest Degradation Due to Gold Mining in the Peruvian Amazon: A 34-Year Perspective. *Remote Sens. 10*, 1903 (2018).

64. Diringer, S. E., Berky, A. J., Marani, M., Ortiz, E. J., Karatum, O., Plata, D. L., et al. Deforestation Due to Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Exacerbates Soil and Mercury Mobilization in Madre de Dios, *Peru. Environ. Sci. Technol.* (2019) doi:10.1021/acs.est.9b06620.

65. López, M. Illegal mining is speeding up deforestation in the Venezuelan Amazon. *Earth Journalism Network* (2018).

66. World Bank. Ghana Country *Environmental Analysis*. (World Bank, 2020). doi:10.1596/33726.

67. Obodai, J., Adjei, K. A., Odai, S. N. & Lumor, M. Land use/land cover dynamics using landsat data in a gold mining basin-the Ankobra, Ghana. *Remote Sens. Appl. Soc. Environ.* 13, 247–256 (2019).

68. World Bank. Forest-Smart Mining: Identifying Good and Bad Practices and Policy Responses for Artisanal & Small-Scale Mining in Forest Landscapes. <u>https://openknowledge</u>. worldbank.org/handle/10986/32026 (2019). 69. Megevand, C., Mosnier, A., Hourticq, J., Sanders, K., Doetinchem, N. & Streck, C. *Deforestation Trends in the Congo Basin: Reconciling Economic Growth and Forest Protection*. (The World Bank, 2013). doi:10.1596/978-0-8213-9742-8.

70. Kalamandeen, M., Gloor, E., Johnson, I., Agard, S., Katow, M., Vanbrooke, A., et al. Limited biomass recovery from gold mining in Amazonian forests. *J. Appl. Ecol. 57*, 1730–1740 (2020).

71. Arcus Foundation. Volume 1: Extractive Industries and Ape conservation. in *State of the Apes* (eds. Rainer, H., White, A. & Lanjouw, A.) (Cambridge University Press, 2013).

72. Kaye, M. Deforestation from mining in the Congo more than 'a hole in the canopy'. *CIFOR Forests News*. https://forestsnews.cifor.org/10221/deforestation-frommining-in-the-congo-more-than-a-hole-in-the-canopy?fnl= (2012, July 16).

73. Clean Cooking Alliance. *Woodfuel Demand, Deforestation, and Forest Degradation.* https://www.cleancookingalliance.org/binary-data/ RESOURCE/file/000/000/546-1.pdf (2018).

74. Bailis, R., Drigo, R., Ghilardi, A. & Masera, O. The carbon footprint of traditional woodfuels. *Nat. Clim. Change Lond. 5*, 266–272 (2015).

75. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Sustainable woodfuel for food security: a smart choice: green, renewable and affordable (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2017).

76. Lebedys, A. & Yanshu, L. Contribution of the forestry sector to national economies, 1990–2011. *For. Finance Work. Pap. FAO Eng No 09* (2014).

77. Sedano, F., Silva, J. A., Machoco, R., Meque, C. H., Sitoe, A., Ribeiro, N., et al. The impact of charcoal production on forest degradation: a case study in Tete, Mozambique. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 11, 094020 (2016).

78. Chidumayo, E. N. & Gumbo, D. J. The environmental impacts of charcoal production in tropical ecosystems of the world: A synthesis. *Energy Sustain. Dev. 17*, 86–94 (2013).

79. Sedano, F., Lisboa, S. N., Duncanson, L., Ribeiro, N., Sitoe, A., Sahajpal, R., et al. Monitoring forest degradation from charcoal production with historical Landsat imagery. A case study in southern Mozambique. *Environ. Res. Lett. 15*, 015001 (2020).

80. Grant, R. Sustainable African urban futures: Stocktaking and critical reflection on proposed urban projects. *Am. Behav. Sci.* 59, 294–310 (2015).

81. Shackleton, C. M., Ticktin, T. & Cunningham, A. B. Nontimber forest products as ecological and biocultural keystone species. *Ecol. Soc. 23* (2018).

82. Mahonya, S., Shackleton, C. M. & Schreckenberg, K. Non-timber Forest Product Use and Market Chains Along a Deforestation Gradient in Southwest Malawi. *Front. For. Glob. Change 2*, (2019).

83. Hirschberger, P. Global rattan trade: pressure on forest resources, analysis and challenges. *Vienna Austria WWF-Austria* (2011).

84. Foppes, J. & Samontry, D. Assessment of the Values of Non-Timber Forest Products (NTFP) in Lao PDR (2010).

85. Fraser, A. Sustainability of the Supply of Timber and Non-timber Forest Products. in *Achieving the Sustainable Management of Forests* 93–114 (Springer, 2019).

86. Kidane, Y., Stahlmann, R. & Beierkuhnlein, C. Vegetation dynamics, and land use and land cover change in the Bale Mountains, Ethiopia. *Environ. Monit. Assess. 184*, 7473–7489 (2012). 87. Stephens, P. A., d'Sa, C. A., Sillero-Zubiri, C. & Leader-Williams, N. Impact of livestock and settlement on the large mammalian wildlife of Bale Mountains National Park, southern Ethiopia. *Biol. Conserv. 100*, 307–322 (2001).

88. Girma, Z., Chuyong, G. & Mamo, Y. Impact of livestock encroachments and tree removal on populations of mountain nyala and Menelik's bushbuck in Arsi mountains national Park, Ethiopia. *Int. J. Ecol. 2018* (2018).

89. Sovacool, B. K., Ali, S. H., Bazilian, M., Radley, B., Nemery, B., Okatz, J., et al. Sustainable minerals and metals for a low-carbon future. *Science 367*, 30–33 (2020).

90. Landholm, D. M., Holsten, A., Martellozzo, F., Reusser, D. E. & Kropp, J. P. Climate change mitigation potential of community-based initiatives in Europe. *Reg. Environ. Change 1*9, 927–938 (2019).

91. Shyamsundar, P., Ahlroth, S., Kristjanson, P. & Onder, S. Supporting pathways to prosperity in forest landscapes— A PRIME framework. *World Dev.* 125, 104622 (2020).

92. Chao, S. Forest peoples: numbers across the world. (Forest Peoples Programme Moreton-in-Marsh, UK, 2012).

93. Newton, P., Kinzer, A. T., Miller, D. C., Oldekop, J. A. & Agrawal, A. The Number and Spatial Distribution of Forest-Proximate People Globally. *One Earth 3*, 363–370 (2020).

94. Walker, W. S., Gorelik, S. R., Baccini, A., Aragon-Osejo, J. L., Josse, C., Meyer, C., et al. The role of forest conversion, degradation, and disturbance in the carbon dynamics of Amazon indigenous territories and protected areas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 117*, 3015–3025 (2020).

95. Blackman, A. & Veit, P. Titled Amazon indigenous communities cut forest carbon emissions. *Ecol. Econ. 153*, 56–67 (2018).

96. Robinson, B. E., Holland, M. B. & Naughton-Treves, L. Does secure land tenure save forests? A meta-analysis of the relationship between land tenure and tropical deforestation. *Clob. Environ. Change* 29, 281–293 (2014).

97. Wehkamp, J., Koch, N., Lübbers, S. & Fuss, S. Governance and deforestation—a meta-analysis in economics. *Ecol. Econ.* 144, 214–227 (2018).

98. Ceddia, M. G., Gunter, U. & Corriveau-Bourque, A. Land tenure and agricultural expansion in Latin America: The role of Indigenous Peoples' and local communities' forest rights. *Glob. Environ. Change* 35, 316–322 (2015).

99. Garnett, S. T., Burgess, N. D., Fa, J. E., Fernández-Llamazares, Á., Molnár, Z., Robinson, C. J., et al. A spatial overview of the global importance of Indigenous lands for conservation. *Nat. Sustain.* 1, 369 (2018).

100. IPBES. *IPBES Global Assessment on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services*. (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, 2019).

101. Paneque-Gálvez, J., Pérez-Llorente, I., Luz, A. C., Guèze, M., Mas, J.-F., Macía, M. J., et al. High overlap between traditional ecological knowledge and forest conservation found in the Bolivian Amazon. *Ambio* 47, 908–923 (2018).

102. Robinson, B. E., Masuda, Y. J., Kelly, A., Holland, M. B., Bedford, C., Childress, M., et al. Incorporating land tenure security into conservation. *Conserv. Lett.* 11, e12383 (2018).

103. Schleicher, J., Peres, C. A., Amano, T., Llactayo, W.
& Leader-Williams, N. Conservation performance of different conservation governance regimes in the Peruvian Amazon. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–10 (2017).

104. Cronkleton, P., Artati, Y., Baral, H., Paudyal, K., Banjane, M. R., Liu, J. L., et al. How do property rights reforms provide incentives for forest landscape restoration? Comparing evidence from Nepal, China and Ethiopia. https://www.ingentaconnect.com/contentone/cfa/ ifr/2017/00000019/a00404s4/art00002 (2017).

105. McLain, R., Lawry, S., Guariguata, M. R. & Reed, J. Toward a tenure-responsive approach to forest landscape restoration: A proposed tenure diagnostic for assessing restoration opportunities. *Land Use Policy* (2018).

106. Arce, J. J. C. Forests, inclusive and sustainable economic growth and employment. in *Forests and sustainable development goals. United Nations Forum on Forests* (2019).

107. Dudley, N., Jonas, H., Nelson, F., Parrish, J., Pyhälä, A., Stolton, S., et al. The essential role of other effective area-based conservation measures in achieving big bold conservation targets. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 15*, e00424 (2018).

108. Ceddia, M. G., Gunter, U. & Pazienza, P. Indigenous peoples' land rights and agricultural expansion in Latin America: A dynamic panel data approach. *For. Policy Econ. 109*, 102001 (2019).

109. Thiede, B. C. & Gray, C. Characterizing the indigenous forest peoples of Latin America: Results from census data. *World Dev. 125*, 104685 (2020).

110. Rights and Resources Initiative. Estimate of the area of land and territories of Indigenous Peoples, local communities, and Afro-descendants where their rights have not been recognized. https://rightsandresources.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Area-Study-Final-1.pdf (2020).

111. Korhonen-Kurki, K., Brockhaus, M., Sehring, J., Gregorio, M. D., Assembe-Mvondo, S., Babon, A., et al. What drives policy change for REDD+? A qualitative comparative analysis of the interplay between institutional and policy arena factors. *Clim. Policy 1*9, 315–328 (2019).

112. Central African Forest Initiative (CAFI). Optimal Land Use Planning: Our Results. *Central African Forests Initiative* (CAFRI). https://www.cafi.org/content/cafi/en/home/our-work/ our-results/land-use-planning.html (2020).

113. Lee, D. & Pistorius, T. The Impacts of International REDD+ Finance. https://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_and_ support/financial_mechanism/standing_committee/ application/pdf/impact_of_international_redd+_finance_-_ ppt_for_scf_in_durban_(lee_and_pistorius).pdf (2015).

114. Bebbington, A., Chicchon, A., Cuba, N., Greenspan, E., Hecht, S., Bebbington, D. H., et al. Opinion: Priorities for governing large-scale infrastructure in the tropics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2020).

115. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Adoption of the Paris Agreement, Article 5. in *Twenty-first Conference of the Parties* (United Nations, 2015).

116. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Guidelines for forest management planning. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). http://www.fao.org/3/w8212e/w8212e07.htm (2002).

117. FAO. Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020: Main Report. http://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/ ca8753en (2020) doi:10.4060/ca8753en.

118. Kroner, R. E. G., Qin, S., Cook, C. N., Krithivasan, R., Pack, S. M., Bonilla, O. D., et al. The uncertain future of protected lands and waters. *Science 3*64, 881–886 (2019).

119. Vaz, A. Pueblos Indígenas en Aislamiento en la Amazonía y Gran Chaco. https://www.landislife.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Land-is-life-25-septiembre-2019. pdf (2019). 120. Jones, K. R., Venter, O., Fuller, R. A., Allan, J. R., Maxwell, S. L., Negret, P. J., et al. One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science 360*, 788–791 (2018).

121. Global Forest Watch (GFW). Global Forest Watch. Global Forest Watch. https://www.globalforestwatch.org/ dashboards/global (2020).

122. Rosa, I. M. D., Rentsch, D. & Hopcraft, J. G. C. Evaluating Forest Protection Strategies: A Comparison of Land-Use Systems to Preventing Forest Loss in Tanzania. *Sustainability* 10, 4476 (2018).

123. Benítez, A. Understaffed and under threat: Paraguay's park rangers pay the ultimate price. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2020/08/ understaffed-and-under-threat-paraguays-park-rangers-paythe-ultimate-price/ (2020, August 5).

124. Bax, V., Francesconi, W. & Delgado, A. Land-use conflicts between biodiversity conservation and extractive industries in the Peruvian Andes. *J. Environ. Manage. 232*, 1028–1036 (2019).

125. Durán, A. P., Rauch, J. & Gaston, K. J. Global spatial coincidence between protected areas and metal mining activities. *Biol. Conserv.* 160, 272–278 (2013).

126. Forrest, J. L., Mascia, M. B., Pailler, S., Abidin, S. Z., Araujo, M. D., Krithivasan, R., et al. Tropical Deforestation and Carbon Emissions from Protected Area Downgrading, Downsizing, and Degazettement (PADDD): Deforestation from PADDD. *Conserv. Lett.* 8, 153–161 (2015).

127. Hidalgo, A. & Dammert, J. L. Mexico: *Initial* Assessment of the Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic on the Extractive Sector and Resource Governance. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ mexico-assessment-coronavirus-extractive (2020).

128. Viale, C., de la Puente, L. & Dammert, J. L. Peru: Initial Assessment of Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic on the Extractive Sector and Resource Governance. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/ files/documents/peru-initial-assessment-of-impact-of-thecoronavirus-pandemic-on-the-extractive-sector.pdf (2020).

129. Caripis, L. Combatting corruption in mining approvals: Assessing the risks in 18 resource-rich countries. (Transparency International, 2017).

130. UNDP & UN Environment. Managing mining for sustainable development: A sourcebook. (United Nations Development Programme, 2018).

131. Nikiema, H. S. Legal Framework of Environmental and Social Impact Assessment in the Mining Sector. Background Document. 44. https://www.iisd.org/sites/ default/files/publications/igf-esia-background-en.pdf (2019).

132. Audet, P., Pinno, B. D. & Thiffault, E. Reclamation of boreal forest after oil sands mining: anticipating novel challenges in novel environments. *Can. J. For. Res.* 45, 364–371 (2015).

133. Land Capability Classification System for Forest Ecosystems in the Oil Sands. (Alberta Environment, 2006).

134. Alberta Government & Department of Environment. Guidelines for Reclamation to Forest Vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, 2nd Edition (2009).

135. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), The Biodiversity Consultancy & Durell Institute of Conservation and Ecology (DICE). Global Inventory of Biodiversity Offset Policies (GIBOP). *Global Inventory of Biodiversity Offset Policies (GIBOP)*. https://portals.iucn.org/offsetpolicy/policy-reviews (2019). 136. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), The Biodiversity Consultancy & Intergovernmental Forum on Mining, Minerals, Metals and Sustainable Development (IGF). Understanding Government Biodiversity Offset Policies in the Mining Sector. https://www.iucn.org/sites/ dev/files/content/documents/understanding_government_ biodiversity_offset_policies_in_the_mining_sector_ november_2017.pdf (2017).

137. Alamgir, M., Campbell, M. J., Sloan, S. & Phin, W. E. Road risks and environmental impact assessments in Malaysian road infrastructure projects. (2018).

138. Meijaard, E., Dennis, R. A., Saputra, B. K., Draugelis, G. J., Qadir, M. C. A. & Garnier, S. et al. *Rapid Environmental and Social Assessment of Geothermal Power Development in Conservation Forest Areas of Indonesia*. https://www.profor.info/sites/profor.info/files/PROFOR_Geothermal%20 Indonesia%20Report%20-%20August%202019_0.pdf (2019).

139. Mckillop, J. & Brown, A. L. Linking project appraisal and development: the performance of eia in large-scale mining projects. *J. Environ. Assess. Policy Manag. 01*, 407–428 (1999).

140. Friedman, L. Trump Weakens Major Conservation Law to Speed Construction Permits. *The New York Times* (2020).

141. Kill, J. Regulated destruction of biodiversity. *Heinrich Böll Stiftung: The Green Political Foundatio* https://www.boell.de/en/2018/11/29/regulated-destruction-biodiversity (2018).

142. Guillet, F. & Semal, L. Policy flaws of biodiversity offsetting as a conservation strategy. *Biol. Conserv. 221*, 86–90 (2018).

143. Moreno-Mateos, D., Maris, V., Béchet, A. & Curran, M. The true loss caused by biodiversity offsets. *Biol. Conserv.* 192, 552–559 (2015).

144. Bratman, E. & Dias, C. B. Development blind spots and environmental impact assessment: Tensions between policy, law and practice in Brazil's Xingu river basin. *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev. 70*, 1–10 (2018).

145. Vilela, T., Malky Harb, A., Bruner, A., Laísa da Silva Arruda, V., Ribeiro, V., Auxiliadora Costa Alencar, A., et al. A better Amazon road network for people and the environment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 117*, 7095–7102 (2020).

146. Dourojeanni, M. J. *Estudio de caso sobre la carretera Interoceánica en la amazonía sur del Perú.* http://siar.minam.gob.pe/puno/sites/default/files/archivos/ public/docs/437.pdf (2006).

147. Kuipers, J. R., Maest, A. S., MacHardy, K. A. & Lawson, G. Comparison of Predicted and Actual Water Quality at Hardrock Mines: the Reliability of Predictions in Environmental Impact Statements. https://earthworks.org/ publications/comparison_of_predicted_and_actual_water_ quality_at_hardrock_mines/ (2006).

148. World Bank. Forest-Smart Mining: Offset Case Studies. https://www.profor.info/content/forest-smart-mining-offsetcase-studies (2019).

149. Phelps, J., Carrasco, L. R., Webb, E. L., Koh, L. P. & Pascual, U. Agricultural intensification escalates future conservation costs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 110, 7601–7606 (2013).

150. Bymolt, R., Laven, A. & Tyszler, M. Demystifying the Cocoa Sector in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire. https://www.kit.nl/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/ Demystifying-complete-file.pdf (2018).

151. Danso-Abbeam, G. & Baiyegunhi, L. J. S. Technical efficiency and technology gap in Chana's cocoa industry: accounting for farm heterogeneity. *Appl. Econ. 52*, 100–112 (2020).

152. Ribeiro, D. & Garcia Drigo, I. Public Policies Addressing Deforestation Reduction and Sustainable Production for Small Producers in the Brazilian Amazon: Focused in State of Pará and State of Mato Grosso (2020).

153. Norton, G. W. & Alwang, J. Changes in Agricultural Extension and Implications for Farmer Adoption of New Practices. Appl. Econ. Perspect. Policy 42, 8–20 (2020).

154. Garrett, R. D., Gardner, T. A., Morello, T. F., Marchand, S., Barlow, J., Ezzine de Blas, D., et al. Explaining the persistence of low income and environmentally degrading land uses in the Brazilian Amazon. *Ecol. Soc. 22*, art27 (2017).

155. Rankine, P. & Fairhurst, T. Oil Palm Field Handbook: Mature. (1998).

156. Schulte, I., Landholm, D. M., Bakhtary, H., Czaplicki Cabezas, S., Siantidis, S., Manirajah, S. M., et al. Supporting Smallholder Farmers for a Sustainable Cocoa Sector: Exploring the Motivations and Role of Farmers in the Effective Implementation of Supply Chain Sustainability in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire. (2020).

157. Nakagawa, L. & Garcia Drigo, I. Socioeconomic Evaluation on Smallholders Economic Alternatives to Reduce Deforestation: Final Report (2020).

158. Jelsma, I. In search of sustainable and inclusive palm oil production. The role of smallholders in Indonesia (Uitgeverij Eburon, 2019).

159. Potter, L. How can the people's sovereignty be achieved in the oil palm sector? Is the plantation model shifting in favour of smallholders? *Land and Development in Indonesia: Searching for the People's Sovereignty* 315–342 (2016).

160. Varkkey, H., Tyson, A. & Choiruzzad, S. A. B. Palm oil intensification and expansion in Indonesia and Malaysia: Environmental and socio-political factors influencing policy. *For. Policy Econ.* 92, 148–159 (2018).

161. Wren-Lewis, L., Becerra-Valbuena, L. & Houngbedji, K. Formalizing land rights can reduce forest loss: Experimental evidence from Benin. *Sci. Adv.* 6, eabb6914 (2020).

162. Kubitza, C., Krishna, V. V., Urban, K., Alamsyah, Z. & Qaim, M. Land Property Rights, Agricultural Intensification, and Deforestation in Indonesia. *Ecol. Econ.* 147, 312–321 (2018).

163. Salo, M., Hiedanpää, J., Karlsson, T., Cárcamo Ávila, L., Kotilainen, J., Jounela, P., et al. Local perspectives on the formalization of artisanal and small-scale mining in the Madre de Dios gold fields, Peru. *Extr. Ind. Soc. 3*, 1058–1066 (2016).

164. Warnholtz, S., Gerardo, Fernández, M., Smyle, J. & Springer, J. Securing Forest Tenure Rights for Rural Development: Lessons from Six Countries in Latin America. (2017).

165. Asaaga, F. A., Hirons, M. A. & Malhi, Y. Questioning the link between tenure security and sustainable land management in cocoa landscapes in Ghana. *World Dev. 130*, 104913 (2020).

166. Probst, B., BenYishay, A., Kontoleon, A. & dos Reis, T. N. P. Impacts of a large-scale titling initiative on deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. *Nat. Sustain.* (2020) doi:10.1038/s41893-020-0537-2.

167. Hirons, M. Decentralising natural resource governance in Ghana: Critical reflections on the artisanal and small-scale mining sector. *Futures* 62, 21–31 (2014).

168. Congreso de la República Peruana. Legislative Decree 1105 establishing dispositions for the formalization process of ASM activities (Decreto Legislativo 1105 que Establece Disposiciones para el proceso De Formalización de Las Actividades De Pequeña Minería y Minería Artesanal) (2014). 169. Smits, K. M., McDonald, L., Smith, N. M., Gonzalez, F., Lucena, J., Martinez, G., et al. Voces Mineras: Clarifying the future of artisanal and small-scale mining collaborations. *Extr. Ind. Soc.* 7, 68–72 (2020).

170. Santika, T., Wilson, K. A., Budiharta, S., Kusworo, A., Meijaard, E., Law, E. A., et al. Heterogeneous impacts of community forestry on forest conservation and poverty alleviation: Evidence from Indonesia. *People Nat. 1*, 204–219 (2019).

171. Santika, T., Meijaard, E., Budiharta, S., Law, E. A., Kusworo, A., Hutabarat, J. A., et al. Community forest management in Indonesia: Avoided deforestation in the context of anthropogenic and climate complexities. *Glob. Environ. Change* 46, 60–71 (2017).

172. Cuffe, S. Controversial park plans in Guatemala's Maya Biosphere Reserve. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2016/06/controversial-parkplans-in-guatemalas-maya-biosphere-reserve/ (2016).

173. Carneiro de Miranda, R., Sepp, S. & Ceccon, E. Commercial Woodfuel Production. Experience from Three locally Controlled Wood Production Models. https://www.forestcarbonpartnership.org/sites/fcp/files/2015/ March/FINAL-CommercialWoodfuel-KS12-12_Optimized.pdf (2012).

174. Daou Véronique Joiris, Patrice Bigombe Logo & Séverin Cécile Abega. La gestion participative des forêts en Afrique centrale: Logique développementiste, gouvernance antiparticipative et stratégies d'acteurs. *Rev. D'ethnoécologie* 6 (2014).

175. Centre pour l'Environnement et le Développement (CED), Fern, Forest Peoples Programme (FPP), International Institute for Environment and & Okani. *La foresterie communautaire au Cameroun: analyse diagnostique des lois, institutions, acteurs et opportunités*. <u>https://</u> www.forestpeoples.org/sites/default/files/documents/ communityforestrycameroonFRE.pdf (2017).

176. Oldekop, J. A., Sims, K. R. E., Karna, B. K., Whittingham, M. J. & Agrawal, A. Reductions in deforestation and poverty from decentralized forest management in Nepal. *Nat. Sustain.* 2, 421–428 (2019).

177. Salzman, J., Bennett, G., Carroll, N., Goldstein, A. & Jenkins, M. The Global Status and Trends of Payments for Ecosystem Services. *Nat. Sustain.* 1, 136–144 (2018).

178. Pattanayak, S. K., Wunder, S. & Ferraro, P. J. Show Me the Money: Do Payments Supply Environmental Services in Developing Countries? *Rev. Environ. Econ. Policy* 4, 254–274 (2010).

179. Ferraro, P. J., Hanauer, M. M., Miteva, D. A., Nelson, J. L., Pattanayak, S. K., Nolte, C., et al. Estimating the impacts of conservation on ecosystem services and poverty by integrating modeling and evaluation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112*, 7420–7425 (2015).

180. Brouwer, R., Tesfaye, A. & Pauw, W. P. Meta-Analysis of Institutional-Economic Factors Explaining the Environmental Performance of Payments for Watershed Services. *Environ. Conserv. 38*, 380–392 (2011).

181. Samii, C., Lisiecki, M., Kulkarni, P., Paler, L., Chavis, L., Snilstveit, B., et al. Effects of Payment for Environmental Services (PES) on Deforestation and Poverty in Low and Middle Income Countries: A Systematic Review. *Campbell Syst. Rev.* 10, 1–95 (2014).

182. INESC. Orçamento para o Meio Ambiente em 2018: pior do que parece. (2018).

183. Wong, P. Y., Harding, T., Kuralbayeva, K., DeMartino, S., de, A. & Anderson, L. O. Does it Work to Pay to be Green? Evidence from Brazil's Bolsa Verde Program (2018). 184. Cisneros, E., Borner, J., Pagiola, S. & Wunder, S. *Impacts* of Conservation Incentives in Protected Areas: The Case of Bolsa Floresta, Brazil. (World Bank, 2019) doi:10.1596/33077.

185. Dholakia, G. Market cap for top miners continued to fall in August. *S&P Global.* https://www.spglobal. com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-newsheadlines/market-cap-for-top-miners-continued-to-fall-inaugust-54053899 (2019, September 10).

186. Rainey, H. J., Pollard, E. H. B., Dutson, G., Ekstrom, J. M. M., Livingstone, S. R., Temple, H. J., et al. A review of corporate goals of No Net Loss and Net Positive Impact on biodiversity. *Oryx* 49, 232–238 (2015).

187. Responsible Mining Foundation (RMF). *RMI Report* 2020.(2020).

188. Bradley, S. Mining's Impacts on Forests: Aligning Policy and Finance for Climate and Biodiversity Goals. https://www.chathamhouse.org/2020/10/miningsimpacts-forests/about-author (2020).

189. Turley, L., Potts, J., Wenban-Smith, M. & Lynch, M. State of Sustainability Initiatives Review: Standards and the Extractive Economy. https://www.iisd.org/publications/ state-sustainability-initiatives-review-standards-andextractive-economy (2018).

190. IRMA. Certification. *Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA)*. https://responsiblemining.net/what-we-do/certification/ (2019).

191. IRMA. IRMA Critical Requirements (v.1.0) - IRMA. Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA). https://responsiblemining.net/irma-criticalrequirements-v-1-0/ (2020).

192. IFC. Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability, 50. https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/ connect/24e6bfc3-5de3-444d-be9b-226188c95454/PS_ English_2012_Full-Document.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=jkV-X6h (2012).

193. Global Reporting Initiative Standards Division. Item 05 - Draft GRI Sector Standard: Oil, Gas, and Coal (2020).

194. Item 05 - Draft GRI Sector Standard: Oil, Gas, and Coal (2020).

195. Griffiths, K., Boyle, C. & Henning, T. F. P. Beyond the Certification Badge: How Infrastructure Sustainability Rating Tools Impact on Individual, Organizational, and Industry Practice. *Sustainability 10* (2018).

196. Gijzel, D., Bosch-Rekveldt, M., Schraven, D. & Hertogh, M. Integrating Sustainability into Major Infrastructure Projects: Four Perspectives on Sustainable Tunnel Development. *Sustainability 12*, 6 (2020).

197. Kirchherr, J. W., Repp, L., van Santen, R., Verweij, P. A., Hu, X. & Hall, J. *Greening the Belt and Road Initiative: WWF's Recommendations for the Finance Sector* (2018).

198. Griffiths, K. A., Boyle, C. & Henning, T. F. P. Comparison of project performance assessed by infrastructure sustainability rating tools. *Eng. Sustain.* 172, 232–240 (2018).

199. Laurance, W. F., Peletier-Jellema, A., Greenen, B., Koster, H., Verweij, P., Van Dijck, P., et al. Reducing the global environmental impacts of rapid infrastructure expansion. *Curr. Biol. 25*, R259–R262 (2015).

200. Griffiths, K., Boyle, C. & Henning, T. F. P. Infrastructure sustainability rating tools—exploring opportunities for the engineering profession based on international research. *Aust. J. Civ. Eng. 18*, 18–28 (2020).

201. Anderson, N. The Mighty Effort To Save The \$3.6 Trillion Global Infrastructure Market. *Forbes* (2020).

202. Building Research Establishment. *CEEQUAL Version* 6. (2019).

203. SuRe[®] Standard. Certified Projects. *SuRe[®] Standard.* https://sure-standard.org/certified-projects/ (2019).

204. World Cocoa Foundation. Cocoa & Forests Initiative: Private Sector Progress Report 2018–2019. https://www. worldcocoafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/ WCF_Report_14.6_051420.pdf (2020).

205. Fountain, A. C. & Huetz-Adams, F. *Cocoa Barometer* 2018. https://www.voicenetwork.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2019/07/2018-Cocoa-Barometer.pdf (2018).

206. Bakhtary, H., Matson, E., Mikulcak, F., Streck, C. & Thomson, A. Company Progress in Engaging Smallholders to Implement Zero-Deforestation Commitments in Cocoa and Palm Oil. https://www.climatefocus.com/publications/ report-company-progress-engaging-smallholdersimplement-zero-deforestation-commitments (2020).

207. Schoneveld, G. C., van der Haar, S., Ekowati, D., Andrianto, A., Komarudin, H., Okarda, B., et al. Certification, good agricultural practice and smallholder heterogeneity: Differentiated pathways for resolving compliance gaps in the Indonesian oil palm sector. *Glob. Environ. Change* 57, 101933 (2019).

208. Stanbury, P. & Webb, T. Collective action for durable smallholder farmer supply chains. *Innovation Forum* (2020).

209. IBRAM. Informações sobre a Economia Mineral Brasileira 2015. http://www.ibram.org.br/ sites/1300/1382/00005836.pdf (2015).

210. Equipo Legal Brasil. ¿Por qué Invertir en la Industria Minera Brasileña? *Biz Latin Hub.* https://www.bizlatinhub. com/es/invertir-industria-minera-brasil/ (2019).

211. Instituto Minere. O que é CFEM? https://institutominere.com.br/blog/o-que-e-cfem (2016).

212. PTS. Programa Territorios Sustentaveis. http://www.territoriossustentaveis.org.br/ (2019).

213. Hilson, G., Sauerwein, T. & Owen, J. Large and artisanal scale mine development: The case for autonomous co-existence. *World Dev.* 130, 104919 (2020).

214. Owen, J. R. & Kemp, D. A *large-scale perspective* on small-scale mining. https://csrm.uq.edu.au/publications/a-large-scale-perspective-on-small-scale-mining (2019).

215. Jorns, A. Industry expectations for LSM-ASM relationships - where do we stand? *Levin Sources*. https://www.levinsources.com/knowledge-centre/insights/ industry-expectations-lsm-asm-relationships-current (2020).

216. Sippl, K. Southern Responses to Fair Trade Gold: Cooperation, Complaint, Competition, Supplementation. *Ecol. Econ.* 169, 106377 (2020).

217. Maiese, M. Grassroots Actors. *Beyond Intractability.* https://www.beyondintractability.org/essay/grassroots (2016).

218. Conde, M. & Le Billon, P. Why do some communities resist mining projects while others do not? *Extr. Ind. Soc. 4*, 681–697 (2017).

219. Sangha, K. K., Russell-Smith, J. & Costanza, R. Mainstreaming indigenous and local communities' connections with nature for policy decision-making. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* 19, e00668 (2019).

220. Jaskoski, M. Participatory Institutions as a Focal Point for Mobilizing: Prior Consultation and Indigenous Conflict in Colombia's Extractive Industries. *Comp. Polit*. (2020).

221. Townsend, L. & Townsend, D. L. Consultation, consent, and the silencing of Indigenous communities. *J. Appl. Philos.* (2020) doi:10.1111/japp.12438.

222. Sauer, S., Leite, A., Oliveira, K. & Shankland, A. The Implications of Closing Civic Space for Sustainable Development in Brazil (2019).

223. Scheidel, A., Del Bene, D., Liu, J., Navas, G., Mingorría, S., Demaria, F., et al. Environmental conflicts and defenders: A global overview. *Glob. Environ. Change* 63, 102104 (2020).

224. Birchall, D. *The Role of Civil Society and Human Rights Defenders in Corporate Accountability*. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3566318 (2020) doi:10.2139/ssrn.3566318.

225. Walker, R. T., Simmons, C., Arima, E., Galvan-Miyoshi, Y., Antunes, A., Waylen, M., et al. Avoiding Amazonian Catastrophes: Prospects for Conservation in the 21st Century. *One Earth 1*, 202–215 (2019).

226. Schwartzman, S., Alencar, A., Zarin, H. & Santos Souza, A. P. Social movements and large-scale tropical forest protection on the Amazon frontier: Conservation from chaos. *J. Environ. Dev. 19*, 274–299 (2010).

227. Rasch, E. D. Citizens, Criminalization and Violence in Natural Resource Conflicts in Latin America. *Eur. Rev. Lat. Am. Caribb. Stud. Rev. Eur. Estud. Latinoam. Caribe*, 131–142 (2017).

228. MRG welcomes Supreme Court decision upholding Maya land rights in Belize, but deplores Government decision to appeal. *Minority Rights Group.* https://minorityrights. org/2010/08/20/mrg-welcomes-supreme-court-decisionupholding-maya-land-rights-in-belize-but-deploresgovernment-decision-to-appeal/ (2010).

229. UNSRIP. La situación de los pueblos indígenas afectados por el proyecto hidroeléctrico El Diquís en Costa Rica, 2011—JAMES ANAYA. http://unsr.jamesanaya.org/?p=505 (2011).

230. Feoli, L. The Policy and Institutional Effects of Contentious Politics in Costa Rica's Energy Sector. *Eur. Rev. Lat. Am. Caribb. Stud. Rev. Eur. Estud. Latinoam. Caribe*, 75–102 (2018).

231. Reuters. Peru Supreme Court rules against Newmont in dispute over gold mine. *Reuters* (2017, May 3).

232. Amazon Frontlines. Waorani People Win Landmark Legal Victory Against Ecuadorian Government. *Amazon Frontlines* https://www.amazonfrontlines.org/chronicles/ waorani-victory/ (2019).

233. Sauls, L. A. Becoming fundable? Converting climate justice claims into climate finance in Mesoamerica's forests. *Clim. Change* (2019) doi:10.1007/s10584-019-02624-1.

234. UNEP, U. N. Lamu coal plant case reveals tips for other community-led campaigns. *UN Environment*. http://www.unenvironment.org/news-and-stories/story/lamu-coal-plant-case-reveals-tips-other-community-led-campaigns (2019, August 22).

235. AMAN. Negara Mendanai Perampasan Wilayah Adat. *Aliansi Masyarakat Adat Nusantara*. <u>http://www.aman.</u> or.id/2020/06/negara-mendanai-perampasan-wilayah-adat/ (2020).

236. Government of Indonesia, Sekretariat Kabinet Republik Indonesia. Presiden Jokowi: Pembangunan Infrastruktur Untuk Kejar Ketertinggalan Dari Negara Lain. (2017, October 19).

237. Indigenous Leaders and Chiefs of Brazil. Piaraçu Manifesto (2020).

238. Simões, M. Brazil's Bolsonaro on the Environment, in His Own Words. *The New York Times* (2019).

239. Branford, S. Amazon at risk: Brazil plans rapid road and rail infrastructure expansion. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/02/amazon-at-riskbrazil-plans-rapid-road-and-rail-infrastructure-expansion/ (2019, February 12).

240. Yoda, A. S. S. Ghana's government faces pushback in bid to mine biodiversity haven for bauxite. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2020/02/ ghanas-government-faces-pushback-in-bid-to-minebiodiversity-haven-for-bauxite/ (2020).

241. Gordon, D. & Allan, C. *Closing Civil Society Space: What Environmental Funders Need to Know*. <u>https://www.</u> greengrants.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Closing-Civil-Society-Space-What-Environmental-Funders-Need-to-Know. <u>pdf</u> (2019).

242. Global Witness. *Defending Tomorrow: The climate crisis and threats against land and environmental defenders.* https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/defending-tomorrow/ (2020).

243. Barreto, M. B., Benedict, J., Perera, D., Leão, D., Mbataru, S. & Van Severen, I. *People power under attack:* A report based on data from the CIVICUS monitor (2019).

244. CIVICUS. New PNG pandemic law puts rights at risk while groups protest against mine and domestic violence. *CIVICUS Monitor*. https://monitor.civicus.org/ updates/2020/08/25/new-png-pandemic-law-puts-rightsrisk-while-groups-protest-against-mine-and-domesticviolence/ (2020).

245. International Articulation of People Affected by Vale (AV). Quem somos? *Articulação Internacional*. https://atingidospelavale.wordpress.com/sobre-nos/quemsomos/ (2010).

246. Cezne, E. Forging transnational ties from below: Challenging the Brazilian mining giant Vale S.A. across the South Atlantic. *Extr. Ind. Soc.* 6, 1174–1183 (2019).

247. Yanomamis de Brasil exigen expulsión

de mineros ilegales para frenar la pandemia. *France 24*. https://www.france24.com/es/20200602-yanomamis-debrasil-exigen-expulsión-de-mineros-ilegales-para-frenar-lapandemia (2020).

248. Instituto Socioambiental. *The impacts* of the pandemic on the Yanomami Indigenous Territory. https://acervo.socioambiental.org/acervo/publicacoes-isa/ impacts-pandemic-yanomami-indigenous-territoryminersoutcovidout (2020).

249. Miners Out, COVID-19 Out: The Yanomami and Ye'kwana people of the Brazilian Amazon launch a global campaign to expel miners from their territory - Protecting the Rainforest. *Rainforest Foundation US.* https://rainforestfoundation.org/ yanomami-yekwana-miners-out-covid-19-out/ (2020).

250. UN Interagency Support Group (IASG) on Indigenous Peoples' Issues. THEMATIC PAPER towards the preparation of the 2014 World Conference on Indigenous Peoples: The knowledge of Indigenous Peoples and Policies for Sustainable Development. https://www.un.org/en/ga/69/ meetings/indigenous/pdf/IASG%20Thematic%20Paper_%20 Traditional%20Knowledge%20-%20rev1.pdf (2014).

251. If Not Us Then Who. Guardians of the Forest #COP23. *If Not Us Then Who*?

https://ifnotusthenwho.me/guardians-forest-cop23/ (2017).

252. IPCC. Indigenous + Community Response to Climate Change. Indigenous + Community Response to IPCC Report. https://ipccresponse.org/our-response (2019).

253. Cano Pecharroman, L. Rights of Nature: Rivers That Can Stand in Court. *Resources* 7, 13 (2018). 254. Asamblea Nacional República del Ecuador. Constitución de la República del Ecuador (2008).

255. Paz Cardona, A. J. Ecuador's indigenous Cofán hail court-ordered end to mining on their land. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/02/ ecuadors-indigenous-cofan-hail-court-ordered-end-tomining-on-their-land/ (2019, February 11).

256. Calzadilla, P. V. & Kotzé, L. J. Living in Harmony with Nature? A Critical Appraisal of the Rights of Mother Earth in Bolivia. *Transnatl. Environ. Law 7*, 397–424 (2018).

257. Watts, J. New round of oil drilling goes deeper into Ecuador's Yasuní national park. *The Guardian* (2018).

258. Hofmeister, N. \$3 million and an official apology: Brazil's Ashaninka get unprecedented compensation for deforestation on their land. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2020/04/3-million-andan-official-apology-brazils-ashaninka-get-unprecedentedcompensation-for-deforestation-on-their-land/ (2020, April 16).

259. Business & Human Rights Resource Center. Consórcio Norte Energia lawsuit (re Belo Monte dam in Brazil). *Business & Human Rights Resource Center*. https://www.businesshumanrights.org/en/cons%C3%B3rcio-norte-energia-lawsuitre-belo-monte-dam-in-brazil (2018).

260. Basantes, A. C. Mining company pressing to enter Ecuador's Los Cedros Protected Forest. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2020/05/ mining-company-pressing-to-enter-ecuadors-los-cedrosprotected-forest/ (2020, May 22).

261. Sirota, W. B., David. The Government Gave Big Oil the Power to Prosecute Its Biggest Critic. *The American Prospect.* https://prospect.org/api/content/af8ad2cc-c556-11ea-9014-1244d5f7c7c6/ (2020).

262. Butler, R. A. In landmark ruling, Indonesia's indigenous people win right to millions of hectares of forest. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2013/05/ in-landmark-ruling-indonesias-indigenous-people-win-rightto-millions-of-hectares-of-forest/ (2013, May 17).

263. Business & Human Rights Resource Center. Oxec S.A. lawsuit (re consultation for hydroelectric plants, Guatemala). *Business & Human Rights Resource Center*. https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/oxec-sa-lawsuitre-consultation-for-hydroelectric-plants-guatemala (2018).

264. Wijaya, T. Lawsuits test local governments' ability to clean up Indonesia's coal mining sector. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2017/09/ lawsuits-test-local-governments-ability-to-clean-upindonesias-coal-mining-sector/ (2017, September 27).

265. From conflict to co-operation. The Economist (2016).

266. Jones, S. Women in Ghana Battle a U.S.-Owned Gold Mine for Land and Livelihood. *Sierra Club* (2017).

267. Hira, A. & Busumtwi-Sam, J. Mining Community Benefits in Ghana: A Case of Unrealized Potential. (2018).

268. Poncian, J. When government commitment meets community proactiveness: Governing gas and community engagement in Tanzania. *Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 52*, 78–90 (2019).

269. Kasimba, S. A. & Lujala, P. There is no one amongst us with them! Transparency and participation in local natural resource revenue management. *Extr. Ind. Soc.* 6, 198–205 (2019).

270. Gilmour, D. Forty years of community-based forestry: A review of its extent and effectiveness. (FAO, 2016).

271. Villamayor-Tomas, S. & García-López, G. Social movements as key actors in governing the commons: Evidence from community-based resource management cases across the world. *Glob. Environ. Change 53*, 114–126 (2018).

272. Davis, A. & Sauls, L. Evaluating forest fire control and prevention effectiveness in the Maya Biosphere Reserve. (PRISMA 2017).

273. Gómez, I. & Méndez, V. E. Association of forest communities of Petén, Guatemala: context, accomplishments and challenges (2007).

274. Monterroso, I. & Barry, D. Legitimacy of forest rights: The underpinnings of the forest tenure reform in the protected areas of Petén, Guatemala. *Conserv. Soc. 10*, 136 (2012).

275. Stoian, D., Rodas, A., Butler, M., Monterroso, I.
& Hodgdon, B. Forest concessions in Petén, Guatemala: A systematic analysis of the socioeconomic performance of community enterprises in the Maya Biosphere Reserve.
8 (2018).

276. Musinsky, J. N., Reining, C. C. S., Rosenfeld, A. B. & Thomsen, J. B. An Analysis of Human Settlement Along the Xan Oil Road in Laguna del Tigre National Park, Guatemala. in *SPE International Conference on Health, Safety, and Environment in Oil and Gas Exploration and Production* (Society of Petroleum Engineers, 1998). doi:10.2118/46824-MS.

277. Carr, D. A tale of two roads: Land tenure, poverty, and politics on the Guatemalan frontier. *Geoforum 37*, 94–103 (2006).

278. Devine, J. A. Community forest concessionaires: resisting green grabs and producing political subjects in Guatemala. *J. Peasant Stud.* 45, 565–584 (2018).

279. Clipston, T. Dr. Richard D. Hansen and his fight for the El Mirador train and Wilderness Area: Money and Politics. *Teena Clipston*. https://teenaclipston.com/dr-richardd-hansen-and-his-fight-for-the-el-mirador-train-andwilderness-area-money-and-politics/ (2019).

280. Gardner, A. Personal interview, Royal Society for the Protection of Birds in the UK, Country Manager, Liberia (2020).

281. Mukpo, A. Liberia's community forestry becoming a front for deforestation: Report. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/01/liberias-community-forestry-becoming-a-front-for-deforestation-report/ (2019, January 23).

282. O'Mahony, J. Liberia's new land rights law hailed as victory, but critics say it's not enough. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/03/ liberias-new-land-rights-law-hailed-as-victory-but-critics-sayits-not-enough/ (2019, March 22).

283. Civic Engagement Alliance. FoMujer: The Fund for Enterprising Women in Mesoamerica. https://civicengagementalliance.org/countries/mesoamerica/ stories-of-change/fomujer-the-fund-for-enterprising-women (2020).

284. BankTrack & Partners. With New Equator Principles, Banks Fail to Act on Climate or Indigenous Rights. *BankTrack*. https://www.banktrack.org/article/with_new_ equator_principles_banks_fail_to_act_on_climate_or_ indigenous_rights (2019).

285. Equator Principles. EP Association Members & Reporting. *Equator Principles*. <u>https://equator-principles</u>. com/members-reporting/ (2011). 286. BankTrack. "Trust Us, We're Equator Banks": The presence or absence of grievance mechanisms and stakeholder engagement processes under the Equator Principles. https://www.banktrack.org/download/trust_us_ were_equator_banks_briefing_paper/200817_ephr_initial_ research_briefing.pdf (2020).

287. Vounaki, T. & Calijatovic, S. Introducing confidence-building measures to PRI signatories. https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=4467 (2018).

288. Clients and customers – United Nations Environment – Finance Initiative. https://www.unepfi.org/banking/ bankingprinciples/progress/year-one-update/clients-andcustomers/.

289. Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosure. Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosure. *Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosure*. https://tnfd.info/ (2020).

290. Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosures (TNFD). Leading banks and companies join UK, French, Swiss and Peruvian governments in effort to set up a Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosures. *Task Force on Naturerelated Financial Disclosures (TNFD)*. https://tnfd.info/news/ leading-banks-and-companies-join-uk-french-swiss-andperuvian-governments-in-effort-to-set-up-a-task-force-onnature-related-financial-disclosures/ (2020, September 25).

291. OECD. Environmental and social due diligence. OECD. http://www.oecd.org/trade/topics/export-credits/ environmental-and-social-due-diligence/ (2020).

292. Ray, R., Gallagher, K. P. & Sanborn, C. Standardizing Sustainable Development? Development Banks in the Andean Amazon. https://www.wilsoncenter.org/sites/default/ files/media/documents/event/development-banks-in-theandean-amazon.pdf (2018).

293. Hirsch, T., Bartosch, S., Anqi, Y., Hongyu, G., Menshova, Y., Padhi, A. T., et al. *Aligning the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB) with the Paris Agreement and the SDGs: Challenges and Opportunities. A Civil Society Perspective from: Bangladesh, China, India, Russia & Germany.* English. https://www.germanwatch.org/sites/ germanwatch.org/files/AIIB_Report_web_0.pdf (2019).

294. Connell, L., Juaneda, C. & Dorman, B. Has the Forest Action Plan Made a Difference at the Country Level? *Bank Inf. Cent.* 15 (2019).

295. Tabor, K. & Connell, L. Applications of Forest Monitoring Tools for Development Projects. *Bank Inf. Cent.* (2019).

296. OECD. China's Belt and Road Initiative in the Global Trade, Investment and Finance Landscape. https://www. oecd.org/finance/Chinas-Belt-and-Road-Initiative-in-theglobal-trade-investment-and-finance-landscape.pdf (2018).

297. Jun, M. & Zadek, S. *Decarbonizing the Belt and Road: A Green Finance Roadmap*. https://www.climateworks.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Decarbonizing-the-Belt-and-Road_report_final_lo-res.pdf (2019).

298. China Council for International Cooperation on Environment and Development. *Green Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) and 2030 SDGs.* http://www. cciced.net/cciceden/POLICY/rr/prr/2019/201908/ P020190830114510806593.pdf (2019).

299. Hughes, A. C. Understanding and minimizing environmental impacts of the Belt and Road Initiative. *Conserv. Biol.* 33, 883–894 (2019). 300. Losos, E. C., Pfaff, A., Olander, L. P., Mason, S.
& Morgan, S. Reducing Environmental Risks from Belt and Road Initiative Investments in Transportation Infrastructure, 1–86. http://documents.worldbank.org/ curated/en/700631548446492003/Reducing-Environmental-Risks-from-Belt-and-Road-Initiative-Investments-in-Transportation-Infrastructure (2019).

301. Preston, F., Bailey, R., Bradley, S., Jigang, D. W., Fellow, S. R., Economy, D. of I., et al. Navigating the New Normal: China and Global Resource Governance (2016).

302. Work Together to Build the Silk Road Economic Belt and The 21st Century Maritime Silk Road. *Embassy of the people's Republic of China in the Republic of Namibia*. http://na.china-embassy.org/eng/sgxw/t1461872.htm (2017).

303. Treyer, S. Greening the Belt and Road Initiative: recent advances in assessing the scale of the challenge, the obstacles and the tools for action. *IDDRI*. https://www.iddri.org/en/publications-and-events/blogpost/greening-belt-and-road-initiative-recent-advancesassessing-scale (2019).

304. Liu, X., Blackburn, T. M., Song, T., Li, X., Huang, C. & Li, Y. Risks of Biological Invasion on the Belt and Road. *Curr. Biol.* 29, 499–505 (2019).

305. GIP. Green Investment Principles. http://gipbr.net/ (2018).

306. Reclaim Finance. Coal Policy Tool. *Coal Policy Tool.* https://coalpolicytool.org/methodology-coal-policy-tool/ (2020).

307. Reclaim Finance. New analysis tool sheds light on financial institutions' coal policies. *BankTrack News* (2020, September 8).

308. Mainhardt, H. World Bank Group Financial Flows Undermine the Paris Climate Agreement: The WBG contributes to higher profit margins for oil, gas, and coal. https://urgewald.org/sites/default/files/World_Bank_Fossil_ Projects_WEB2.pdf (2019).

309. Inter-American Development Bank (IDB). Environmental and Social Policy Framework. http://idbdocs.iadb.org/wsdocs/getdocument.aspx?docnum= EZSHARE-2131049523-10 (2020).

310. Green, M. World Bank's IFC adopts new climate rules to deter lenders from backing coal. *Reuters* (2020, September 24).

311. Climate Focus analysis of Emission Reduction Program Documents submitted to the FCPF Carbon Fund.

312. Falconer, A., Dontenville, A., Parker, C., Daubrey, M. & Gnaore, L. *Landscape of REDD+ Aligned Finance in Côte d'Ivoire*. https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/01/The-Landscape-of-REDD-Aligned-Financein-Cote-dIvoire.pdf (2017).

313. Sequin, K. & Nickerson, E. The case for transparency in the mining, oil and gas sector. *The Monitor: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives* (2019).

314. EY. The state of sustainable supply chains: Building responsible and resilient supply chains. https://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY-buildingresponsible-and-resilient-supply-chains/%24FILE/ EY-building-responsible-and-resilient-supply-chains.pdf (2016).

315. Bebbington, A., Abdulai, A.-G., Humphreys Bebbington, D., Hinfelaar, M. & Sanborn, C. *Governing Extractive Industries: Politics, Histories, Ideas.* (Oxford University Press, 2018). 316. Bragagnolo, C., Carvalho Lemos, C., Ladle, R. J. & Pellin, A. Streamlining or sidestepping? Political pressure to revise environmental licensing and EIA in Brazil. *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev.* 65, 86–90 (2017).

317. Gallas, D. Brazil's Odebrecht corruption scandal explained. *BBC News* (2019, April 17).

318. Bebbington, D. H., Verdum, R., Gamboa, C. & Bebbington, A. The Infrastructure-Extractives-Resource Governance Complex in the Pan-Amazon: Roll Backs and Contestations. *Eur. Rev. Lat. Am. Caribb. Stud.* 189–214 (2018) doi:10.32992/erlacs.10414.

319. Landholm, D. M., Pradhan, P. & Kropp, J. P. Diverging forest land use dynamics induced by armed conflict across the tropics. *Glob. Environ. Change 56*, 86–94 (2019).

320. Ceddia, M. G. The impact of income, land, and wealth inequality on agricultural expansion in Latin America. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 201814894 (2019).

321. Delina, L. L. Indigenous environmental defenders and the legacy of Macli-ing Dulag: Anti-dam dissent, assassinations, and protests in the making of Philippine energyscape. *Energy Res. Soc. Sci.* 65, 101463 (2020).

322. Stevenson, M. Mexico president attacks environmentalists' foreign funding. *Washington Post* (2020).

323. Apple. Apple Supplier Responsibility Standards. (2020).

324. Microsoft. Microsoft Supplier Social and Environmental Accountability Manual. H02050 Excerpt. http://download. microsoft.com/download/8/F/D/8FDD6E5B-F195-48D3-B59E-876306BF4586/H2050_Excerpt.pdf (2019).

325. Tesla. Impact Report 2019. https://www.tesla.com/ ns_videos/2019-tesla-impact-report.pdf (2019).

326. Burton, M., Cherry, L. & Stringer, D. Elon Musk Is Going to Have a Hard Time Finding Clean Nickel. *Bloomberg Green* (2020, August 22).

327. Megevand, C. Deforestation Trends in the Congo Basin: Reconciling Economic Growth and Forest Protection. (The World Bank, 2013).

328. Tegegne, Y. T., Lindner, M., Fobissie, K. & Kanninen, M. Evolution of drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in the Congo Basin forests: Exploring possible policy options to address forest loss. *Land Use Policy 51*, 312–324 (2016).

329. Didia, D. O. Democracy, political instability and tropical deforestation. *Glob. Environ. Change* 7, 63–76 (1997).

330. Baumann, M. & Kuemmerle, T. The impacts of warfare and armed conflict on land systems. *J. Land Use Sci.* 11, 672–688 (2016).

331. Nackoney, J., Molinario, G., Potapov, P., Turubanova, S., Hansen, M. C. & Furuichi, T. Impacts of civil conflict on primary forest habitat in northern Democratic Republic of the Congo, 1990–2010. *Biol. Conserv.* 170, 321–328 (2014).

332. Uppsala University. Uppsala Conflict Data Program. UCDP *Conflict Encyclopedia* https://ucdp.uu.se/ (2020).

333. Turubanova, S., Potapov, P. V., Tyukavina, A. & Hansen, M. C. Ongoing primary forest loss in Brazil, Democratic Republic of the Congo, and Indonesia. *Environ. Res. Lett. 13*, 074028 (2018).

334. Hansen, M. C., Potapov, P. V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S. A., Tyukavina, A., et al. High-Resolution Global Maps of 21st-Century Forest Cover Change. *Science 342*, 850 (2013).

335. Weisse, M. & Dow Goldman, E. 2017 was the secondworst year on record for tropical tree cover loss. *World Resources Institute*. https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/06/2017was-second-worst-year-record-tropical-tree-cover-loss (2018). 336. Rudel, T. K. The national determinants of deforestation in sub-Saharan Africa. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 368, (2013).

337. de Araujo Barbosa, C., Maschler, T., Bonfils, D. & Molinario, G. New Map Helps Distinguish Between Cyclical Farming and Deforestation in the Congo Basin. *Global Forest Watch Blog.* https://blog.globalforestwatch.org/data-andresearch/new-map-helps-distinguish-between-cyclicalfarming-and-deforestation-in-the-congo-basin (2018).

338. The World Bank. Population, total – Democratic Republic of the Congo. *The World Bank Data*. https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?locations=CD (2019).

339. Department of Economic and Social Affairs & United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Prospects 2019. *United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs*. <u>https://population.un.org/wpp/</u> (2019).

340. Ordway, E. M., Asner, G. P. & Lambin, E. F. Deforestation risk due to commodity crop expansion in sub-Saharan Africa. *Environ. Res. Lett. 12*, 044015 (2017).

341. Ordway, E. M., Naylor, R. L., Nkongho, R. N. & Lambin, E. F. Oil palm expansion and deforestation in Southwest Cameroon associated with proliferation of informal mills. *Nat. Commun. 10*, 1–11 (2019).

342. Feintrenie, L. Agro-industrial plantations in Central Africa, risks and opportunities. *Biodivers. Conserv.* 23, 1577–1589 (2014).

343. Rights and Resources Initiative. At a Crossroads: Consequential trends in recognition of community-based forest tenure from 2002–2017. https://rightsandresources.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/03/At-A-Crossroads_RRI_Nov-2018. pdf (2018).

344. Billard, E. *Bringing community forestry to the next level: A review of European support in the Congo Basin.* https://www.fern.org/fileadmin/uploads/fern/Documents/fern_Bassin_du_Congo_revue_eng.pdf (2019).

345. Ezzine-de-Blas, D., Perez, M. R., Sayer, J. A., Lescuyer, G., Nasi, R. & Karsenty, A. External influences on and conditions for community logging management in Cameroon. *World Dev. 37*, 445–456 (2009).

346. Lescuyer, G., Kakundika, T., Muganguzi Lubala, I., Shabani Ekyamba, I., Tsanga, R. & Cerutti, P. O. Are community forests a viable model for the Democratic Republic of Congo? *Ecol. Soc. 24* (2019).

347. Central African Forest Initiative (CAFI). Our portfolio. Central African Forests Initiative (CAFI). https://www.cafi.org/content/cafi/en/home/our-work/ourportfolio.html (2020).

348. Hughes, A. C. Understanding the drivers of Southeast Asian biodiversity loss. *Ecosphere 8*, e01624 (2017).

349. Wilson, C. Papua New Guinea moves to launch new coal mining industry. *Mongabay Environmental News* (2017, May 16).

350. Bebbington, A. J., Bebbington, D. H., Sauls, L. A., Rogan, J., Agrawal, S., Gamboa, C., et al. Resource extraction and infrastructure threaten forest cover and community rights. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 115, 13164–13173 (2018).

351. Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S. & Kongphan-Apirak, M. Reducing Forest Emissions in Southeast Asia: A review of drivers of land-use change and how payments for environmental services (PES) schemes can affect them. http://webdoc.sub.gwdg.de/ebook/serien/yo/CIFOR_WP/41. pdf (2008). 352. Budidarsono, S., Susanti, A. & Zoomers, A. Oil Palm Plantations in Indonesia: The Implications for Migration, Settlement/Resettlement and Local Economic Development. in *Biofuels - Economy, Environment and Sustainability* (ed. Fang, Z.) (InTech, 2013). doi:10.5772/53586.

353. Directorate General of Estate Crops. *Statistik* Perkebunan Indonesia; Kelapa Sawit 2017–2019, 81 (2019).

354. Purnomo, H., Okarda, B., Dermawan, A., Ilham, Q. P., Pacheco, P., Nurfatriani, F., et al. Reconciling oil palm economic development and environmental conservation in Indonesia: A value chain dynamic approach. *For. Policy Econ.* 111, 102089 (2020).

355. Rhein, M. Industrial Oil Palm Development: Liberia's Path to Sustained Economic Development and Shared Prosperity? Lessons from the East. https://rightsandresources.org/wp-content/uploads/ RRIReport_Liberia_web2.pdf (2014).

356. Sloan, S., Campbell, M. J., Alamgir, M., Collier-Baker, E., Nowak, M. G., Usher, G., et al. Infrastructure development and contested forest governance threaten the Leuser Ecosystem, Indonesia. *Land Use Policy 77*, 298–309 (2018).

357. Gokkon, B. Indonesia may achieve renewables target, but still favors coal for power. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2018/03/indonesia-mayachieve-renewables-target-but-still-favors-coal-for-power/ (2018, March 29).

358. Chandran, R. 'Ill-advised' Papua highway imperils indigenous rights, rainforests. *Reuters* (2019, February 4).

359. Atteridge, A., Aung, M. T. & Nugroho, A. Contemporary coal dynamics in Indonesia. (2018).

360. Alamgir, M., Sloan, S., Campbell, M. J., Engert, J., Kiele, R., Porolak, G., et al. Infrastructure expansion challenges sustainable development in Papua New Guinea. *PLOS ONE 14*, e0219408 (2019).

361. Humphrey, C. Indigenous communities, nat'l parks suffer as Malaysia razes its reserves. *Mongabay Environmental News* (2019, August 23).

362. Toumbourou, T., Muhdar, M., Werner, T. & Bebbington, A. Political ecologies of the post-mining landscape: Activism, resistance, and legal struggles over Kalimantan's coal mines. *Energy Res. Soc. Sci.* 65, 101476 (2020).

363. PWYP Indonesia. Administration of coal permits under coordination and supervision of KPK, 48. https://pwypindonesia.org/en/administration-of-coal-permitunder-coordination-and-supervision-of-kpk/ (2017).

364. ICW: Terjadi Pembajakan Negara Lewat Revisi UU Minerba. *CNN: Indonesia* (2020).

365. Faisal Basri: RUU Minerba 'Karpet Merah' Pengusaha Batu Bara. *CNN Indonesia* (2020).

366. Samboh, E. Guide to omnibus bill on job creation: 1,028 pages in 10 minutes. *The Jakarta Post*. https://www. thejakartapost.com/news/2020/02/21/guide-to-omnibus-billon-job-creation-1028-pages-in-8-minutes.html (2020).

367. BBC World News. Indonesia: Thousands protest against 'omnibus law' on jobs. *BBC World News*. <u>https://www.bbc.</u>com/news/world-asia-54460090 (2020, October 8).

368. Papua New Guinea. Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) Under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. https://www4.unfccc.int/ sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Papua%20New%20 Guinea%20First/PNG_INDC%20to%20the%20UNFCCC.pdf (2016). 369. Wilson, C. PNG politicians push coal as Pacific islanders rail against climate change. *Mongabay Environmental News* (2019, March 12).

370. Grass, I., Kubitza, C., Krishna, V. V., Corre, M. D., Mußhoff, O., Pütz, P., et al. Trade-offs between multifunctionality and profit in tropical smallholder landscapes. *Nat. Commun. 11* (2020).

371. Krishna, V. V., Kubitza, C., Pascual, U. & Qaim, M. Land markets, Property rights, and Deforestation: Insights from Indonesia. *World Dev.* 99, 335–349 (2017).

372. Jelsma, I., Schoneveld, G. C., Zoomers, A. & van Westen, A. C. M. Unpacking Indonesia's independent oil palm smallholders: An actor-disaggregated approach to identifying environmental and social performance challenges. *Land Use Policy* 69, 281–297 (2017).

373. Schoneveld, G. C., Ekowati, D., Andrianto, A. & van der Haar, S. Modeling peat- and forestland conversion by oil palm smallholders in Indonesian Borneo. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 14, 014006 (2019).

374. Langston, J. D., McIntyre, R., Falconer, K., Sunderland, T., van Noordwijk, M. & Boedhihartono, A. K. Discourses mapped by Q-method show governance constraints motivate landscape approaches in Indonesia. *Public Libr. Sci. PLoS ONE* 14, e0211221 (2019).

375. Luttrell, C., Komarudin, H., Zrust, M., Pacheco, P., Limberg, G., Nurfatriani, F., et al. *The governance arrangements of sustainable oil palm initiatives in Indonesia: Multilevel interactions between public and private actors.* https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/325631295_The_governance_arrangements_of_ sustainable_oil_palm_initiatives_in_Indonesia_Multilevel_ interactions_between_public_and_private_actors (2018).

376. Pacheco, P., Schoneveld, G., Dermawan, A., Komarudin, H. & Djama, M. Governing Sustainable Palm Oil Supply: Disconnects, Complementarities, and Antagonisms between State Regulations and Private Standards. *Regul. Cov.* 14, 568–598 (2020).

377. Susanti, A. Oil palm expansion in Riau Province, Indonesia. Serving people, planet and profit? (Uitgeverij Eburon, 2016).

378. Directorate General of Estate Crops. *Statistik Perkebunan Indonesia: Kelapa Sawit 2015–2017.* http://ditjenbun.pertanian.go.id/?publikasi=buku-publikasistatistik-2015-2017 (2017).

379. Gokkon, B. Indonesia's forestry ministry takes Greenpeace to court over freedom of information request. *Mongabay Environmental News*. <u>https://news.mongabay.</u> com/2016/12/indonesias-forestry-ministry-takes-greenpeaceto-court-over-freedom-of-information-request/ (2016, December 16).

380. Jong, H. N. Indonesia calls on palm oil industry, obscured by secrecy, to remain opaque. *Mongabay Environmental News*. (2019, May 21).

381. Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO). RSPO Impact Report 2019: Reflecting on a Decade of Growth. https://rspo.org/resources/rspo-reports/impactreports (2019).

382. Zoological Society of London. Summary of palm oil assessments. https://www.spott.org/wp-content/uploads/ sites/3/dlm_uploads/2019/10/Summary-of-palm-oilassessments-October-2019-2-1.pdf (2019).

383. ten Kate, A., Kuepper, B. & Piotrowski, M. NDPE Policies Cover 83% of Palm Oil Refineries; Implementation at 78%. https://chainreactionresearch.com/ wp-content/uploads/2020/04/NDPE-Policies-Cover-83-of-Palm-Oil-Refining-Market.pdf (2020). 384. Gaveau, D., Sheil, D., Husnayaen, Salim, M. A., Arjasakusuma, Ancrenaz, M., et al. Rapid conversions and avoided deforestation: examining four decades of industrial plantation expansion in Borneo. *Sci. Rep.* 6 (2016).

385. Vilela, T., Harb, A. M., Bruner, A., Arruda, V. L. da S., Ribeiro, V., Alencar, A. A. C., et al. A better Amazon road network for people and the environment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2020) doi:10.1073/pnas.1910853117.

386. Miranda, J., Börner, J., Kalkuhl, M. & Soares-Filho, B. Land speculation and conservation policy leakage in Brazil. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 14, 045006 (2019).

387. Reydon, B. P., Fernandes, V. B. & Telles, T. S. Land governance as a precondition for decreasing deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. *Land Use Policy* 94, 104313 (2020).

388. Guerra-García Picasso, G. *Visión de Negocios del Eje Andino*. http://www.iirsa.org/admin_iirsa_web/Uploads/ Documents/and_vn_2007.pdf (2008).

389. Durand, F. The Odebrecht Tsunami. *NACLA Rep. Am. 51*, 146–152 (2019).

390. Fearnside, P. Oil and gas project threatens Brazil's last great block of Amazon forest (commentary). *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2020/03/ oil-and-gas-project-threatens-brazils-last-great-block-ofamazon-forest-commentary/ (2020, March 9).

391. Long, G. Ecuador's indigenous people under threat from oil drilling. https://www.ft.com/content/8e1acf14-e467-11e9-b8e0-026e07cbe5b4 (2019).

392. Transparencia Venezuela. *Deadly gold, organised crime, ecocide and corruption*. https://transparencia.org.ve/project/deadly-gold-organised-crime-ecocide-and-corruption/(2019).

393. Gilchrist, K. Brazil court suspends plans to open Amazon reserve to mining. *CNBC*. https://www.cnbc.com/2017/08/24/brazil-opens-amazon-reserve-to-mining.html (2017).

394. Branford, S. & Borges. Bolsonaro's Brazil: 2020 could see revived Amazon mining assault—part two. *Mongabay Environmental News*. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/12/ bolsonaros-brazil-2020-could-see-revived-amazon-miningassault-part-two/ (2019, December 31).

395. Siqueira-Gay, J. & Sánchez, L. E. Keep the Amazon niobium in the ground. *Environ. Sci. Policy 111*, 1–6 (2020).

396. Harlow, E., Hurley, K., Fox, A., Vargas-Guerra, A. & Gibson, J. Small-Scale and Artisanal Mining: Impacts on Biodiversity in Latin America. https://www.land-links. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/ASM_White-Paper_USAID_ FINAL_21March2019Final.pdf (2019).

397. Amazon Geo-Referenced Socio-Environmental Information Network (RAISG) & Infoamazonia. Looted Amazon. https://illegalmining.amazoniasocioambiental.org/ (2018).

398. Damonte, G. H. Mining Formalization at the Margins of the State: Small-scale Miners and State Governance in the Peruvian Amazon. *Dev. Change* 49, 1314–1335 (2018).

399. Valencia Arroyo, L. Madre de Dios: ¿podemos evitar la tragedia?: políticas de ordenamiento de la minería aurífera. (SPDA, Sociedad Peruana de Derecho Ambiental, 2014).

400. Congreso de la República Peruana. Law on the Protection of Indigenous Peoples in Voluntary Isolation or Initial Contact (Ley para la protección de pueblos indígenas u originarios en situación de aislamiento y en situación de contacto inicial). (2006). 401. Asamblea Legislativa de la Republica Plurinacional de Bolivia. Law on the Protection of Indigenous Nations and Peoples in Situation of High Vulnerability in Bolivia (Ley de Protección a Naciones y Pueblos Indígena Originarios en Situación de Alta Vulnerabilidad en Bolivia). (2013).

402. Presidencia de la República Colombiana. Decree establishing special prevention and protection measures for the rights of Indigenous Peoples in Isolation or Natural State (Decreto para establecer medidas especiales de prevención y protección de los derechos de los Pueblos Indígenas en Aislamiento o Estado Natural). (2018).

403. Câmara dos Deputados. *Medida Provisória nº870 de 2019* (2019).

404. Londono, E. El asesinato de un líder indígena exhibe las invasiones a territorios protegidos en Brasil. *The New York Times* (2019).

405. Oviedo, A. F. P. et al. Ameaças futuras aos territórios dos povos isolados na Amazônia brasileira. in *Cercos e Resistências: Povos Indígenas Isolados na Amazônia Brasileira*, 48–57 (Instituto Sociambiental, 2019).

406. ECOSOC. Progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals. Report of the Secretary General (2020).

407. World Meteorological Organization (WMO), United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC), The Global Carbon Project (GCP), et al. United In Science 2020: A multi-organization high-level compilation of the latest climate science information. https://trello-attachments.s3.amazonaws.com/5f560af19197 118edf74cf93/5f59f8b11a9063544de4bf39/cdb10977949b3812 8408f5322f9f676d/United_In_Science_2020_8_Sep_FINAL_ LowResBetterQuality.pdf (2020).

408. Griscom, B. W., Busch, J., Cook-Patton, S. C., Ellis, P. W., Funk, J., Leavitt, S. M., et al. National mitigation potential from natural climate solutions in the tropics. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 375* (2020).

409. Carandang, A. P., Bugayong, L. A., Dolom, P. C., Garcia, L. N., Villanueva, M. M. B. & Espiritu, N. O. et al. *Analysis* of Key Drivers of Deforestation and Forest Degradation in the Philippines. https://www.giz.de/de/downloads/giz2013-en-key-drivers-deforestation-forest-degradation-philippines. pdf (2012).

410. OECD. OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas. http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/OECD-Due-Diligence-Guidance-Minerals-Edition3.pdf (2016).

411. Ekstrom, J., Bennun, L. & Mitchell, R. A Cross-Sector Guide for Implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy. https://www.icmm.com/en-gb/publications/biodiversity/across-sector-guide-for-implementing-the-mitigationhierarchy (2015).

412. The Accountability Framework initiative (AFi). Operational Guidance on Applying the Definitions Related to Deforestation, Conversion, and Protection of Ecosystems. https://accountability-framework.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/05/Operational_Guidance_Applying_ Definitions.pdf (2019).

413. Sigam, C. & Garcia, L. Extractive Industries: Optimizing Value Retention in Host Countries. https://unctad. org/en/publicationslibrary/suc2012d1_en.pdf (2012).

414. FAO. *Global forest resources assessment 2015: how are the world's forests changing*? (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2016). 415. The Accountability Framework initiative (AFi). *Terms and Definitions*. https://accountability-framework.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Definitions.pdf (2019).

416. Climate Focus. Finance for Forests: Goals 8 and 9 Assessment Report. https://forestdeclaration.org/images/ uploads/resource/2017_NYDF_Goal8-9-Assessment_Full.pdf (2017).

417. The New York Declaration on Forests (NYDF). Goal 8: Finance for forest action. *New York Declaration on Forests Progress Assessment* <u>https://forestdeclaration.org/goals/</u> goal-8 (2019).

418. The World Bank. Infrastructure. *The World Bank.* https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/infrastructure/overview (2019).

419. Potapov, P., Yaroshenko, A., Turubanova, S., Dubinin, M., Laestadius, L., Thies, C., et al. Mapping the World's Intact Forest Landscapes by Remote Sensing. *Ecol. Soc.* 13, 51 (2008).

420. World Bank. Forest-Smart Mining: Identifying Factors Associated with the Impacts of Large-Scale Mining on Forests. https://www.profor.info/content/forest-smartmining-identifying-factors-associated-impacts-large-scalemining-forests (2019).

421. Alberti, J. Planning and Appraisal Recommendations for Megaproject Success. https://publications.iadb.org/ publications/english/document/Planning_and_Appraisal_ Recomendations_for_Megaproject_Sucess_en_en.pdf (2019).

422. Sacande, M. & Parfondry, M. Non-timber Forest Products: From Restoration to Income Generation. http://www.fao.org/3/CA2428EN/ca2428en.pdf (2018).

423. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Forest Resources Development Service, Forest Resources Division. Forestry out-grower schemes: A global overview. Report based on the work of D. Race and H. Desmond. http://www.fao.org/3/ac131e/ac131e01. htm#TopOfPage (2001).

424. Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP). *Glossary. 2nd Updated Edition.* https://www.forest-trends. org/wp-content/uploads/imported/bbop_updated_ glossary_6-july-12_v1-pdf.pdf (2012).

425. Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP). Glossary. 3rd Updated Edition. https://www.forest-trends. org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/BBOP_Updated_ Glossary-01-11-18.pdf (2018).

426. The Accountability Framework initiative (AFi). Classification of various land uses and land covers. https://accountability-framework.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/06/OG_on_Applying_Definitions-table1_v2.pdf (2019).

427. Global Forest Watch. How does GFW define key terms? https://www.globalforestwatch.org/howto/faqs/faq-howdoes-gfw-define-key-terms.html (2016).

428. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Criteria and indicators for sustainable woodfuels. http://www.fao.org/3/i1673e/i1673e00.pdf (2010).
PROGRESS ON THE NEW YORK DECLARATION ON FORESTS



